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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of MKB Bank Zrt.
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of MKB Bank Zrt. (the ,,Company”) for the year 2018 which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018 — which shows total assets of mn
HUF 1,858,629 —, and the related statement of recognized income, statement of comprehensive income —
which shows a net profit for the year of mn HUF 25,274 —, statement of changes in equity and statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company as at December 31, 2018 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
(the ,,EU IFRS”), and the financial statements were prepared in all material respects in accordance with the
provisions of the effective Hungarian Act C of 2000 on Accounting (the ,,Accounting Act”) relevant to the
entities preparing financial statements in accordance with EU IFRS.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Hungarian National Standards on Auditing and the effective
Hungarian laws and other regulations on audits. Our responsibilities under these standards are further
described in the "The Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our
report.

We are independent of the Company in compliance with the relevant effective Hungarian regulations and
the “Rules of conduct (ethical rules) of the auditor profession and the disciplinary process” of the Chamber
of Hungarian Auditors and, in respect of matters not regulated therein, the “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the IESBA Code) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the same ethical requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.



Key audit matter

Related audit procedures

Impairment of the individually impaired loan receivables

(See Sections 4. k and 10. of the Notes to the
Financial Statements for the details)

The net value of loans to customers in an amount
of HUF 893,144 million comprise 48% of the
total assets (gross book value of HUF 949,122
million of loans measured at amortized cost),
and the relevant impairment balance at the end
of the current year was HUF 63,875 million.

The determination of impairment of loans
requires application of professional judgement
and use of subjective assumptions by
management in case of determination of
individual specific impairment of loans. The
most significant assumptions applied in the
provisioning calculation are the followings:

- valuation of collaterals;
- estimated time to realize the collaterals;

- estimated future cash-flows expected to be
realized.

Based on the significance of the above described
circumstances the calculation of impairment of
the individually impaired loans was identified as
a key audit matter.

The relevant audit procedures performed by us included
the following:

- evaluating internal controls relating to monitoring of
loans and calculating and recording of impairment;

- evaluating specific loan impairments by selecting a
random sample based on risk profiles, including the
review of consideration and valuation of collaterals and
estimations of expected future cash-flows;

- review of subsequent events (sold receivables), and
analysis of the possible effect on the year audited; and

- evaluating the impairment triggers related to the non-
impaired portfolio.

IFRS 9 compliance

(See Section 4. jj) of the Notes to the Financial
Statements for the details)

The Bank recognises and measures its financial
instruments with the first time application of
IFRS 9 in the current financial year, from
January 1, 2018.

The application of the standard meant significant
changes in respect of the methodology of the
classification and measurement of the financial
instruments. The Bank introduced the model
based on the estimation of the expected loss in

The relevant audit procedures performed by us included
the following:

- understanding and testing of design and
implementation of the main internal controls
related to the classification and measurement of
the financial assets;

- evaluating the appropriateness of the
classification and measurement of the financial
assets, with special respect to the business
models applied and application of the test of the




respect of the impairment on assets. At the
transition, the Bank performed a large number of
one-off tasks, including business model testing
of the assets, reclassifications if needed, stage
categorisation based on the payment and
impairment indicators, and estimation of the risk
parameters serving as a basis for impairment.

With respect to the items above and as the IFRS
9 standard has a significant effect on the
classification and measurement of the majority
of the Bank's assets and liabilities, we consider
the application of the IFRS 9 standard as a key
audit matter.

criteria whether the cash-flows are solely
payments for principal and interest;

evaluating the appropriateness of
classifications applied by the Bank; and

stage

evaluating and checking the appropriateness of
the Bank's respective internal policies and their
application related to the IFRS 9 impairment
models of the Bank. We performed the
recalculation of the collective impairment with
the involvement of subject matter experts.

Implementation of the new core banking system

(See Section 13 of the Notes to the Financial
Statements for the details)

The Bank has replaced its previous core IT
system, Globus with the new core IT system
Flexcube.

Parallel to the core system change, a large
amount of data has been migrated from the
previous core system to the new core system.

The Bank, in order to perform the core system
implementation and the data migration, set up a
project organisation and designed controls
sspecially for this purpose.

With regard to the above and as the
implementation of the new core system has a
significant impact on the control environment of
the Bank’s operation, we identified the
implementation and the related data migration as
a key audit matter.

The relevant audit procedures performed by us included
the following:

understanding the significant internal controls
designed for the migration;

checking the data migration process and its
results in connection with the new core system
implementation;

testing of general IT controls designed in
Flexcube system;

reconciliation of loan and deposit subledger;

review of client complaints, and potential legal
issues;

review of the output of functional audits
performed by the internal audit department; and

review of the results of the external expert
checking the migration.

Other Information: The Business Report

Other information includes the business report of the Company for 2018. Management is responsible for
the preparation of the business report in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Accounting Act and
other regulations. Our opinion on the financial statements provided in the section of our independent
auditor's report entitled ,, Opinion” does not apply to the business report.



Our responsibility in connection with our audit of the financial statements is to read the business report and,
in doing so, consider whether the business report is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Furthermore, in accordance with the Accounting Act, our responsibilities also include assessing whether
the business report was prepared in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Accounting Act and
other regulations, and to express an opinion on the above and on whether the business report is consistent
with the financial statements.

In our opinion, the business report of the Company for 2018 corresponds to the financial statements of the
Company for 2018 and the relevant provisions of the Accounting Act in all material respects. As the
Company is not subject to additional requirements under any other regulation in connection with the
business report, we have not formulated an opinion on this matter.

In addition to the above, based on the information obtained about the Company and its environment, we
must report on whether we became aware of any material misstatements in the business report and, if so,
on the nature of such material misstatements. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
The Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives during the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue, on the basis of
the above, an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Hungarian National Standards on
Auditing and the effective Hungarian laws and other regulations on audits will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error, and they are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Hungarian National Standards on Auditing and the effective
Hungarian laws and other regulations on audits, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
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detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify the opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in the
Company's internal control that we identify during the audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In compliance with Article 10 (2) of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the
Council, we provide the following information in our independent auditor’s report, which is required in
addition to the requirements of International Standards on Auditing:

Appointment of the Auditor and the Period of Engagement
We were appointed as the auditors of the Company by the General Meeting of Shareholders on April 19,
2018 and our uninterrupted engagement has lasted for 7 years.



Consistence with the Additional Report to the Audit Committee

We confirm that our audit opinion on the financial statements expressed herein is consistent with the
additional report to the Audit Committee of the Company, which we issued on April 10, 2019 in accordance
with Article 11 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council.

Provision of Non-audit Services

We declare that no prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5 (1) of Regulation (EU) No.
537/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council were provided by us to the Company. In addition,
there are no other non-audit services which were provided by us to the Company and its controlled
undertakings and which have not been disclosed in the business report.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is the signatory of the
report.

Budapest, April 10, 2019

Gabor Molnar
on behalf of Deloitte Auditing and Consulting Ltd.
and as a statutory registered auditor

Deloitte Auditing and Consulting Ltd.

1068 Budapest, Dézsa Gyorgy ut 84/C.
Registration number: 000083

Registration number of statutory registered auditor: 007239
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2018

Note 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 01.01.2017

Assets
Cash reserves 6 19 240 31599 97 914
Loans and advances to banks 7 63610 78 005 62 977
Derivative financial assets 8 17914 19 757 14 372
Securities 9 773 029 955274 984 776
Loans and advances to customers 10 893 144 858 143 855 290
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 37 4238 21 648 -
Other assets 11 16 518 16 957 17 174
Current income tax assets - 159 31
Deferred tax assets 23 5771 3285 3300
Investments in subsidiaries, jomtly controlled entities and associates 12 42972 49 898 48 905
Intangibles, property and equipment 13 22 193 16 303 15253
Total assets 1 858 629 2 051 028 2 099992
Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 14 214 153 236 881 374 043
Deposits and current accounts 15 1380838 1552495 1528903
Derivative financial liabilities 16 31 608 43 366 29 983
Other liabilities and provisions 18 38 708 43 581 27 803
Issued debt securities 19 5 696 11119 12 892
Subordinated debt 20 28 002 22 307 -
Total liabilitie s 1699005 1909749 1973624
Equity
Share capital 21 100 000 100 000 100 000
Reserves 22 59 624 41279 26 368
Total e quity 159 624 141 279 126 368

Total liabilitics and equity 1858 629 2051028 2099992

Budapest, 10 April 2019 ~
(%,.,.,
o C:?Ea Gabor Fenyvesi
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer C/’ef Financial Officer
"
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Separate Financial Statements as at 31 December 2018

Data in HUF million except stated otherwise

MKB Bank Zrt.

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31

December 2018

Statement of profit or loss

Interest income
Interest expense

2017

52149
16 720

Net interest income

Net income from commissions and fees

Other operating income / (expense), net
Impairments / (reversal) and provisions for losses
Operating expenses

Note 2018

24 52 858
25 16 578

36 280
26 25830
27 5395
28 (1 506)
29 44294

27930
10 256

9950
43127

Profit / (LLoss) before taxation

Income tax (income) / expense

30 (557)

1384

19 154

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Revaluation on financial assets measured at FVTOCI

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax

(13 255)

(4 243)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Net income available to ordinary shareholders

Average number of ordinary shares outstanding (thousands)

Earnings per Ordinary Share (in HUF)
Basic
Diluted

Budapest, 10 April 2019

/
2 =

_~dt Adém Balog
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

12 019

25274
100 000
31

253
253

" . #

,r"'//
aba Gabor Fenyvesi

hief Financial Officer
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2018

Revaluation on

Share Share Retained financial assets Total
capital pre mium earnings measured at equity
EVTOCI
At 1 January 2017 100 000 2 (1 958) 3 126 368
Profit for the year - - 19 154 - 19 154
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - (4 243) (4 243)

At 31 December 2017 100 000 s 141 279

Affect on IFRS 9 implementation - - (1 109) 7435 6326

At 1 January 2018 100 000 16 087 147 605

Profit for the year - - 25274 - 25274
Other comprehensive income for the year - -

(13255 (13 255)

At 31 December 2018 100 000 41 361 (3 466)

-

Budapest, 10 April 2019

e

: é/w/z\

Csaba Gabor lé-enyvesi
Chief Financial Officer

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Statement of changes in equity based on Hungarian Accounting Law for the year ended

31 December 2018

Capital Retained Revaluation
reserve earnings reserve

Total

Share capital

At 1 January 2017 100 000 2 (1 958) 597 126 368
Profit for the year - - 19 154 - 19 154
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - (4243) (4 243)

At 31 December 2017 2 17 196 PER 141 279
Effect of implementation of IFRS 9 - = (1 109) 7435 6326
Profit for the year - - 25274 - 25274
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - (13 255) (13 255)

At 31 December 2018 100 000 2 41 361 (3 466) 159 624

RL‘(:(HIL‘!'I:HI(HI 131 s.h;n'c capital l'(';_m‘tc.rcd at registry court and share 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
capital under IFRS adopted by the EU

Share capital registered at the registry court 100 000 100 000

Share capital under IFRS adopted by the EU 100 000 100 000

Schedule of the profit reserves available for dividend payment 2018.12.31 2017.12.31

Retained earnings 41 361 17 196
Statutory other reserve/equity 6 624 4097

Profit reserve available for dividend payment

The Board of Directors proposes to the Shareholders of the Bank to pay dividend in the amount of
HUF 4,800 million (48 HUF/share).

Budapest, 10 April 2019

dr Adam Balog / Csaba Gabor Fenyvesi

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer €h1ef Financial Officer
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2018

Note 2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 24717 20 738
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 13 4622 4 546
Impairment on other assets 11 274 58
Reversal of provisions for off-BS items and settlement for customers 18,32 (1436) 915)
Impairment / (reversal) on loans and advances 4,10 (8 849) 8802
Impairment on associates 12 2172 -
Reversal of impairment on securities 4,9 (118) *
Impairment on jointly controlled entities 12 978 (992)
Deferred tax movement 30 (2 486) 7
Net Interest income 24,25 (44 365) (43 930)
Dividends on available for sale securities (152) 17
Revaluation of issued securities 19 714 (376)
Revaluation and other result on securities measured at FVTOCI (5 820) (46 913)
Foreign Exchange movement 89 (335)
Cash flows from operating activities (29 660) (59 327)
Change in loans and advances to banks 7 14 388 (10978)
Change in loans and advances to customers 10, 33, 36 (26 398) (8 936)
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 37 17 410 (21 339)
Change in derivative assets 8 1843 2891
Change in other assets 11,23 166 554
Change in amounts due to banks (short term) 14 24451 (153 969)
Change in current and deposit accounts 15 (171 657) 19271
Change in other liabilities and provisions
4
(without provision charge of the year) 18 4D 13450
Change in derivative liabilities 16 (11758) 13383
Interest received 24 49 250 48 362
Interest paid 25 (4 885) (4 432)
Dividends received - 17
Income tax 30 159 (1537)
(110 468) (103 223)
Net cash used in operating activities (140 128) (162 550)
Cash flow from investing activities
Disposals of group companies 12 3776 (54)
Purchase and disposals of PPEs and intangible assets 13 (10512) (5 338)
Purchase and disposals of securities 9 182215 64 093
Net cash generated by investing activities 175 479 58 701
Cash flow from financing activities
Change in issued securities 19 (6 137) (1.892)
Change in subordinated liabilities 20 5695 22307
Change in amounts due to banks (Borrowings) 14 (47 179) 17 019
Net cash (used in)/ generated by financing activities (47 621) 37434

Net decrease of eash and eash cquivalents (12 270) (66 415)

Cash reserves at 1 January 31599 97914
FX change on cash reserve (89) 100
Cash reserves at the end of period 19 240 31599
* Modification of the structure of the Financial Statement
; -~
Budapest, 10 April 2019 S
~drAdam Balog /.,/CsaBa Gébor Fenyvesi
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Notes to the Separate Financial Statements

(from page 9 to page 111)

General information

MKB Bank Zrt. (“MKB” or “the Bank”) is a commerciabank domiciled in Hungary,
organised under the laws of Hungary and registeneder the Hungarian Banking Act
CCXXXVII of 2013. The address of MKB is V&ci u. 381U-1056 Budapest, Hungary.

The separate financial statements of the Bank sxpaped for the year ended 31 December
2018.

The Hungarian government acquired 100% direct ogimprin MKB Bank Zrt. on 29
September 2014. On 18 December 2014, the FinaBtahllity Board of the National Bank of
Hungary ordered the reorganization of MKB Bank dase the Act XXXVII of 2014 (Act on
the further development of the system of institugiostrengthening the security of the
individual players of the financial intermediarysggm). The ownership rights were exercised
by the National Bank of Hungary under the reorgatidn process and NBH together with
MKB Bank started restructuring measures aiming gatproving profitability. The
reorganization of MKB Group has been carried outdmpliance with EU directivésn each
case. The National Bank of Hungary launched thegegosation plan, which was approved by
the European Commission on 16 December 2015. Timenitsents included in the plan have
to be fulfilled by 31 December, 2019, and the pssoaf the completion is controlled regularly
by the independent Monitoring Trustee. On 23 JuW5 — continuing the reorganization
procedure — the four reorganizational commissioneese recalled, and through the
appointment of the new Chief Executive Officer aatélction as Chairman of the Board, the
Board of Directors is capable of exercising it$ pdwers.

At the end of 2015, through the asset-separatigormpart of the commercial real estate loan
portfolio generating significant losses in the poeg years was transferred from MKB Bank
to MSZVK Magyar Szanalasi Vagyonkeé&elZrt. with the approval of the European
Commission on real economic value above the maniiet. In exchange for this allowed state
subsidization, MSZVK Magyar Szanalasi Vagyonkézatt. acquired 100 % direct ownership
in MKB Bank Zrt., while the ownership rights andlightions were continued to be exercised
by the National Bank of Hungary.

The open, transparent and non-discriminatory sptesedure of MKB Bank under close
monitoring of the European Commission was succlgstlosed on 29 June 2016, after the
conditions were met, including obtaining permissionthe winning consortium members to
gain interest and paying the purchase price. Theoweners of MKB Bank became members
of a consortium established by Blue Robin Investsé&nC.A., METIS Private Capital Funds
and Panndnia Pension Fund (45 - 45 - 10 % ownérship

On 30 June 2016, the National Bank of Hungary teateid the resolution process of MKB
Bank, after the fulfiiment of all objectives of thesolution.

! BRRD
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On 19 July 2016 one of the owners of MKB Bank, BR@bin Investments sold 15 % stake to
the newly established Employee Share Ownershiprmge (ESOP, MRP) organisation of
the Bank. Further the new owners of the Bank arolésvs: METIS Private Capital Funds
45 %, Blue Robin Investments S.C.A. 30 %, MRP Oizztion 15 %, Panndnia Pension Fund
10 %.

During 2017 there were changes in the indirect aghip structure of MKB Bank. At the end
of April 2017 through the change of ownership inu@lRobin Investments S.C.A.,
BanKonzult Pénziigyi és Gazdasagi Tanacsad6 Kfairmdd 20.19 %, while Promid Invest
Zrt. acquired 9.81 % indirect ownership in MKB Bankurther, on 1 June 2017 the
management of METIS Private Capital Funds was pbthiby Konzum Befektetési
Alapkezeb Zrt. from Minerva Bkealap-kezél Zrt, resulting for the new owner 45 % indirect
ownership in the Bank.

On 1 June 2017 RKOFIN Befektetési és Vagyonkekdl. acquired 4 % direct ownership in
MKB Bank Zrt. from Blue Robin Investment S.C.A. Theurt of Registration registered the
transaction on 10 August 2017.

On 28-29 December 2017, Blue Robin InvestmentsAS.@nd Pantherinae Pénzlgyi Zrt.
bought 10 million shares at 1 000 HUF face valuespare from Pannoénia Pension Fund. Due
to the transaction Pantherinae Pénzugyi Zrt. aeducl % ownership in the Bank, interest of
Blue Robin Investments S.C.A. increased from 2&%2.9 %, while Pannonia Pension Fund
has no shares in MKB Bank Zrt. henceforth. The fafcthe purchase was entered in the
Shareholder Register on 4 January 2018.

On 23 August 2018, EIRENE Private Capital Fund &eguthe 9.999999% of MKB shares,
while interest of METIS Private Capital Funds desed to 35.000001%, which was
registered in the Shareholder Register by the Rirate.

Two shareholders of MKB Bank Zrt, i.e. RKOFIN Befetési és VagyonkezelKorlatolt
Felebsség Tarsasag (RKOFIN Investment and Asset Managemeddt, Lhereinafter:
“RKOFIN Ltd.”) and MKB Bank Munkavallaléi Résztuldpnosi Program Szervezet (MKB
Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan Organisationreihafter “ESOP Organisation)
concluded a share purchase agreement on July 18, &0the transfer of a part of the share
package issued by MKB Bank Zrt and held by the ESIganisation, altogether 9.620.597
pieces of series “A” dematerialised ordinary shavits a face value of HUF 1000 each.

The Board of Directors of MKB Bank Zrt decided dretregistration of this change into the
Share Registry on 1 October , 2018 subject to tmaition. Following the closing of the
transaction on the transfer of shares, the previttaisstake of RKOFIN Ltd. in the Bank
increased to 13.620597%, while the former 15% oslmiprstake of the ESOP Organisation
decreased to 5.379403%.

These financial statements are prepared for geparabses as defined in the Act C of 2000
about Accounting and the IFRSs published in thec@#fJournal of the European Union; they
are not intended for the purposes of any specifier wor consideration of any specific
transactions. Accordingly, users should not relglesively on the financial statements when
making such decisions.
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2

Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

The financial statements of the Bank have beengpeebin accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRSs’) as adoptethe EU.

IFRSs comprise accounting standards issued by Al$8 land its predecessor body and
interpretations issued by the International Finah&eporting Interpretations Committee
(‘IFRIC’) and its predecessor body.

These financial statements are presented in Huamg&rint (HUF), rounded to the nearest
million, except if indicated otherwise. The finaaicstatements are authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 10 April 2019.

Since 1 January 2018, MKB Bank Zrt. has been apglthe International Accounting
Standards (IFRSs) adopted by the EU in its bookkegeps well as the preparation of its
separate financial statements.

The 2018 figures in this financial statement hagerbcompiled on the basis of the standards
effective from January 1, 2018. The comparativeodetlata are presented in accordance with
the standards in force before 1 January.

Basis of measurement

The separate financial statements have been poeparthe historical cost basis except for the
following:
« derivative financial instruments are measurediat/tdue
« financial instruments at fair value through praiitioss are measured at fair value
» financial assets at fair value through other com@nsive income are measured at fair
value
» other financial instruments are measured at aneolt®st

The separate financial statements has been prepased on going concern assumption.

The preparation of financial statements requiresagament to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of aeating policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actsllte may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewedam ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the peniaghich the estimate is revised and in any
future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant area$ estimation uncertainty and critical

judgements in applying accounting policies thatehéine most significant effect on the amount
recognised in the financial statements are destiibdlote 33.
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4

Summary of significant accounting policies

Accounting policies are the specific principlessés conventions, rules and practices adopted
by the Bank in preparing and presenting the sepdmancial statements. The accounting
policies set out below have been applied consigtémtall periods presented in these separate
financial statements. To ensure data consisteney @Gmoup made reclassification in
supplementary notes in some relevant cases.

a, Financial statement presentation

These financial statements include the accountdkKB Bank Zrt. The Bank’s presentation
and functional currency is the Hungarian Forint ().

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Grdupese entities are measured at amortised cost
by the Bank.

Entities included in MKB Group of consolidation atibir activities are as follows:

4.1
2018

Company 7E rgentage aif P rgentgge i . Gty .Of Brief description of activities

equity ownec  voting rights  incorporation

Euro - Immat Uzemeltetési Kit. 100,00% 100,00% Hungaryintangible assets, license maintenance
Exter-AdéssagkezéKft. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Collecting receivables
Extercom Vagyonkezé&Kft. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Property investments
MKB-Euroleasing Autéhitel Zrt. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Car and consumer finance activities
MKB-Euroleasing Autdlizing Szolgaltaté Zrt. 100,00% 00100% Hungary Car finance activity
MKB Euroleasing Zrt. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Holding of Euroleasing gratiper finance activities
MKB Bank MRP Szervezet 66,32% 0,00% Hungary Speciglgae entity for the Employee Share Program
MKB Bank Teliesitményjavadalmazasi MRP szervezete 0,0006 100,00% Hungary Special purpose entity for tmpl&yee Share Program
MKB Nyugdipénztart és Egészségpénztart Kiszolgddod 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Other financial services
MKB Uzemeletési Kft. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Propepgration and maintenance
Retail Prod Zrt. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Car and consumer financetiestiv
MKB-Pannoénia AlapkezélZrt 49,00% 49,00% Hungary Investment fund manage metivitg
2017

Company Perc.entage i Pertl:entage Gif Couiiy @ Brief description of activities

equity ownec  voting

Euro - Immat Uzemeltetési Kft. 100,00% 100,00% Hungaryintangible assets, license maintenance
Exter-AdéssagkezeKft. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary  Collecting receivables
Extercom Vagyonkezé&Kft. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Property investments
MKB Befektetési Alapkezé|Zrt. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Investment fund manageativity
MKB-Euroleasing Autéhitel Zrt. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Car and consumer finance activities
MKB-Euroleasing Autdlizing Szolgaltaté Zrt. 100,00% 00100% Hungary Car finance activity
MKB Euroleasing Zrt. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Holding of Euroleasing gratiper finance activities
MKB Jelzlogbank Zrt. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Mortgage loan refinancing
MKB Bank MRP Szervezet 40,34% 0,00% Hungary Speciglgae entity for the Employee Share Program
MKB Bank Teliesitményjavadalmazasi MRP szervezete 0,0006 100,00% Hungary Special purpose entity for tmpl&yee Share Program
MKB Nyugdipénztart és Egészségpénztart Kiszolgddod 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Other financial services
MKB Uzemeltetési Kift. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Propeftgration and maintenance
Retail Prod Zrt. 100,00% 100,00% Hungary Car and consumer financetiestiv
MKB-Pannoénia AlapkezélZrt 49,00% 49,00% Hungary Investment fund manage metivitg

b, Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetaretaswithout physical substance held for
supply of services, or for administration purposes.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets that have a finite useful life measured initially at costs and subsequently
carried at costs less any accumulated amortisanehany accumulated impairment losses.
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Intangible assets are amortised over their estionaseful lives not exceeding 15 years from
the date when the asset is available for use, aqgptiie straight-line method.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite usefiej or are not yet ready for use, are tested for
impairment annually. This impairment test may befgyened at any time during the year,
provided it is performed at the same time everyr.yAa intangible asset recognised during
the current period is tested before the end ottieent year.

Expenditure on internally developed intangible aéseftware) is recognised as an asset when
the Bank is able to demonstrate its intention duitityato complete the development and use

the software in a manner that will generate furgenomic benefits, and can reliably measure
the costs to complete the development. The cagstdicosts of internally developed software

include all costs directly attributable to develapithe software, and are amortised over its
useful life. Internally developed software is sthtat capitalised cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment.

Subsequent expenditure on software assets is ksgukaonly when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific assethigh it relates. All other expenditure is
expensed as incurred.

c, Property, plant and equipment

Items of property and equipment including leaselmigrovements and investment properties
are measured initially at cost, including trangacticost, then subsequently cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly atteble to the acquisition of the asset. When
parts of an item of property or equipment haveed#ht useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property gagpment.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant agdigment are as follows:
« freehold land is not depreciated,;
» components of freehold buildings are depreciatest 6v100 years
* leasehold buildings are depreciated over the unedpierms of the leases, or over
their remaining useful lives.

The residual value of some properties are highan thook value, depreciation is not
recognised for them.

Equipment, fixtures and fittings (including equipmh@n operating leases where MKB Bank
is the lessor) are stated at cost less any impatriogses and depreciation calculated on a
straight-line basis to write off the assets oveirthseful lives, which run to a maximum of 20
years but are generally between 5 years and 18.year

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment auided in ,Operating expenses” line in
statement of comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment is subject to an impnt review if there are events or
changes in circumstances which indicate that theyiog amount may not be recoverable.

Net gains and losses on disposal or retirementrgbgrty and equipment are included in
“Other income”, in the year of disposal or retirethe
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Cost includes expenditures that are directly attable to the acquisition of the asset. When
parts of an item of property or equipment haveedéht useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property gagpment.

d, Investment property
Investment properties are held by the Bank to eamtals and for capital appreciation.

The estimated useful lives of investment propediesas follows:
» components of buildings are depreciated over 25yEas
e connecting equipment are depreciated over 20 years

Depreciation of investment property is included@ther operating income / (expenses),net”
line in statement of comprehensive income.

The fair value of the investment properties shall dupervised yearly by an independent
appraiser. Should the fair value be much lower tthencarrying amount, impairment loss
shall be recognized through profit or losses.

Net gains and losses on disposal or retirementropesty is disclosed as the own used
properties.

The Bank uses the cost model for investment prgparcording to which the property is
accounted in the Bank's books at the purchases arubtthen depreciated. If the Bank
determines that the fair value of the propertyigmiicantly lower than its carrying amount,
the Bank recognizes an impairment loss at the étiteoyear.

The depreciation charge for investment propertyincduded in the statement of other
comprehensive income.

e, Cash reserve

Cash reserve include notes and coins on hand,trioted balances held with central bank and
highly liquid financial assets with original maties of less than three months, which are
subject to insignificant risk of changes in thaiirfvalue, and are used by the Bank in the
management of its short-term commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amodastdn the statement of financial position.
f, Determination of fair value

All financial instruments measured at Fair Valueotlyh Profit or Loss are recognised

initially at fair value, other financial assets almbilities are recognized at fair value plus
transaction cost that are directly attributablghe acquisition or issue of financial asset or
financial liability. In the normal course of busgsg the fair value of a financial instrument on
initial recognition is the transaction price (thgtthe fair value of the consideration given or
received). In certain circumstances, however, thigal fair value will be based on other

observable current market transactions in the sasteument, or on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observaldekets, such as interest rate yield curves,
option volatilities and currency rates. When sueidence exists, the Bank recognises a
trading gain or loss on inception of the finandastrument.

When unavailable market data have a significantaichpon the valuation of financial
instruments, the entire initial difference in fa&lue indicated by the valuation model from the
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transaction price is not recognised immediatelthastatement of comprehensive income but
is recognised over the life of the transaction onappropriate basis, or when the inputs
become observable, or the transaction matures @dosed out, or when the Bank enters into
an offsetting transaction.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair valudsfinancial instruments measured at fair
value that are quoted in active markets are basdiicoprices for assets held and offer prices
for liabilities issued. When independent pricesravtavailable, fair values are determined by
using valuation techniques which refer to obsemabarket data. These include comparison
with similar instruments where market observablegsr exist, discounted cash flow analysis,
option pricing models and other valuation technggoemmonly used by market participants.
For financial instruments, fair values may be dateed in whole or in part using valuation
techniques based on assumptions that are not sadpby prices from current market
transactions or observable market data.

The inputs used by the valuation techniques foerd@hing fair values are classified by the
fair value level hierarchy as follows:

e level 1: quoted market price in an active marketio identical instrument
e level 2: valuation technigues based on observaiplats
e level 3: valuation techniques using significant lservable inputs

Transfer from level 1 to level 2 of fair value faechy may occur when prices on active
market are no longer available. This is the casermthe active market cease to be exists, or
there are no publicly available quotations, howesleservable inputs are still available for
valuation purposes on the instrument under question

Factors such as bid-offer spread, credit profild amdel uncertainty are taken into account,
as appropriate, when fair values are calculatedhgusialuation techniques. Valuation
techniques incorporate assumptions that other rhapketicipants would use in their
valuations, including assumptions about interets y&ld curves, exchange rates, volatilities,
and prepayment and default rates. Where a portbblimancial instruments has quoted prices
in an active market, the fair value of the instratseare calculated as the product of the
number of units and quoted price and no block dist®are made.

If the fair value of a financial asset measuredaat value through profit or loss becomes
negative, it is recorded as a financial liabilitytiliits fair value becomes positive, at which
time it is recorded as a financial asset.

The fair values of financial liabilities are measdirusing quoted market prices, where
available, or using valuation techniques. These Yailues include market participants’
assessments of the appropriate credit spread tp pihe Bank’s liabilities.

g, Initial recognition and measurement of Financialnstruments

Outbound loans and claims, and debt securitiesemagnized by the Bank when those being
issued. All other debt securities are recognizedmihe Bank commits itself either acquiring
the asset, or selling it (trade date accounting).

Through initial measurement, all financial instrurtse- except for accounts receivables - that
were not measured at fair value, are recognizea mbdified fair value by the Bank. The
modified fair value includes all transaction costsch are directly attributable to the issuance
and acquisition of financial instruments.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value thingoigfit or loss are recognized at their fair
value by the Bank. All related transaction costuired at their inception, issuance, and/or
purchase accounted as expense through Profit @. lbaccounts payables do not contain
significant financing component, they are recogmiaetransaction price by the Bank.

h, Classification and subsequent measurement of Fancial Instruments

IFRS 9 standard contains three main categoriesassity and measure the financial assets:
amortised cost (AC), fair value through other coamgnsive income (FVOCI) and fair value
through Profit and Loss (FVTPL).

The applied business models reflect the purpose thiea Bank would like to achieve by

holding the group of each financial assets. Theiness model does not depend on
management's intentions for an individual instruméwcordingly, this condition is not an

instrument-by-instrument approach to classificatéord should be determined on a higher
level of aggregation. The Bank use multiple busnesodels to manage its financial

instruments.

The following business model categories have bemeldped in accordance with IFRS 9
standard:

¢ Held to Collect (HTC): an instrument is held foethollection of contractual cash
flows with which the Bank aims to realize long-ternterest income. There is no
requirement to hold to maturity, a sale is perrdittele to increased credit risk. Sales
could be also consistent with the business moddhef credit concentration risks
change or if close to maturity.

e Both Held to Collect and For Sale (HTCS): an instent that is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows and for théesaf financial assets at the same
time. The purpose of the inception or purchase isotlect contractual cash flows, as
well as to realize profit from the increase in thg value and minimize loss from the
decrease in the fair value in medium or long tedmmpared to the HTC sales occur
more frequently and are higher in value.

e Other trading business model (TRADING): mainly tredfinancial instruments that
are purchased for short-term gain. This businessleings considered as the
“remaining category”.

The listing in the business model reflects the etqi®ns of the Bank, not just the intent, but
also the ability. The classification is not basedseenarios that are not reasonably expected
(‘worst case' or 'stress case' scenario). If thikkBalls a particular portfolio or financial asset
in a ‘stress case’ scenario, it does not affectetreduation of the business model if the Bank
expects this event is unlikely to occur.

Classification not only depends on the businessembdt also on the cash flow related

characteristics associated with the financial uregnt. The Bank has to examine the cash
flows associated with the financial instrument gaigling those debt instruments that will be
measured at amortised cost or fair value througberatomprehensive income - whether they
comply with the requirements of the equity and nes¢ rate definitions according to IFRS 9

(SPPI / Cash Flow Test).

The Bank classifies its financial assets into tiko¥ving categories based on the examination
of the business model and contractual cash flowacheristics (SPPI test):

« financial assets measured at fair value througfitmmoloss,

+ financial assets measured at amortised cost,

¢ debt instruments measured at fair value througaratbmprehensive income,

e equity instruments measured at fair value througkrocomprehensive income.
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The Bank shall measure a financial asset at aredrtisst if both of the following conditions
are met:
« the financial asset is held within a business mad&se objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flamsl,
« the financial asset's contractual cash flows arkelggayments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Bank shall measure a debt instrument at fairevilarough other comprehensive income if
both of the following conditions are met:
« the financial asset is held within a business madwlse objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling ficiahassets, and
« the financial asset’'s contractual cash flows arkelsgayments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Bank shall make an irrevocably election to mmeathe investments in equity instruments
at "fair value through other comprehensive incormategory at initial recognition, in other
case these financial assets should be measut&d \alue through profit or loss.

All other financial assets are classified by thenlBas the fair value through profit or loss
category.

I, Classification and measurement of financial liallities subsequent to initial
recognition

The Bank classify its financial liabilities intogtollowing categories:
« financial liabilities measured at fair value thrbygyofit or loss,
« financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Non-trading financial liabilities initially measuteat fair value less transaction cost by the
Bank. These liabilities subsequently measured abréged cost calculated by using the
effective interest method unless the Bank has medstine financial liability at fair value
through Profit and Loss at initial recognition.

The financial liabilities are measured at fair \eathirough Profit or Loss at initial recognition
by the Bank, the change in fair value at the sulbseigmeasurement should be recognised as

the following:
e changes related to own credit risk is measuredugfirimther comprehensive income
(OCl),

« all other changes in fair value is measured thrdgtfit or Loss.

The designated financial liabilities that are meeaduat fair value through Profit or Loss at
initial recognition are examined by the Bank whetthe recognition of changes in fair value
related to own credit risk in the other comprehemsincome (OCI) cause recognition
inconsistency (‘accounting mismatch’). If the measoent at fair value through other
comprehensive income cause accounting mismatchchla@ges in fair value should be
recognised in the profit or loss

The Bank decides according to the terms of theetbdnstrument’'s contract whether it is
classified as financial liability or equity.
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j, Fair Value Option (FVO)

At initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocablycognize a financial asset or liability at fair
value through profit or loss if it eliminates orgsificantly decreases any valuation or
recognition inconsistencies that would otherwisecharisen because of the valuation of assets
and liabilities or the profits or losses generairdhem are shown on different bases.

k, Determination and recognition of the Expected Cedit Loss

During classification of the Bank’s financial ingtnents the primary collateral is determined
as the ability and intention of the client to p&xcepting those transactions that are covered
by collateral which is independent of the finaneat legal position of the client accordingly
the return can be unequivocally ensured.

The Bank assigns exposures at each reporting pefitothis case monthly — during which the
exposures are allocated to the segments and tsotkalled ‘stages’ (stagel, stage2, stage3
and/or POCI) in accordance with the principlesFi®$ 9 standard.

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whethareldit risk of the financial asset has
increased significantly since the initial recogoniti

The Bank recognises lifetime expected credit lossfl financial instruments when the credit
risk has increased significantly compared to theglitrrisk at acquisition — regardless whether
assessed on an individual or collective basis sidemning all reasonable and supportable
information, including that which is foreseeable.

When making the assessment, the Bank evaluatéireges in the risk of a default occurring
over the expected life of the financial instrumetdnsidering reasonable and supportable
information, that is available without undue cosetiort which indicate the changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

The Bank determines the significant increase imlitmésk based on the examination of the
following four conditions:
e changes in the clients’ rating after the issuance,
e PD change in the master scale compared to thalinilue,
e default in payment,
« the amount of the client's exposure classifiedtages2 exceeds a certain proportion
of its gross exposure.

The existence of any of these conditions is asddsgehe Bank as a significant increase in
the credit risk. If there is no evidence of impamh have to be assigned to Stage 2, the
transaction could be displaced from stage 2 tcestag

Financial assets whose default risk has increasedah an extent after initial recognition that
there is objective evidence of impairment have ¢oassigned to Stage 3 and a loan loss
provision has to be recognised by calculating thetime-Expected credit loss (ECL) Bank
defines materiality threshold, exposure that atevbé¢hat threshold should be considered as a
small amount (below the limit). The impairment bbse assets which are above the threshold
should be estimated individually.

In order to determine the impairment and provis@nassessed as class of clients, the
expected credit loss (ECL) should be used accortiinthe relevant principles of IFRS 9

impairment and provision of assessed as class ieftsl calculated on monthly basis,

automatically.
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Factors taken into account when determining expeatedit loss:
e remaining lifetime in years,
e exposure at default (EaD),
* loss given default (LGD),
e probability of default (PD),
« credit conversion-factor (CCF),
* loss rate of the non-default and default transactio
e discount rate calculated on the remaining lifetime.

The amount of impairment and provision equals towm of expected credit loss.
In Stage 1 the impairment is equal to the 12-Maxbected credit loss.
In Stage 2 and Stage 3 the impairment is equaletdifetime expected credit loss.

The applied risk parameters are determined ondbs lof statistical models for homogeneous
groups and transaction groups. The models areataticat least once a year, and if necessary
it will be revised. Transactions that are recogtiaefair value, the fair value calculation the
credit risk component of the discount factor iscakdted based on the principles related to
determination of ECL as mentioned above.

The Bank calculates the expected credit loss fer mdamaining lifetime, excepting the
following financial instruments for which the losscalculated for 12 months:
* debt securities with low credit risk at the repagtdate,
» financial instruments excepting lease receivabled account receivables, which
credit risk do not significantly increased compat@chitial recognition.
For account and lease receivables the Bank alwaimilates the expected loss for the
remaining lifetime.

The expected credit loss represents the expeatelit twsses of a financial asset until maturity
in terms of a probability weighted average.

Expected credit losses are probability-weightedmeges of credit losses during the life
expectancy of a financial asset. These are assbgdhd Bank as follows:

» financial assets not impaired at the reporting :ddtscounted loss on cash flow
(difference between the contractual cash flowsthadxpected cash flows),

« financial assets impaired at the reporting datferdince between the gross carrying
amount and the estimated present value of theamdiistg amount,

e undrawn loan commitments: present value of theetbfice between the contractual
cash flows that are due to the entity if the holafethe loan commitment draws down
the loan and the cash flows that the entity expaxteeceive if the loan is drawn
down,

« financial guarantee contracts: expected paymentshéo holder, reduced by the
amounts that are expected to be recovered.

If the credit risk of the financial instrument hawreased significantly since its initial
recognition until the reporting date, the Bank gguees the loss on the asset at the same
amount as the expected lifetime credit loss.

If the credit risk of the financial instrument hast significantly increased since the initial

recognition until the reporting date, the Bank ggtiees loss on the asset at the same amount
of the 12-month expected credit loss.
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The impairment/expected credit loss calculated 2rmonths is the part of the lifetime
expected loss results from potential default evedittsin 12 months of the reporting date.

The Bank recognises loss for the expected cregd ém the following financial instruments
not measured at fair value through Profit or Loss:

* debtinstruments,

* lease receivables,

* accounts receivables,

< financial guarantees, and

* loan commitments.

The expected credit loss should be recognisedéBémk as the following:

» deducted amount from the gross carrying value (impant) — in case of financial
assets measured at amortised cost,

e provision — in case of financial guarantees andh loammitments, if the financial
instrument includes both a loan and an undrawn ompts and the Bank is unable to
distinguish the expected credit loss calculated tfer loan and for the undrawn
components, the Bank will therefore determine thgpairment loss on the two
components together. To the extent that the cordbéng@ected credit losses exceed
the gross carrying amount of the financial as$et,expected credit losses should be
recognised as a provision.

* in case of financial assets measured at fair vilirgeigh other comprehensive income
(OCl), the impairment loss is not recognized in financial statement as part of the
assets’ fair value. The recognised impairment nieslifthe cumulative other
comprehensive income.

In case of the financial instruments measured iatvilue through profit or loss, the Bank
shows in a separate statement whether there washanges in the client’s credit risk.

When recognising the change in the credit risk, Blamk reviews the Stage classification
based on the clients' risk characteristics (inaalbect the same, hypothetical, credit risk
parameters of a transaction measured at amortisstl are applied) and assigns the
corresponding risk parameters to the transactiamgluhe valuation. Accordingly, the risk

parameters are part of fair valuation and the changcredit risk occurs by isolating and

separately recording the effects of these paraseter

For purchased or originated credit-impaired finaheissets at the reporting date the Bank
recognises the accumulated changes in the lifetmected credit loss since the initial
recognition. In the Bank's practice, typically fardenominated receivables appear as
purchased or originated credit-impaired financtseds.

The Bank assesses provision for contingent ligdslit(i.e. contracted but undrawn loan
commitments, issued financial guarantees, letteredits) as follows:
e in the case of clients/debtors subject to individizduation, the Bank determines the
amount of provision individually,
e in other case the Bank calculates provision baseti®@ EAD corrected by CCF.

For transactions accounted as commitments showsgydn the reporting date, the calculated
provision is the negative difference between the ¥alue and the gross carrying amount
based on the valuation method.

The provision is based on the amount of loss caledlas above.
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|, Derecognition of Financial Assets

The following decision tree illustrates the pridepof derecognition of financial instruments
by the Bank:

The Bank determines whether these principles applia
part of financial assets (or a part of a groupimilar
financial assets) in its entirety.

( N
Has the right to the cash flows from the finaneisset Yes The asset should be
expired? »| derecognized
~ J
No

A 4

Has the Bank transferred the contractual righteteive
cash flows of the financial ass

¢No

Has the Bank assumed an obligation to pay theftash
Yes from the financial asset meets the conditions efribxt No
paragraph?

l Yes

Has the Bank transferred substantially all riskd an
rewards

l No Yes

Has the Bank retained substantially all risks and?

Continue to recognize the
asset

A 4

Yes
The asset should be

derecognized

A\ 4

A 4

Continue to recognize the
asset

A 4

No
\4 No
Has the Bank retained control of the financial t&se The asset should be
derecognized
Yes

The Bank shall continue to recognize the finanagset to
the extent of its continuing involvement

As a result of a contract modification — if the rifim@ition does not result in derecognition of
the financial asset — the Bank has to recalculaegross carrying amount of the financial
asset and should recognise the difference as dioaitin gain or loss in profit or loss.

Transfers that qualify for derecognition of financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when #@atisé contractual rights to receive the
cash flows of a financial asset (the 'original #ser retains the contractual rights to receive
the cash flows of a financial asset, but assumesn&ractual obligation to pay those cash
flows to one or more recipients (the eventual recits’), the Bank treats the transaction as a
transfer of a financial asset if, and only if, @llthe following three conditions are met:

* The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to tlem®al recipients unless it collects
equivalent amounts from the original asset. Sheriitadvances by the entity with the
right of full recovery of the amount lent plus ased interest at market rates do not
violate this condition.
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* The Bank is prohibited by the terms of the transfamtract from selling or pledging
the original asset other than as security to tlenewal recipients for the obligation to
pay them cash flows.

« The Bank has an obligation to remit any cash flavsollects on behalf of the
eventual recipients without material delay. In &iddi the Bank is not entitled to
reinvest such cash flows, except for investmentsash or cash equivalents during the
short settlement period from the collection datéht date of required remittance to
the eventual recipients, and interest earned oh swestments is passed to the
eventual recipients.

When the Bank transfers a financial asset, it shadluate the extent to which it retains the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financiaktaiss

The Bank examines the following before derecognitio

e if the Bank transfers substantially all the risksd arewards of ownership of the
financial asset, the Bank shall derecognize thenfifal asset and recognize separately
as assets or liabilities any rights and obligatioresated or retained in the transfer,

« if the Bank retains substantially all the risks aediards of ownership of the financial
asset, the Bank shall continue to recognize tranfiial asset,

e if the Bank neither transfers nor retains substdintiall the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset, the Bank shatkmeine whether it has retained
control of the financial asset. In this case:

o if the Bank has not retained control, it shall degnize the financial asset
and recognize separately as assets or liabilitigs raghts and obligations
created or retained in the transfer,

o if the Bank has retained control, it shall contirtoerecognize the financial
asset to the extent of its continuing involvemernthie financial asset.

The extent of the Bank's continuing involvementha transferred asset is the extent to which
the Bank is exposed to changes in the value afémsferred asset.

The transfer of risks and rewards is evaluateddmparing the Bank’s exposure, before and
after the transfer, with the variability in the ammts and timing of the net cash flows of the
transferred asset. The computation and comparigmade using the current market interest
rate as discount rate. All reasonably possibleatdlity in net cash flows is considered, with

greater weight being given to those outcomes tteatrmre likely to occur.

The Bank has retained substantially all the rigké @wards of ownership of a financial asset
if its exposure to the variability in the presemtiue of the future net cash flows from the
financial asset does not change significantly eesalt of the transfer.

An entity has transferred substantially all thé&sisind rewards of ownership of a financial
asset if its exposure to such variability is noden significant in relation to the total
variability in the present value of the future nash flows associated with the financial asset.

Asset transfers holding all or substantially alltioé risks and rewards could be for example

repo transactions (for repo transactions, the Baorksiders whether the risks and rewards
incurred in the transaction are substantially tiemed or not).
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Derecognition due to significant changes in contragal cash flows

The Bank considers significant change in the cetued cash flows, if the debtor changes or
in a single-currency loan contract the currencynglea.

The Bank considers it a significant change (signderecognition) if the difference between
the present value discounted at market interestafathe modified contractual cash flows and
the original (before modification) present valuecohtractual cash flow exceeds 10% of the
book value of the financial asset.

If this condition is met the management may consated make a formal decision on the
necessity of derecognition and recognition as a asget/liability based on the specific
features of the asset. The fulfilment of the candititself does not result in an immediate,
unconditional derecognition of the financial instrent.

Financial assets under legal proceeding

Loans which are under legal proceeding (bankrupigqyidation and final proceedings) and in
case of enforcement collateral transactions:

* the Bank’s contractual right to receive cash fldvesn the financial asset does not

expire,

« the Bank did not transfer the right of collectiragsh flows from the financial asset,

< the Bank did not assume any obligation to pay #shdlows from the financial asset,
therefore the Bank does not derecognize such ittiely from its books, but may partially
derecognize them.

When the Bank can reasonably not expect to recpeer of the financial asset while
maintaining the legal claim it is considered asadtigl recognition. In such cases, the Bank
directly reduces the value of the financial asset.

After the legal waiver of the claim, the Bank masitev down the total gross amount of the
financial asset if it is not able to be recoverad goid according to the relevant internal rules
(in this case there is no legal claim).

m, Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Bank removes a financial liability (or a paftacfinancial liability) from its statement of
financial position when, and only when, it is egiilshed — when the obligation specified in
the contract is fulfilled or cancelled or expires.

Exchange between an existing borrower and lendestebt instruments with substantially
different terms shall be accounted for as an eutsignent of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new financial liability.

Similarly, a substantial modification of the terofsan existing financial liability or a part of it
(whether or not attributable to the financial ditfity of the debtor) shall be accounted for as
an extinguishment of the original financial liabjliand the recognition of a new financial
liability.

The terms are substantially different if the disted present value of the cash flows that are
included under the new terms, including the pa&sfeeduced by the fees received, is offset
by at least 10% discounted at the original effeciinterest rate by the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the originahhcial liability.
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The terms are substantially different if under nlegv terms the present value discounted at the
original effective interest rate of the cash flowmcluding fees received and paid — is at least
10% different from the discounted present valughef remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. If the exchange of debt instnents or the modification of the terms is
treated as cancellation, the Bank will recognizg emosts or fees incurred as a gain or loss
related to the termination of the liability. If texchange or modification is not accounted for
as cancellation, the costs or fees incurred wiltlifyothe current amount of the liability and
will be depreciated over the remaining maturityte modified loan.

n, Measurement at amortised cost

The Bank's financial assets are measured at aemrtisst if it is consistent with the business
model and meet the criteria of the SPPI test.

The Bank assesses its financial liabilities at dised cost, except for:

« financial liability measured at fair value throuBlofit or Loss,

« financial liabilities that arise when a transferaofinancial asset does not qualify for
derecognition or when the continuing involvemerprapch applies,

« financial guarantee contracts,

e commitments to provide a loan at a below-markedrast rate,

e contingent consideration recognised by an acquitea business combination to
which IFRS 3 applies.

Amortized cost is the amount of a financial asgetimancial liability at initial recognition,
reduced by principal repayments, increased or dserk by the difference between the
original amount and amount at maturity cumulativeetization calculated using an effective
interest rate method and in case of financial assdjtisted by any financial losses.

The effective interest rate method is the methcetiite measure the amortised cost of the
Bank's financial assets or financial liabilitiesdaihe method used to allocate and recognises
interest income and interest expense in a giveioger

Interest income and interest expense should bendietied using the effective interest rate
method and then recognized in the Profit or Loatestent.

The effective interest rate is the rate that eyatiscounts the estimated future cash payments
or receipts through the expected life of the finahasset or financial liability to the

e gross book value of the financial instrument, or

« amortized cost of the financial liability.

However, in those cases when it is not possiblecli@ably estimate the cash flows or the
remaining life of a financial instrument (or groapfinancial instruments), the Bank uses the
contractual cash flows over the full contractuainef the financial instrument (or group of

financial instruments).

In case of purchased or originated credit-impaifiedncial assets (POCI) credit-adjusted
effective interest rate should be used. The cradjitsted effective interest rate (CAIR) is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated futush @ayments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the amortised cdst bnancial asset.
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Simplified approach for trade receivables, contragsets and lease receivables

In case of future cash flows of financial instrungecannot be estimated reliably due to the
specific features of the product, furthermore thatactual cash flows are not available, the
effective interest rate of the instrument cannoté&ermined.

When interests, commissions and other items agfed to such transactions these are
accounted through profit or loss for using a sifigadi method (ie the effective interest rate is
the same as the nominal interest rate).

0, Financial assets measured at Fair Value

Financial assets should be measured at fair valeaigh other comprehensive income, if the
business model confirms that and if the SPPI caisesire met.

Investments in equity instrument are measurediavéue through profit or loss unless the
Bank make an irrevocably election to present inatfer comprehensive income.

Interest income arise from interest-bearing trafsacmeasured at fair value should be
calculated using the effective interest methodspeetively, transaction measured at fair value
through profit or loss or fair value through otlsemprehensive income.

The Bank recognises the result from the fair vahgasurement excepting from the credit loss
(difference between the amortised cost and thevidire) against the equity, if it arise from
asset measured at fair value through other compséheincome, and in the profit or loss if
measured through profit or loss.

Initially, financial assets and liabilities sholdd measured at fair value, including transaction
costs for assets and liabilities not measurediavéue through profit or loss.

p, Financial guarantees

The Bank does not recognise the financial guaranésecontingent items in the Financial
Statement because this could cause recognitionisanome or expense which may not being
realisable.

In case when the realisation of income or expeassubstantially sure, the asset does not
considered as contingent item and it should begrised in the Financial Statement items
assessed permanently in order to the Bank posththages up the Financial Statement in
time.

Insofar the occurrence of economic benefits inflowoutflow being substantially sure, the
relating income or expense should be accountedaingeriod wherein the probability of the
occurrence changed.

The Bank considers the occurrence of economic isnaflow or outflow as substantially
sure when the Client written inform the Bank of ihgention to draw on guarantee.

The Bank subsequently recognise the contracts randial guarantee at the higher of the
amount of the accounted loss and the amount igitietognised less cumulative income.
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g, Loans and advances to banks and customers

Loans and advances to banks and customers inobaohs land advances originated by the
Bank which are classified as Fair Value ThroughfiPos Loss or Amortised cost. Loans and

advances are recognised when cash is advancedrioweos (settlement date). They are
derecognised when either borrower repay their abbgs, or the loans are sold or written off,

or substantially all the risks and rewards of owhgr are transferred.

If they are measured at amortised cost they atiallpirecorded at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs and are subsequemfsured at amortised cost, otherwise they
are measured at fair value. Where loans and adsaarechedged by derivatives designated
and qualifying as fair value hedges, the carryiatu® of the loans and advances so hedged
includes a fair value adjustment for the hedgddaidy.

r, Assets held for sale

Financial instruments that meet the IFRS 5 standateria’s are recognized as held for sale
by the Bank. The Bank classifies a non-currenttaasséneld for sale, if its carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale trarisan, rather than through continuing use.

A disposal group is a group of assets that arendee to be disposed by sale or in another
way, collectively, as a single group, in a singtansaction and the liabilities directly
attributable to those assets that are transfeugdgithe transaction.

To meet the criteria for classification as helddate:

* The asset (or disposal group) must be availableifonediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual emstomary for sales of such assets
(or disposal groups) and its sale must be hightypable.

* For the sale to be highly probable, the approprietel of management must be
committed to a plan to sell the asset (or dispgealip), and an active programme to
locate a buyer and complete the plan must have ibéexted.

* The plan or decision to sell must be approved goatance with the relevant rules of
the Bank in order for the sale to be consideredighly probable and it is also
necessary to include it in the report.

e The asset (or disposal group) must be actively atatkfor sale at a price that is
reasonable in relation to its current fair value tbe Bank advertise it at the
appropriate forum.

e The sale should be expected to qualify for recogmias a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification.

e Actions required to complete the plan should indi¢hat it is unlikely that significant
changes to the plan will be made or that the pléirbe withdrawn.

Assets held for sale or disposal groups shouldebegnized separately in the statement of
financial position.

A disposal group classified as held for sale maglifyufor the definition of the discontinued
operations.

Discontinued operations are a part of the Bank llaatbeen disposed of or classified as held

for sale and embody a distinct, major industry @sgyaphical area of activity and are part of a
coordinated plan for disposing a separate busioregsographical area of activity.
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The result of the discontinued operation and thesgar losses at sale should be recognized in
a separate line in the Profit or Loss Statementiankde Other Comprehensive Income by the
Bank.

The Bank measures a non-current asset (or disgosap) classified as held for sale at the
lower of its carrying amount or fair value lesstdassell.

If the fair value less cost to sell is less thaa ¢harrying amount of the non-current assets or
assets or liabilities part of the disposal grouphat date of classification as held for sale an
impairment loss shall be recognized.

Fair value less cost to sell must be re-determateshch reporting date and, if higher than the
carrying amount, the impairment loss should bemnsag up to the amount of impairment loss
recognized previously.

s, Financial assets and liabilities held for tradig

Treasury bills, debt securities, equity shareschassified as held for trading if they have been
acquired principally for the purpose of selling mpurchasing in the near term. These
financial assets or financial liabilities are rexisgd on trade date, when the Bank enters into
contractual arrangements with counterparties tahage or sell securities, and are normally
derecognised when either sold (assets) or extihgdifliabilities). Measurement is initially at
fair value, with transaction costs taken to thetestent of comprehensive income.
Subsequently, their fair values are remeasuredalirghins and losses from changes therein
should be recognised in the statement of compréreirscome in ‘Other operating income’
as they arise.

Interest earned on trading debt securities is tedoms trading result among the other
operating income when it becomes due. The divideaideed on trading equity instruments
are disclosed separately among the interest incamen received. Interest payable on
financial liabilities acquired for trading purposeseported as other operating expense.

Long-term deposit

The interest payable on certain fixed rate longatdeposits from investment funds has been
matched with the interest on ‘receive fixed/payialale’ interest rate swaps and cross-
currency swaps as part of a documented interestrig¢ and FX risk management strategy.
An accounting mismatch would arise if the depogiese accounted for at amortised cost,
because the related derivatives are measured ravdhie with changes in the fair value

recognised in the statement of comprehensive inc&yealesignating the long-term deposits

at fair value, the movement in the fair value @ thng-term deposits is also be recognised in
the Statement of comprehensive income.

Structured Bonds

MKB issues structured bonds for its retail andiiosbnal clients since 2008. The Bank
eliminated its interest and foreign currency risisiag from the above mentioned options by
entering into offsetting option transactions. Tam@hate valuation inconsistencies, these
structured bonds are designated at fair value dfitpor loss in their entirety and as a
consequence the embedded derivatives are not ssghara

The fair value designation, once made, is irreviezdbesignated financial assets and financial
liabilities are recognised when the Bank enter® ittie contractual provisions of the
arrangements with counterparties, which is generah trade date, and are normally
derecognised when sold (assets) or extinguishabilities). Measurement is initially at fair
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value, with transaction costs taken directly to gtatement of comprehensive income.
Subsequently, the fair values are remeasured, aim3d @nd losses from changes therein are
recognised in “Interest income”.

t, Securities

Investments in securities are classified as asslet for liquidity purposes if there was a

decision made previously about possible disposahse of the changes in market conditions
or the securities have not been classified into dtteer categories. By these assets the
objective is to achieve both collecting contractaash flows and selling financial assets.

Financial investments are recognised on trade aeten the Bank enters into contractual

arrangements with counterparties to purchase siesyrand are derecognised when either the
securities are sold or the borrowers repay thdigations.

The liquid securities are initially measured at failue plus direct and incremental transaction
costs. They are subsequently remeasured at faieyahd changes therein are recognised in
the equity. Relating to these assets impairmerst $beuld be accounted in the equity. When
these securities are sold, cumulative gains orebgweviously recognised in equity are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive in@si®©ther operating income / (expense),
net”.

u, Derivatives

Derivatives are recognised initially, and are sgbsatly remeasured, at fair value. Fair values
of exchange-traded derivatives are obtained frooteglimarket prices. Fair values of over-
the-counter derivatives are obtained using valnatechniques, including discounted cash
flow models and option pricing models.

Derivatives may be embedded in other financialrimeents. Embedded derivatives are
treated as separate derivatives according to tR€ B-standard.

Derivatives are classified as assets when theivédue is positive or as liabilities when their
fair value is negative. Derivative assets and liigds arising from different transactions are
only offset if the transactions are with the samenterparty, a legal right of offset exists, and
the parties intend to settle the cash flows ontdasis.

v, Finance and operating leases

Agreements which transfer to counterparties subiathnall the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of assets, but not necessaribl kitte, are classified as finance leases. When
the Bank is a lessor under finance leases the asmoue under the leases, after deduction of
unearned charges, are included in ‘Loans and adgatacbanks’ or ‘Loans and advances to
customers’ as appropriate. The finance income vabds is recognised in “Interest income”
over the periods of the leases so as to give aamnste of return on the net investment in the
leases.

When the Bank is a lessee under finance leasetgdbed assets are capitalised and included
in ‘Intangibles, property and equipment’ and thearesponding liability to the lessor is
included in ‘Other liabilities and provisions’. Anince lease and its corresponding liability
are recognised initially at the fair value of theset or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Finance charges payableeognised in “Interest expense” over
the period of the lease based on the interestimgikcit in the lease so as to give a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of thkility.
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All other leases are classified as operating led&ken acting as lessor, the Bank includes the
assets subject to operating leases in ‘Intangilgesperty and equipment’ and accounts for
them accordingly. Impairment losses are recognigdtie extent that residual values are not
fully recoverable and the carrying value of theipment is thereby impaired. When the Bank
is the lessee, leased assets are not recognistitk atatement of financial position. Rentals
payable and receivable under operating leasescamiated for on a straight-line basis over
the periods of the leases and are included in “Odperating income / (expense), net” and
“Operating expenses”, respectively.

w, Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinakdiabilities

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinabdlities are the Bank’'s sources of debt
funding.

When the Bank sells a financial asset and simubiaslg enters into a “repo” or “stock
lending” agreement to repurchase the asset (onitasiasset) at a fixed price on a future date,
the arrangement is accounted for as a deposit,tladunderlying asset continues to be
recognised in the Bank’s financial statements.

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinabilities are initially measured at fair value

plus transaction costs, and subsequently measutrtheéia amortised cost using the effective
interest method, except for the items which atahrecognition are designated by the Bank to
fair value through profit or loss category.

The Bank carries some deposits, debt securitiesabdrdinated liabilities at fair value, with
fair value changes recognised immediately in pafipss.

X, Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a pastnt, the Bank has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated béliaand it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle thégattion.

Contingent liabilities, which include certain guaiees, are possible obligations that arise
from past events whose existence will be confirnoedy by the occurrence, or non-
occurrence, of one or more uncertain future eveatsvholly within the control of the Bank,
and present obligation that arises from past evbuatsis not recognised, because it is not
probable that an outflow of resources embodyinghenuc benefits will be require to settle
the obligation, or the amount of the obligationmmatrbe measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in theaficial statements but are disclosed in the
additional notes.

y, Income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferredlteoame tax is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income except to the extent theglates to items recognised directly in

equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

The Bank applies the corporate income tax as indame

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable eniakable profit for the year, calculated using

tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by tite ¢ the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previoasse
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Deferred tax is provided using the financial positimethod, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of asamtk liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes
Deferred tax is not recognised for the followinmpmorary differences:
< the initial recognition of goodwiill,
< the initial recognition of assets or liabilities & transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accountingtaxable profit,
« and differences relating to investments in subggsato the extent that they probably
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates thaegpected to be applied to the temporary
differences when they reverse, based on the laatshive been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to thengxteat it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the assah de utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period ard@duced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be esdi.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset wtiay arise in the same entity and relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authoaitg, when a legal right to offset exists in
the entity.

Deferred tax relating to fair value remeasureméravailable-for-sale investments which are
charged or credited directly to equity, is alsodderl or charged directly to equity and is
subsequently recognised in the statement of corepsebe income when the deferred fair
value gain or loss is recognised in the statemieodmprehensive income.

Z, Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all financial unsents except for those classified as held for
trading and kept in trading book are recognisetniterest income’ and ‘Interest expense’ in
the statement of comprehensive income using thectefé interest method. The effective
interest method is a way of calculating the amedisost of a financial asset or a financial
liability (or groups of financial assets or finaalkiiabilities) and of allocating the interest
income or interest expense over the relevant period

The effective interest rate is the rate that eyadicounts the estimated future cash payments
and receipts through the expected life of the farrasset or liability (or, where appropriate,
a shorter period) to the carrying amount of thaffitial asset or liability. The effective interest
rate is established on initial recognition of tiveahcial asset and liability and is not revised
subsequently. When calculating the effective irgemate, the Bank estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the finandfetrument but not future credit losses. The
calculation includes all amounts paid or receivgdhe Bank that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate of a financial instrumemgluding transaction costs and all other
premiums or discounts. Transaction costs are inenggh costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financéaled or liability.

Interest on impaired financial assets is calculdigdpplying the original effective interest
rate of the financial asset to the carrying amasnteduced by any allowance for impairment.
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aa, Fees and commission income

Fee and commission income is accounted for aswello

* income earned on the execution of a significanisactcognised as revenue when the
act is completed (for example the arrangementHeracquisition of shares or other
securities);

* income earned from the provision of services i®gatsed as revenue as the services
are provided (for example asset management anttsdees); and

* income that are integral to the effective interast on a financial asset or liability are
included in the measurement of the effective irdtierate (for example, certain loan
commitment fees).

bb, Other operating income / (expense), net

Other operating income / (expense), net compriséssgess losses related to trading and
investment assets and liabilities, and includeseallised and unrealised fair value changes,
interest, dividends and foreign exchange difference

cc, Dividends

Dividend income is recognised when the right terez income is established. Usually this is
the ex-dividend date for equity securities.

dd, Segment reporting

MKB formed its reporting segments in line with IFRSOperating Segments” which requires
operating segments to be identified on the basisitefnal reports about components of the
entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief igi@ag decision-maker, in order to allocate
resources to a segment and to assess its perfagmanc

A segment is a distinguishable component of thekBhat is engaged either in providing
products or services (business segment), or inigiray products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical segjnewhich is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other sagm

Segment revenue, segment expense, segment assetsganent liabilities are determined as
those that are directly attributable or can becalled to a segment on a reasonable basis,
including factors such as the nature of items, ¢beducted activities and the relative
autonomy of the unit. The Bank allocates segmergmee and segment expense through an
inter-segment pricing process. These allocatioaanducted on arm'’s length terms and
conditions. Please find further details on segmeporting in Note 36.

ee, Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of eatthe Bank's entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environmentwhich the entity operates (‘the
functional currency’).

Transactions in foreign currencies are translatedhé respective functional currencies of
Bank entities at exchange rates at the dates dfdheactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the end ofréporting period are retranslated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate at th&d.dBhe foreign currency gain or loss on
monetary items is the difference between amortsest in the functional currency at the
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beginning of the period, adjusted for effectiveehast and payments during the period, and the
amortised cost in foreign currency translated atekchange rate at the end of the period.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominatddneign currencies that are measured at fair
value are retranslated to the functional currericth@ exchange rate at the date that the fair
value was determined. Foreign currency differerszesng on retranslation are recognised in

profit or loss, except for differences arising ¢ tretranslation of available-for-sale equity

instruments.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations|uding goodwill and fair value adjustments

arising on acquisition and equity put options, @mamslated to HUF at exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The income and expeo$doreign operations are translated to

HUF at exchange rates at the dates of the transactioreign currency differences are

recognised directly in equity, in the Currency #lation reserve. When a foreign operation is
disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant ambumthe foreign currency translation reserve is
transferred to profit or loss.

ff, Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that requireBéduek to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs becauspexified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debtument.

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially anabsequently recognised at their fair value in
accordance with IFRS 9.

gg, Share capital

Shares are classified as equity when there is ntraxiual obligation to deliver cash or other
financial assets to the holders. Incremental cdsectly attributable to the issue of equity
instruments are presented in equity as a deduftbomthe proceeds, net of tax.

hh, Treasury shares

The cost of the Bank’s repurchased equity instrum¢itreasury shares') is deducted from
equity. Gain or loss is not recognised on the pasehsale, issue, or cancellation of treasury
shares. Treasury shares may be acquired and heldebBank or by other members of the

Group. Consideration paid or received is recogniiegttly in equity.

ii, Earnings per share

The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings pmes{EPS) data for its ordinary shares.
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit osd attributable to ordinary shareholders of
the Bank by the weighted average number of ordishgres outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the prafitoss attributable to ordinary shareholders
and the weighted average number of ordinary sharestanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. For further informatigmout basic and diluted EPS, please see
Note 31.
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jl, The effect of adopting new and revised Internabnal Financial Reporting
Standards effective from 1 January 2018

The following amendments to the existing standamdd new interpretation issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) addpted by the EU are effective for the
current reporting period:

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” - adopted by the EUon 22 November 2016
(effective for annual periods beginning on or aftdrJanuary 2018)

In July 2014, the International Accounting StandaBdard issued the final version of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments, and in November 2016 thehad adopted it. IFRS 9 is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2@i8 early adoption permitted. The Bank
has been applying IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. ifipéeimentation of IFRS 9 had significant
impact on the separate financial statements.

Classification — Financial assets

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification gatees for financial assets: measured at
amortised cost (AC), fair value through other coamgnsive income (FVTOCI) and fair value

through profit or loss (FVTPL). The standard eliat#s the existing IAS 39 categories of held
to maturity (HTM), loans and receivables (L&R) aadhilable-for-sale (AFS).

IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurerapproach for financial assets that
reflects the business model in which assets areageshand their cash flow characteristics.

An entity's business model is determined at a lthatl reflects how groups of financial assets
are managed together to achieve a particular basiobjective. The entity's business model
does not depend on management's intentions fondimidual instrument. Accordingly, this
condition is not an instrument-by-instrument apploao classification and should be
determined on a higher level of aggregation. Howesaingle entity may have more than one
business model for managing its financial instrursen

The Bank determined the following business modatset on the requirements of IFRS 9:

HTC — Held to collect: Financial assets that are held within a businesteinwhose objective

is to hold assets in order to collect contractaahcflows are managed to realise cash flows by
collecting contractual payments over the life a& thstrument. Although the objective of an
entity's business model may be to hold financiaetsin order to collect contractual cash
flows, the entity need not hold all of those instents until maturity. Thus an entity's business
model can be to hold financial assets to collecttractual cash flows even when sales of
financial assets occur or are expected to occuhenfuture. The business model may be to
hold assets to collect contractual cash flows dfvtre entity sells financial assets when there
is an increase in the assets' credit risk.

HTCS - Both Held to Collect and for Sale:An entity may hold financial assets in a business
model whose objective is achieved by both collectoontractual cash flows and selling
financial assets. The objective of the businesseanothy be to manage everyday liquidity
needs, to maintain a particular interest yield ipFafr to match the duration of the financial
assets to the duration of the liabilities that thassets are funding. Compared to a business
model whose objective is to hold financial assetscollect contractual cash flows, this
business model will typically involve greater freqey and value of sales.
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Other (TRADING) business model: Typically financial instrument held for tradingeth
entity's objective will typically result in activeuying and selling in short-term. This business
model is a residual category.

The business model assessment reflects to the 8argectations, not just its intention but its
ability. Consequently, this assessment is not peéd on the basis of scenarios that the entity
does not reasonably expect to occur, such as Emlcalorst case' or 'stress case' scenarios.
For example, if an entity expects that it will selparticular portfolio of financial assets only
in a stress case scenario, that scenario wouldffeatt the entity's assessment of the business
model for those assets if the entity reasonablgetgpthat such a scenario will not occur.

4.2

IAS 39 carrying

amount
31 December 2017

IFRS 9 carrying

Reclassifications Remeasurements amount

Amortised cost

1 January 2018

Cash and balances with central banks 31599 31 599
Loans and advances to banks 78 005 78 005
Loans and advances to customers 858 143 (7 641) (38) 850 464
Opening balance under IAS 39 858 143

Addition: to mandatory FVTPL (IFRS 9) (7 641)

Remeasurement: ECL allowance (38)
Closing balance under IFRS 9 850 464
Investment securities - Held to maturity 559 319 (308 723) (354) 250 242
Opening balance under IAS 39 559 319

Addition: to FVTOCI - debt instruments (308 723)

Remeasurement: ECL allowance (354)
Closing balance under IFRS 9 250 242
Total financial assets measured at amortised cost 827 066 (316 364) (392) 12103
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Trading assets 52 562 20 585 - 73 147
Opening balance under IAS 39 52 562

Addition: from FVTOCI - debt instruments 20 585
Closing balance under IFR¢ 73147
Loans and advances to customers 7 641 32 7673
Opening balance under IAS 39

Addition: from amortised cost (IAS & 7 641

Remeasurement: from amortised cost to FV 32
Closing balance under IFRS 9 7673
Investment securities - FVTPL (mandatory) 19 757 19 757
Total financial assets measured at FVTPL 72 319 28 226 32 100 5
Fair value through other comprehensive income
Investment securities - FVTOCI (debt instruments) 342 915 288 138 7 436 638 489
Opening balance under IAS 39 342 915

Addition: from amortised cost (IAS 39) 288 138

Remeasurement: from amortised cost tc 7 43¢
Closing balance under IFRS 9 638 489
Investment securities - FVTOCI (equity instruments) 478 (1) 477
Opening balance under IAS 478

Remeasurement: ECL allowance 1)
Closing balance under IFRS 9 a77
Total financial assets measured at FVTOCI 343 393 288 138 7 435 638 96

The Bank typically holds its financial assets inGbusiness model, except certain securities,
that are held in HTCS business model. The reclaatisn reflects the change in the business

models.
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In the assessment of the SPPI criteria’s the BamMyaes whether the interest of loan
commitments only contains solely payments of ppatiand interest. The cash flows of the
Bank’s financial assets typically solely paymentgioncipal and interest, therefore the pass
the SPPI test.

Those loans which did not passed the SPPI test&yiarhave been reclassified to ‘Fair Value
through profit or loss’ at HUF 7,641 million amowmd the Bank recognise HUF 32 million
as revaluation profit.

The discounted government bonds have been reatabsif ‘Fair Value through profit or loss
from Fair Value through other comprehensive incomleich carrying amount at the year-end
was HUF 20,585 million.

The government bonds have been reclassified to ¥alue through other comprehensive
income’ amounted to HUF 308,723 million. The rewion profit on financial assets
measured at Fair Value through other comprehemsbgame was HUF 7,435 million.

Impairment — Financial assets and contract assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IASV@&h a forward-looking ‘expected credit
loss’ (ECL) model. This will require considerablelgement as to how changes in economic
factors affect ECLs, which will be determined orpebability-weighted basis. The new
impairment model will apply to financial assets sw&d at amortised cost or FVTOCI,
except for investments in equity instruments, andantract assets.

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances will be measuredithieeof the following bases:
* 12-month ECLs. These are ECLs that result fromiptesdefault events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and
» lifetime ECLs. These are ECLs that result frompabsible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.

Loan loss allowance Loan loss
Measure ment category under IAS 39/Provision Reclassification Remeasurement allowance under
under IAS 37 IFRS 9

Loans and receivables (IAS 39)/Financial assets amortised cost (IFRS 9)
Loans and advances to banks 19 - 3 22
Loans and advances to customers 104 897 - 14 089 118 986
Total 104 916 - 14 092 119 00§
Held to maturity (IAS 39)/Financial assets at amoiised cost (IFRS 9)
Investment securites (HTM) - - 212 212
Available-for-sale financial instruments (IAS 39)/Rnancial assets at FVTOCI (IFRS 9)
Investment securities (AFS) 33 50 65 148
Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts
Loans and advances to customers (loan commitments) 2708 - (578) 2130
Total 2741 50 (301) 2 49(

35/139



MKB Bank Zrt.
Separate Financial Statements as at 31 Decemb@r 201

Data in HUF million except stated otherwise

4.4

Stage 1

Assets to be measured at Amortised cost

Gross carrying value per asset type

12-month ECL

Stage 2

Lifetime ECL

POCI
Purchased or
originated credit-
impaired

Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Total

Property loans to customers 126 860 5437 19 166 19 501 170 964
General purpose loans to customers 43 274 5042 27 386 29 133 104 835
Investment loans 156 946 20 612 4944 - 182 502
Loans for current assets to customers 220 410 8678 18 432 - 247 520
Overdrafts 67 139 4632 6 261 - 78 032
Other loans to customers 76 883 22 475 30 310 - 129 668
Securities and shares for investment purpose 264 122 190 - - 264 312
Other financial assets 32 636 - 69 - 32 705
Other receivables 42 443 94 2839 302 45 678
Placements with, and loans to, other banks 78 027 - - - 78 027
Credit cards 2424 157 194 - 2775

I e A G

109 601

Total gross carrying value

Loss allowance under IFRS 9 per asset type

Property loans to customers 700 269 13 106 8508 22583
General purpose loans to customers 1039 319 19 652 12 943 33953
Investment loans 834 2343 4131 - 7 308
Loans for current assets to customers 726 3264 15 542 - 19 532
Overdrafts 301 178 4762 - 5241
Other loans to customers 1189 3670 28 941 - 33 800
Securities and shares for investment purpose 207 5 - 212
Other financial assets 137 - 64 - 201
Other receivables 611 2 2221 133 2 967
Placements with, and loans to, other banks 22 - - - 22
Credit cards 201 46 181 - 428
Total loss allowance under IFRS 9 5967 10 096 88 600 21584 126 24

Impairment on loans and debt instruments measurednartised cost have been increased
with HUF 14,369 million because of the IFRS 9 immpémntation. Furthermore the provision
on the off-balance sheet items has been decreagetiWF 578 million.

Classification — Financial liabilities

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirement$As 39 for the classification of financial
liabilities. However, under IAS 39 all fair valu@anges of liabilities designated as at FVTPL
are recognised in profit or loss, whereas undelSIPRhese fair value changes are generally
presented as follows:
» the amount of change in the fair value that iglkattable to changes in the credit risk
of the liability is presented in OCI; and
» the remaining amount of change in the fair valusrésented in profit or loss.

The Bank’s equity increased with HUF 6 326 millias a result of implementation of IFRS 9
standard.

Standards and Interpretations issued by IASB andated by the EU
* IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”and amendments to IFRS 15
“Effective date of IFRS 15” - adopted by the EU 2th September 2016 (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 018
* Amendments to IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment* Classification and Measurement

of Share-based Payment Transactions — adopted eb¥elth on 26 February 2018
(effective for annual periods beginning on or aftelanuary 2018),
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« Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” - Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts — atbfty the EU on 3 November
2017 (effective for annual periods beginning omfter 1 January 2018 or when IFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” is applied first time),

* Amendments to IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” -
Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contractthwustomers — adopted by the
EU on 31 October 2017 (effective for annual peribdginning on or after 1 January
2018).

* Amendments to IAS 40 “Investment Property” - Transfers of Investment Property
— adopted by the EU on 14 March 2018 (effectiveaionual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018),

 Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 due to “Improvemers to IFRSs (cycle 2014 -
2016)" resulting from the annual improvement projectkeR$ (IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and
IAS 28) primarily with a view to removing incon®sicies and clarifying wording —
adopted by the EU on 7 February 2018 (amendmentsR6 1 and IAS 28 are to be
applied for annual periods beginning on or aftdaduary 2018),

 IFRIC 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration” —
adopted by the EU on 28 March 2018 (effective fonwal periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018).

The adoption of these amendments to the existiagdards has not led to any material
changes in the Bank’s financial statements.

kk, New and revised Standards and Interpretationsssued by IASB and adopted
by the EU but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financiatestaents the following standards, amendments
to the existing standards and interpretations sdyelASB and adopted by the EU were in
issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 16 “Leases” — adopted by the EU on 31 Octol2€)17 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019),

The Bank shall apply IFRS 16 Leases standard fouanreporting periods begins from 01
January 2019. The impacts of adopting IFRS 16 @ Bhnk's Financial statements are
summarised below. Final impacts of adopting thadaed could be different as the Bank has
not finished the implementation, testing and eu#maof controls related to the new IT

solutions, also might be changes in IFRS 16 acaogipolicies until the date, those financial

statements are authorised for issue which conthengransition impacts.

IFRS 16 introduces a single lease accounting mfmtelessees which requires to recognise
right-of-use asset and lease liability on balareses A lessee presents interest expense on the
lease liability separately from the depreciatioarge for the right-of-use asset. In some cases
(e.g when there is a change in the lease termtbeit is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate) lestedl semeasure the lease liability. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a cqroesling adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset. The standardtselec apply recognition exemptions for
leases of short term and low value assets. Lessmmuating remains similar to the current
requirements, thought a lessor classifies leaseglas a finance lease or an operating lease.
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IFRS 16 replaces the current leasing standardsliASeases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease , SIGapeérating Leases - Incentives, SIC-27 Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legahtof a Lease. Furthermore, IFRS 16
requires more detailed disclosures, than previousige under IAS 17.

Leases in which the Bank is a lessee

For leases of assets, which were classified asatipgrlease under IAS 17, the Bank
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease tiahtlithe date of the initial application. Based
on the requirements of IAS 17 lease payments uonderating lease are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease #&% a consequence of transition to IFRS 16
total lease expense will generally be front-loadEde front-loaded effect arises from the
combination of straight-line depreciation couplethve declining interest expense as the lease
liability is drawn down over the lease term.

In case of real estate lease contract that contalease and non-lease component, the Bank
allocates the consideration in the contract to eawhponent on the basis of their relative
stand-alone prices. However, for the leases ofast@tes in which it is a lessee, the Bank has
elected to separate non-lease components and adootime lease and non-lease components
as a separate component.

The Bank has elected not to recognise right-ofassets and lease liabilities for short-term
leases of machinery that have a lease term of I#hamr less and leases of low-value assets
(e.g including printers, IT equipment).

Expected effect of implementation of IFRS 16:

4.5
Year ended
01.01.2019 31.12.2019
Right-of-use asset 18 548
Lease liability 18 548

Expected impact on statement of comprehensive iacom

- Increase of depreciation 2138
- Increase of interest expense 314
- Decrese of other expenses (2 316)

Based on the currently available information thenlBavill recognise right-of-use asset on
balance sheet in the amount of HUF 18,548 millaong the carrying amount of lease liability
will increase by HUF 18,548 million at the date thE initial application as the result of
transition to IFRS 16. The depreciation will incsedby HUF 2,138 million and the interest
rate expense on lease liabilities will increaseéHtF 314 million in 2019 because of the new
regulations.

At the date of the initial application the Bank lwedy a few leases that is previously classified
as finance lease, for which transition to IFRS 16lvave no significant impact.

Leases in which the Bank is a lessor

The Bank leases personal and commercial vehidasek and sub-leases office spaces.
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On transition, the Bank reassessed the classditati a sub-lease contract, in which it acts as
a lessor. Based on the currently available infoimnatthe Bank expects no changes in the
classification of these contracts, as a consequéme@ will be no significant impact on
transition to IFRS 16.

Transition

The Bank has applied IFRS 16 with a date of ingigplication of 1 January 2019. The Bank
applies IFRS 16 using the modified retrospectivperagch as a transition method, under
which the cumulative effect of initial applicatiésmrecognised in retained earnings at the date
of initial application.

The Bank used the following practical expedientsransition to IFRS 16:

» At the date of the initial application the Bankesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease.

* For leases of assets, which were classified asabpgrlease under IAS 17, the Bank
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease tiahilithe date of the initial application.
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at,cakich comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability adjusted by the amount of argppid or accrued lease payments made
at or before the date of initial application.

» Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio cides with similar characteristics (such as
leases with a similar remaining lease term fornailar class of underlying asset in a
similar economic environment).

* The Bank has applied the practical expedient tp @alits assessment that the lease was
onerous under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liéib8i and Contingent Assets and
therefore adjust the right-of-use asset at the ofatd@tial application by the onerous lease
provision rather than conduct an impairment tessdgl on the assessment the Bank has
identified onerous contracts related to closurérminches and the adjustment for those
right-of-use assets accordingly.

« The Bank applied the exemption not to recognisht+ig-use assets and liabilities for
leases with less than 12 months of lease term.

* The Bank excluded initial direct costs from measgithe right-of-use asset at the date of
initial application.

Standards and Interpretations issued by IASB andopated by the Elbut not yet
effective

e Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” - Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation — adopted by the EU on 2ZM2018 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019),

« Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits™ Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement — adopted by the EU on 13 March 201fed#fe for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019),

« Amendments to IAS 28 “Investments in Associates andioint Ventures” - Long-
term Interests in Associates and Joint Venturegopi@d by the EU on 8 February
2019 (effective for annual periods beginning omfber 1 January 2019),

« Amendments to various standards due to “Improvemert to IFRSs (cycle 2015 -
2017)" resulting from the annual improvement projectkRE (IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS
12 and IAS 23) primarily with a view to removingciomsistencies and clarifying
wording — adopted by the EU on 14 March 2019 (¢ifecfor annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019),
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IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” — adopted by the EU on 23
October 2018 (effective for annual periods begigran or after 1 January 2019).

The Bank has elected not to adopt these new s@smdad amendments to existing standards
in advance of their effective dates. The Bank gdies that the adoption of these standards
and amendments to existing standards will have a@mal impact on the financial statements
of the Bank in the period of initial application.

ll, Standards and Interpretations issued by IASB btinot yet adopted by the EU

At present, IFRS as adopted by the EU do not sagnifly differ from regulations adopted by

the International Accounting Standards Board (IA8B3ept for the following new standards,
amendments to the existing standards and new metatwn, which were not endorsed for use
in EU as at 10 April 2019 (the effective datesesidielow is for IFRS in full):

IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2016) - the European Comaridsas decided not to launch the
endorsement process of this interim standard amgiofor the final standard,

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or atte
January 2021),

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” Definition of a Business
(effective for business combinations for which Heguisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period Imegig on or after 1 January 2020
and to asset acquisitions that occur on or afeeb#yginning of that period).

Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Stateents” and IAS 28
“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures™ Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Mentind further amendments
(effective date deferred indefinitely until the @asch project on the equity method has
been concluded),

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Staments” and IAS 8
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimas and Errors” - Definition
of Material (effective for annual periods beginnmgor after 1 January 2020),

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framewoin IFRS Standards
(effective for annual periods beginning on or aftelanuary 2020)

The Bank anticipates that the adoption of these s&ndards, amendments to the existing
standards and new interpretations will have no ristempact on the financial statements of
the Bank in the period of initial application.
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5

Risk management
a, Introduction and overview

All the Bank’s activities involve a certain degreé risk assumption. The measurement,
evaluation, acceptance and management of these aigkintegral parts of the Bank’s daily
operative activity.

Risk management is an integral part of the Banksrations and a crucial component of its
business and overall financial performance. The MBd@hk's risk management framework

has been designed to support the continuous momwtoof the changes of the risk

environment and is supported by the strong comnmitrteea prudent risk management culture
both on the strategy and business line levels.

The main principles and priorities of the Bank’'skrimanagement function include the
ultimate oversight by the Board of Directors (thmpmval of the Supervisory Board is also
required for some specifically defined risk deans the importance of independent review
of all risk-taking activities separately from buss#s lines, and the proper evaluation,
diversification, limitation, monitoring and reparg of all risks. Decisions in respect of major
risk principles are approved at group level, anel iamplemented individually by the own

decision making boards of the Bank members.

The effective communication on risk and risk apgpetthe on-going initiatives to better
identify, measure, monitor and manage risks, th@avement of efficiency, user-friendliness
and awareness of key risk processes and praciedshe employment of highly-skilled staff
are the bases of running an effective risk managefaction in the Bank.

The Bank has exposure to the following risks fresruise of financial instruments:

o credit risk:
The risk of lending comprises the potential riskild business partner failing to
fulfil its payment obligations or failing to do sm time as well as the risk of the
value of the receivable diminishing because thanlegs partner's credit rating
decreases. Risks originated from loans or other tgpe commitments extended
to associated enterprises are also included inBdngk's credit risk managing
mechanism.

e country risk:
The country risk generally refers to a potentiasldriggered by an economic,
political or other event which takes place in tlatigular country and cannot be
controlled by MKB, as creditor or investor. As aul of such an event(s), the
obligor cannot fulfil his obligation in time or atl, or the Bank is unable to
enforce its rights against the obligor. The compdmenf the country risk are
transfer risk, sovereign risk and collective delbisk.

e participations risk:
The participations risk is defined as the risktedao the following events:

o Potential losses from providing equity / equityaintial products or
subordinated loan capital; This involves potentimses realised during
the sale of participation or loss occurring as sulteof a participation’s
bankruptcy, the (partial) write-off of the partiafions (also including
write-off settled on business or company value @odyvill value), i.e.
loss suffered on the book value of the investment
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o Potential losses from a possible commitment/ligbéixtended in addition
to equity investment (i.e. profit/loss transfer egments), letters of
comfort, capital contribution commitments, addiibn funding
obligations)

o0 Potential losses originating from other risks agded with the
participation such as reputation risk, operatioisd, exchange rate risk.

* market risks (including foreign exchange and irgerate risks):
Market price risk comprises potential losses frdrarnges in market prices in both
the trading and banking books.

e liquidity risk:
MKB defines liquidity as the ability to serve iteyment obligations entirely as
they fall due and to fund new business at all timéhout having to accept
unplanned liquidation losses on the asset sideapeased refinancing rates on the
funding side.

e operational risks:
Operational risk means the risk of loss resultimgrf inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from externatsvamd includes legal risk,
conduct risk, reputational risk, model risk andomfation and communication
technology (ICT) risk. Operational risk does notlime business and strategic
risks.

» conduct risk:
The conduct risk is part of the legal risks, clisdiamong the operational risks
and reflects any risk in the supply of financiakvéses originated from an
inadequate supply of services or deliberately eté¢dbimpermissible conduct.
This includes legal risks arising from fraud andaimtrading practices harmful to
consumers (e.g., unilateral interest rate incredses punishing product
termination or switch between service providerdamrfees and commissions),
unethical practices, inadequate handling of custaromplaints, erroneous sales,
aggressive sales, forced cross-selling, etc.).dbfitian, the risk of certain fraud
committed by the institution also belongs here,hsas manipulation of the
applicable interest rates, currency exchange ratelices or other financial
instruments.

e legal risk:
Legal risk is the risk of losses due to the noneoiance of the scope set by legal
provisions and jurisdiction caused by ignorancek laf diligence in applying law
or a delay in reacting to changes in legal framéwanditions (including non-
observance which is unavoidable or not attributablene’s own fault).

e reputational risk:
Reputational risk is defined as the risk of a bani€putation falling short of
expectations, reputation being a bank’s public ienagterms of its competence,
integrity and reliability as perceived by groupshna legitimate interest.

e model risk:
Model is the risk of loss resulting from using iffstiently accurate models to
make decisions. Mistakes in models are not neaBssar not primarily occur
due to limitations of knowledge, not enough dataglanges that cannot be read
from past data: simply the fact that the modelshaneer perfect.
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In the frame of operational risk management, thankBsolely considers the risk
of losses relating to the development, implemematir improper use of any
other models for decision-making (e.g. productipgg evaluation of financial

instruments, monitoring of risk limits, etc.).

¢ information and communication technology (ICT) risk
ICT risk means the current or prospective risk alsses due to the
inappropriateness or failure of the hardware andtwsoe of technical
infrastructures, which can compromise the availghiintegrity, accessibility and
security of such infrastructures and of data. I&k malso includes risks occur
from outsourcing of ICT relevant systems.

* real estate risk:
Real estate risk covers potential losses that crgdlt from fluctuations in the
market value of real estate owned by MKB Bank. Restihte risks arising from
collateral provided for real estate loans are cedv@mder credit risk.

e strategic risk:
Strategic risk is defined as the negative impactaypital and income of business
policy decisions, deficient or unsatisfactory impéntation of decisions, or slow
adjustment to changes in the economic environment.

* business risk:
Business risk is defined as unexpected changdgiedonomic environment that
cause negative changes in business volume or nsaagith are not attributable to
other types of risk. It quantifies the differenaetween planned and actual costs
and income.

Below information is presented about the Bank’'sosxpe to each of the above risks, the
Bank’s objectives, policies and processes for n@ag@and managing risk, and the Bank’s
management of capital.

b, Risk management governance

The Bank's Risk Strategy was set up in consistentle the Business Strategy and the
regulations of the National Bank of Hungary. Thek&incorporated in the Risk Strategy
aiming at ensurance a balanced risk/return relstipn development of a disciplined and
constructive control environment, defining the Bankisk assumption willingness, risk

appetite and the ongoing ability of the Bank to agmits risks and the maintenance of its
funds to cover risk exposures in the long termsTill also ensure the capital preservation
and guarantee the solvency of the Bank at any time.
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Committees Main responsibilities

- Control on the highest level of the harmonized pmuient operation of the Bank and the credit
institutions, financial enterprises and investn@arhpanies under its controling influence;
Management of the company, and steers the compmitsraal audit organization;
Analyzing of the regular and ad-hoc reports preghésethe Board of Directors.
- In the frame of continuous monitoring of the MKB Bank’s riskkagegy and risk taking appetite,
previously comment the Risk Strategy, the Remuimerablicy and the Quarterly Risk Report.
As the company’s operative managing body it carries out gament-related tasks and ensures the
keeping of the company’s business books in conggiamith the regulations;
Tasks related to the shares and dividend;
- Tasks related to the company’s organization andesobactivities;
Tasks related to strategic planning (preparation of théness policy and financial plan, and approvel of
the risk strategy);
- Approves the policies related to risk assumptions;
Evaluation of regular and ad-hoc risk reports.
Highest level operational decision preparation @tision making body;
It operates as the supporting organisation to the genermattdr in decision preparation of general
executive cases. In affairs relating to operation of the M&®Bup or the organisation of the compeny,
or cases relevant to compliance and protection againstyrianaedering, and supervision it operates as
decision making body.
Permanent body with the highest delegated decamiking authority under the Board of Directors;
Make decisions on credits case-by-case according to theO®isision Competence Regulation, except
of the customers handled by Restructuring and Beltagement Directorate.
Organization with the highest level risk decision autlyoniegarding the customers handled by
Restructuring and Debt management Directorate;
Restructuring and Debt Decision-making competency for credit decisions on deafglled by the Directorate according to the
Manage ment Committee Risk Decision Competence Regulation;

- Authority regarding decision making in terms of debt-ts@isand debt-to-equity conversation as it is
determined in the Risk Decision Competence Regunlatssumption.
The asset and liability management and management of thepGriiquidity, funding, capital adequacy
and market risks;
Elaboration of policies in principle for the managementiadidlity risk, interest rate risk, exchange rate
risk (foreign exchange and securities), capital adequis&y and the submission of this policy to the
Board of Directors at MKB and Group level, inclglin
= measurement guidelines and limit system foratbeve risks;
= competence and decision-making mechanism;
= guideline for managing limit excess.
Determine the strategic and development orientationsdompany units according to the strategy of the
Bank Group;
Strategy, Innovation and - Assesses the position of the banking group threudystry and competition analyzes;
Development Committee Embracing new business, digital and other innovativeativés, as well as product development
proposals;
Also responsible for the plans and target figunggroperly reflected in the bank's strategy goals.
Is responsible for ensuring the bank's overall sgsicture and control over its revenue;

- Development needs, programs, investments and costs atesbeiith IT developments, projects and

other inttiatives, and the decision-making body respdmdir the related resource allocation, the task of
Banking and Costcontrol which is to ensure consistency between the developmentsneed the strategic objectives of the
Committee banking group;
Develop and adopt the bank's product development processexiated with the pricing principles in
accordance with the bank's business model and the risk reeeay strategy, control the product and
service palette profitability.
- The Audit Committee assists the Supervisory Board in thet afithe financial reporting system ancl in
the selection of the auditor and in cooperatioh tie auditor.

Supervisory Board

Risk Committee

Board of Directors

Managing
Committee

Credit Committee

ALCO

Audit Committee

c, Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a coster or counterparty fails to meet an obligation

under a contract. It arises principally from thenBa lending, trade finance and leasing

business, but also from certain off-financial positproducts such as guarantees, and from
assets held in the form of debt securities.

For risk management reporting purposes, the Bankiders and consolidates all elements of
credit risk exposure (such as individual obligofadét risk, country and sector risk).
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Credit risk management

The Bank has standards, policies and proceduresated to the effective monitoring and
managing risk from lending (including debt secesjiactivities. The risk management of the
MKB Bank controls and manages credit risks at tagindards, in a centralised manner. Its
responsibilities include:

« Formulating the Bank’s credit policy in consultatiovith business units by
establishing credit approval policies, standardsjtd and guidelines that define,
quantify, and monitor credit risk.

e Establishing the authorisation structure for theorapal and renewal of credit
facilities. In order to establish an adequate ¢rddcision-making system in which
decisions are made on time, the limit amounts stabéished differently according to
the customer segment, the customer quality andtiseess line, for the delegated
credit decision authorities and the boards andviddal decision-makers of the
Business and Risk Units.

* Monitoring the performance and management of ratadl wholesale portfolios across
the Bank.

e Supervising the management of exposures to dehtises by establishing controls
in respect of securities held for trading purposes.

* Establishing and maintaining the Bank’s concerdratrisk management policies
ensuring that the concentration of exposure do¢sxeeed the limits stated in the
internal and regulatory limit systems and concéiunarisks are effectively managed
without any need for additional capital requirensahpossible.

« Developing and maintaining the Bank’s risk assesgragstems in order to categorise
the exposures according to the degree of the fifkancial loss faced and to manage
the existing risks adequately. The purpose of tedit(deal) classification system is
to define when impairment provisions may be reqligainst specific credit
exposures. The risk categorisation system coneistseveral grades which reflect
sufficiently the varying degrees of risk of defaaitd the availability of collateral or
other credit risk mitigation options with regarda@pecific exposure.

« Providing position statements, guidance and prafeaksupport to the business units
of the Bank members in credit risk management.

The control systems applied by the Bank enabletdrol and monitor exposures by customer
and retail product segment.

In order to comply with the prudential requirememMKB Bank developed and operates its
borrower group forming concept. As part of thag Horrower group-levahonitoring concept

is to be highlighted. According to the procesdes,domplete risk assumption process must be
executed at the level of borrower groups: in theecaf the individual groups the limit
proposal and monitoring process for each individiralip members takes place at the same
time based on the collective analysis and congiideraf risks.
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With regards to the management of concentratides risIKB Bank implemented the global
concept of concentration risk limits. As part oé tboncept, the Bank set up bank and sector
level KPI's (key performance indicator) set and darct limits, in order to restrain the
assumption of further risks arising from the chegastics/risks rooted in different sectors and
the assumption of risks of products representigh br special riskAiming at avoid high risk
concentration within the portfolio, the concentwatirisk limit value has been established for
the total bank portfolio, with the stipulation thahe Ilimits of the individual
customers/customer groups may exceed this tardeé \waly in extraordinary and justified
cases, based exclusively on the strategic guidelipproved by the relevant Committee.

The tables required by CRR, but not presented ig1 Nlote are available in the Disclosure
according to Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 prepdmngdlKB Bank, available on our website
www.mkb.hu.

The table below shows the Bank’'s maximum exposlassified as credit risk at the end of
the reporting period:

51

LS i LS i Derivative OFF B/S

financial assets exposures

Cashreserves advances to advances to Securities*
banks customers

Individually impaired

Non-default - - - - -

Default - - 32897 - - 467
Total individually impaired gross amount - - 32897 - - 467
Total individually impaired allowance for impairnten - (27 102) - - (99)
Total individually impaired carrying amount - - 5795 - - 368

Collectively impaired

Non-default 9 62 790 698 466 - - 325098

Default - - 42134 - - 376
Total collectively impaired gross amount 9 62 790 740 600 - - 325474
Total collectively impaired allowance for impairnten (15) (36 774) - - (2492)
Total collectively impaired carrying amount 9 62 775 703 826 - - 322 982
Past due but not impaired

Non-default - - 3

Default - - 50
90 days past due but not impaired carrying amount - - 53
Past due conprises:

up to 30 days - - 2

30 to 90 days - - 42

over 90 days - - 53
Total past due but not impaired carrying amount - - 97
Neither past due nor impaired

Non-default 19 231 835 183 359 711 551 17914 109 436

Default - - 111 - - 112
Total neither past due nor impaired carrying amount 19 231 835 183 470 711 551 17 914 109 548
Includes receivables with renegotiated terms
Total gross amount 19 240 63 625 957 020 711551 17 914 435 489
Total allowance for impairment - (15) (63 876) - - (2 591)

* Debt securities and other fixed income secur@sl. shares and other non fixed income secsjritie
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LTS Gl sl Derivative OFF B/S

financial assets exposures

Cash reserves advances to advances to Securities*
banks customers

Individually impaired

Non-default - - 2525 - - 2020
Default - - 94 706 - - 1050
Total individually impaired gross amount - - 97 231 - - 3070
Total individually impaired allowance for impairnten - - (65 578) - - (1 585)
Total individually impaired carrying amount - - 31 653 - - 1485

Collectively impaired

Non-default - 19 094 622 840 - - 438 208

Default - - 0 - - -
Total collectively impaired gross amount - 19 094 622 840 - - 438 208
Total collectively impaired allowance for impairnten - (8) (7.769) - - (2442)
Total collectively impaired carrying amount - 19 086 615 071 - - 435 766

Past due but not impaired

Non-default - - 84

Default - - 123
Total past due but not impaired carrying amount - - 207
Past due conprises:

up to 30 days - - 176

30 to 90 days - - 1

over 90 days - - 30
Total past due but not impaired carrying amount - - 207

Neither past due nor impaired

Non-default 31599 58 920 210575 902 010 19 757 127 443
Default - - 68 - - 1948
Total neither past due nor impaired carrying amount 31599 58 920 210 643 902 010 19 757 129 391

Includes receivables with renegotiated terms

Total gross amount 31599 78 014 930 921 902 010 19 757 570 669
Total allowance for impairment - 8) (73 347) - - (4 027)
Total carrying amount 31599 78 006 857 574 902 010 19 757 566 64

* Debt securities and other fixed income securtiesl. shares and other non fixed income secsyitie

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

This disclosure represents the financial instrusiéhat are set off or that are subject to an
enforceable master netting agreement or similaeeagent, irrespective whether they are set
off.

As of 31 December 2018 the Bank had no enforceatalster netting agreement or similar
agreement which should be set off in accordande Mif 32.42.

The below table presents all the amounts that cpolgntially have been subject to an

enforceable master netting agreement or similaeeagent that are recognized financial
instruments. As these agreements and the amouateddo them as financial collateral do

not meet some or all offsetting criteria in IAS &2, the Bank does not apply offsetting to
either of them. This is because the agreementditdagights for an offset that is enforceable
only in case of the following events such as auwgfansolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank or

its counterparties. In addition the Bank or thertetparties do not intend to settle on a net
basis or realize the assets and settle the liakiltimultaneously.

Similar agreements include derivative clearing egrents, global master repurchase
agreements. Similar financial instruments includaidtives, sale and repurchase agreements
and reverse sale and repurchase agreements. Eihastiuments such as loans and deposits
are not disclosed in the tables below unless theyodfset in the statement of financial
positions.

The Bank receives and gives collateral in the fofroash and marketable securities in respect
of following transactions:

» derivatives

« sale and repurchase agreements, reverse salepamdnase agreements.
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Such collateral is subject to standard industryngerincluding an ISDA Credit Support

Annex.

The table below presents the potential effect efrtbt implemented offsetting as well.

5.2

31 December 2018

IAS 32.42

Gross carrying
amount

Recognised net
carrying amount

Gross amounts
of offsetting

before offsetting set off
Offsetting financial assets
debit credit
Derivatives
Derivate financial assets 21873 - 21873
Receivables concerning repos
Loans and advances to customers 23767 - 23767

Financial asset:
agreements

IAS 32.42
31 December 2018 )
Gross carrying
amount
before offsetting

Recognised net
carrying amount
set off

Gross amounts
of offsetting
Offsetting financial liabilitie s
credit debit

Derivatives

Derivate financial liabilities - -
Liabilities concerning repos

Deposit and current accounts - -

Financial liabilities under nettin
agreements

IAS 32.42
31 December 2017 _
Gross carrying
amount
before offsetting

Recognised net
carrying amount
set off

Gross amounts
of offsetting
Offsetting financial assets
debit credit

Derivatives

Financial assets measured at FVTPL
Receivables concerning repos

Loans and advances to customers - -

Financial assets under netting
agreements

IAS 32.42
31 December 2017 )
Gross carrying
amount

Recognised net

Gross amounts .
carrying amount

of offsetting

before offsetting set off
Offsetting financial liabilitie s
credit debit
Derivatives
Financial liabilties measured at FVTPL 17 205 - 17 205
Liabilities concerning repos
Deposit and current accounts 489 - 489

Financial liabilities under netting

agreements

11543

Carrying amounts
of accompanied

liabilities

credit

Carrying amounts of
accompanied assets

debit

Carrying amounts
of accompanied

liabilities

credit

Carrying amounts of
accompanied assets

debit

similar netting arrangement
Net amount of financia
assets
after offsetting/
similar agreement
[collaterals

Received
collaterals

Carrying amounts +
receivabl.
collaterals

credit

570 570 21303

- - 23767

similar netting arrangement
Net amount of financia
liabilities
after offsetting/
similar agreement
[collaterals

Pledged

Carrying amounts +
collaterals i

pledged collaterals

similar netting arrangement
Net amount of financia
assets
after offsetting/
similar agreement
/collaterals

Received
collaterals

Carrying amounts +
receivabl.
collaterals

credit

7152 1057 8209 3334

7152 1057

similar netting arrangement Net amount of financial

liabilities
after offsetting/
similar agreement
[collaterals

Pledged

Carrying amounts +
collaterals i

pledged collaterals

7152 7077 14229 2976

490 490 @)

7152 7 567 14719

The gross amounts of financial assets and liadsliiresented in the table above measured in

the financial statements on the following bases:

* Financial assets measured at FVTPL — fair valusags refer to Note 4.0) )

» Derivative financial instruments — fair value (@eaefer to Note 4.u) )

* Loans and advances to customers — amortized dedgqu collateral — fair value
» Deposits and current accounts — amortized cosdgphl collateral — fair value
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The table below reconciles the Net amount aftesatfing to the related individual line items
of the Statement of Financial position.

5.3
31 December 2018 Net amount after Carrying amount in 'Flnanual assets 1
. . . " . the statement of in scope of offsettin
Line item of Statement of Financial Position offsetting : . .. .
financial positiol disclosurt
Derivate financial assets 21873 17 914 (3 959)
Loans and advances to customers 23 767 893 144 869 377
31 December 2018 T ——— Carrying amount in Flnanplal liabilities
. . . " . the statement of not in scope of
Line item of Statement of Financial Position offsetting : . .. e
financial positiol  offsetting disclosut
Derivate financial liabilities - 31 608 31 608
Deposits and current accounts - 1380 838 1380 838

Carrying amount in Financial assets ng

31 December 2017 Net amount after . .
. . . " . the statement of in scope of offsettin
Line item of Statement of Financial Position offsetting : . .. .
financial positiol disclosur
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 11543 72 319 60 776
Loans and advances to customers - 858 143 858 143

Carrying amount in  Financial liabilties

31 December 2017 Net amount after .
. . . " ) the statement of not in scope of
Line item of Statement of Financial Position offsetting : . .. .
financial positiol  offsetting disclosut
Financial liabilties measured at FVTPL 17 205 43 366 26 161
Deposits and current accounts 489 1552 495 1552 006

Credit risk classification system

The Bank’s credit risk classification systems anacpsses differentiate exposures in order to
highlight those with greater risk factors and higpetential severity of loss.

For individually significant wholesale financial sa&ts, the classifications are reviewed
regularly and amendments, where necessary, aremngpited at least monthly in terms of
provisions and exposure classification.

Exposures below specific amounts are assessedolteative basis, in relation to which the
credit risk parameters are reviewed at least yearlynore frequently if required, in line with
the changes of the main economic conditions.

The Bank for each balance sheet closing date #8tedhy of the month) evaluates the changes
in the credit risk that have occurred since théahrecognition of the financial assets and
allocate the appropriate stage categories.

During the valuation the Bank assesses the changfeeirisk of default over the life of the
financial instrument using all reasonable and stppte information, which is available
without undue cost or effort and without exhaustsearch of information. The Bank
represents lifetime credit losses in the case wbredit risk increased significantly.

The financial assets are initially in the stageatiegory, and they can be returned from stage 2
or from stage 3 if the necessary conditions aréopaed.
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The credit risk of the deals are determined byetktent of change between the initial and the
actual PD level, the duration of the delay, therdlirating and the client handling method. In
case of significant credit risk increase the deateiclassified to stage 2 and lifetime credit
losses are recognised on these financial assets.

If the credit risk of a financial asset increaseshe point that it is considered credit-impaired
(defaulted), the financial asset is transferrestage 3.

Collective valuation

According to the credit risk characteristics, sani{fhomogeneous) financial assets are subject
to collective valuation. The basis for the formatiof homogeneous groups is the client
segmentation and the credit risk product type.

The collectively allocated impairment and provisimh methodology is applied to all retail
clients, to the wholesale customers in stage lséage 2 and to the wholesale customer in
stage 3 below the client exposure limit.

Determining the collective loss allowance the expecredit loss (ECL) method is applied
according to the IFRS 9. The expected credit Issietermined on the basis of the probability
of default (PD), actual losses realized on nongrering transactions the actual losses
realized on non-performing deals (LGD) and the itrednversion factor probability of
becoming a balance sheet item (CCF). The risk pateny are determined based on statistical
models. The models are validated at least onceaayel reviewed if necessary.

The expected credit loss for financial assets agestl is determined on the basis of a 12-
month expected credit loss. Lifetime expected ¢tridises are recognised on the financial
assets in stage 2 and stage 3.

The purchased or originated credit-impaired (PO&l)the reporting date represents the
cumulative changes in lifetime credit risk from tingial recognition. In the Bank's practice,
the loans originally disbursed in foreign curret@we been converted to forint, and therefore
appear as POCI assets. Typically mortgage loans iweolved.

In the case of financial assets recorded at falueyathe Bank calculates the credit risk
component of the discount factor on the basis ef phinciples used in determining the
expected credit loss.

Individual-based valuation

Financial assets in the stage 3 are assesseddudilyi over the exposure limit level.

In determining the level of allowances on indivilluaignificant financial assets in stage 3,

the Bank applies the scenario-based discountedflaghmethod. The amount and timing of

expected receipts and recoveries, the value ohitesdll and the probability of realization are

considered in estimating the allowance in eacha@@nThe scenario weights are used in the
calculation of the loss allowance.

The credit conversion factor is taken into accannbss allowance calculation for contingent
liabilities.

In case of financial assets are measured indiviglaalfair value the expected loss calculation
uses the cash-flow scenarios.
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Debt securities valuation

The debt securities in accordance to the businesteinare booked at amortized cost or at fair
value through profit or loss. The determinatiorerpected credit losses for securities is based
on the methodology, staging rules and procedurpléeaifor the credit instruments.

Write-off policy

The Bank, in compliance with the stipulations ajderegulations, writes off a loan / security

balance (and any related allowances for impairmesses) when there is documented

evidence that no further recovery can be expedibid. determination is reached on the basis
of a final statement in case of liquidation or ugmtablishment that after ceasing the debtor
and/or collateral provider to exist, and/or aftsing all proceeds from collaterals there is still

unrecovered exposure remaining.

Collateral structure

The Bank applies the basic principle, whereby ieeds loans primarily in relation to and
based on the customer’s repayment capacity, instéadlying too much on the available
collateral. Depending on the customer’s paying cépand rating, as well as the product
type, unsecured loans may be extended only intlgtriegulated and controlled cases.
Nevertheless, collateral could mitigate the cradk.

The main collateral types are as follows:

« primarily mortgages on residential properties ia tétail sector;

* pledge on business assets, such as real estags astd debtors, in the commercial
and industrial sector;

* mortgages on the financed properties in the comaleral estate sector; and

e securities, guarantees,

* money, securities deposited as collateral.

The Bank establishes the coverage ratio requirednidividual exposures and makes its
decisions on the basis of the so-called collateale of the collateral items instead of their
market value. This value is adjusted by consereagéstimation, which assists the prudent
management of occurring risks, taking into consitien the relevant order of accountability
and resolution making during the action. In caseaifaterals of non-performing clients the
Bank apples so-called liquidation value, which &ablished by the revaluation of the
collateral, involving additional costs arising dwgithe forced sale in relatively short period.

Taking into account the EU and Hungarian regulaemyironment and legal practices, and
relying on its own experiences and known Hungagaperiences in the enforcement of the
collateral items, the Bank restricted, as muchassiple (within the limits of the economies of
scale) the rules of acceptability of the varioudlateral items and the calculation of the
collateral and liquidation values assigned to th&he regular monitoring and revaluation of
the collateral items securing the individual expesuis an important pillar in the Bank’s
monitoring system.

51/139



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Separate Financial Statements as at 31 Decemb@r 201

The values of collaterals held at the end of tip@reng period were as follows:

5.4

Loans and  Guarantees and Letter of credit Undrawn credit

advances contingencies

Cash deposit 14 223 12734 99 3 596

Debt securities issued by
Central governments - - - -

Companies 61 330 432 - 89
Mortgage

Building (incl. plot) 270 049 9 087 2783 18 788

Other (ship, patent, chattel, goods stock

lien on assets over total assets, etc.) 11 978 10 677 32 1928

Guarantees from

Central governments 98 250 47 873 11 581 14 349

Other banks 27 636 787 - -

Companies 7 607 889 - 9 140
Others 18 444 - - R
Total collateral 509 517 82 479 14 495 47 890

Loans and  Guarantees and Letter of credit Undrawn credit

advances contingencies

Cash deposit 10 290 13 396 54 604

Debt securities issued by

Central governments 4 280 178 - -

Companies 23770 215 - 6294
Mortgage

Building (incl. plot) 300 306 9976 690 23901

Other (ship, patent, chattel, goods stock,

lien on assets over total assets, etc.) 29 358 6 642 65 5272

Guarantees from

Central governments 105 817 50 986 10 166 21 637

Other banks 1274 1021 - -

Companies 10 994 7 302 - 4109
Others 54 708 - - 23104
Total collateral 540 797 89716 10 975 84 92

Valuation methods

The aim of collateral valuation is to conduct adbig and stable evaluation of value, taking
into consideration the fluctuation of market prices

The basis of the collateral valuation is providgdhe collateral value (reflecting the value
that can be realized on its own, independently ftioencourse of business).
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Cash deposits:
In case of bails, if the type of the currency ofntoitments and collaterals is the same, the
amount of bail can be taken into account in 100%.

Securities embodying credits:
The value of securities equals with the latest ssalgle market value. Revaluation is done in
every sixth month.

Mortgage:
In case of real estates the calculation of theatmlhl value is done on the basis of individual

evaluation of the real estate on the occasion oép#on, taking into account minimum
correction factors determined by the Bank.

The Bank applies 3 main revaluation methods:
- evaluation by experts involved in the list;
- evaluation by the Bank’s own experts involving valet information provided by
the 'list’ experts;
- statistical method mostly in case of residential estates

Guarantees:

In course of definition of collateral value, thepability of non-performance of the guarantee
(depending on the quality of the guarantor), thel@aoutstanding relevant to guarantee and
the empirical value on possibility of calling inayantees are taken into considerations.

The Bank didn’t obtain any assets by taking possessf collateral held as security, or
exercising other credit enhancement options.

The management and processes of such assets ddaineegulated in the Bank’s Debt to
Asset Policy.

Concentrations

The Bank monitors and analyses the concentratiocredit risk in term of sector and risk
classification. An analysis on the gross exposwfesredit risk concentration in terms of
sector and risk classification at the end of thpwreng periods is shown below:

Loans and Loans and . Positive fair values of
Investment in . . OFF B/S
Cashreserves advances to advances to ™ derivative financial
debt securities* . exposures
banks customers instruments
Category | - without country ri - 22 77: 10 20¢ - 1 46¢ 4 00¢
Category Il - with low to medium country r - 898! 121 882 1581 2 16%
Category Ill - with medium to high country r - 9€ 18¢ - 34 6
Total exposure - 31851 11 606 882 3084 617

* Debt securities and other fixed income securi@sl. shares and other non fixed income secsiritie

Loans and Loans and . Positive fair values of
Investment in e ] OFF B/S
Cashreserves advances to advances to ™ derivative financial
debt securities* . exposures
banks customers instruments
Category | - without country ri - 17 94t 9 14: - 329¢ 7 18¢
Category Il - with low to medium country r - 4 05( 37 82¢ 702 6 582 4 98:
Category Ill - with medium to high country r - 462 2147 111 57: 78 17¢
Total exposure - 22 458 49 117 112 275 9 956 12 34

* Debt securities and other fixed income securt@sl. shares and other non fixed income secsiritie

. Category | comprises the EMU countries
. Category Il comprises countries with Moody’s rati@§A - Baa3
. Category lll comprises countries with Moody’s rgtiBal or worse
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Loans and Loans and Positive fair values of

Investment in R : OFF B/S
Cash reserves advances to advances to " derivative financial
debt securities* . exposures
banks customers instruments
Sovereign 27 28 641 54 885 681 766 7 665 74764
Private - - 246 564 - 296 10 925
Financial institution - 34 984 203 880 20 526 5668 3235
Real estate - - 36 397 - 55 7150
Other 19 213 - 415 293 9 259 4230 339 415
Total exposure 19 240 63 625 957 019 711 551 17 914 435 48

* Debt securities and other fixed income securiiesl. shares and other non fixed income secsiitie

Loans and Loans and Positive fair values of

Investment in Ay ] OFF B/S
Cash reserves advances to advances to ™ derivative financial
debt securities* . exposures
banks customers instruments
Sovereign 10 153 43738 13 958 846 609 79 58 650
Private 246 330 902 10 331
Financial institution 23981 176 844 40 136 11 462 56 866
Real estate 76 018 4122 11 092
Other 21 447 10 294 417 770 15 968 3192 429 703
Total exposure 31 600 78 013 930 920 902 713 19 757 566 64

* Debt securities and other fixed income securtiesl. shares and other non fixed income secsiitie

The major sectors included in other are food andetzges, oil and gas, construction,
agriculture, logistics, manufacturing and enginaggectors.

d, Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank's cashvitb may not be adequate to fund operations
and meet commitments on a timely and cost-effediags. This risk arises from mismatches
in the timing of cash flows.

Management of liquidity risk

The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is towras as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities hen due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable lossessking damage to the MKB'’s reputation.

The daily liquidity position is monitored and reguliquidity stress testing is conducted under
a variety of scenarios covering both normal andersmvere market conditions. All liquidity
policies and procedures are subject to approvaheyBoard of Directors following the prior
review and approval by the ALCO.

Contractual maturity of liabilities

5.7

Carrying Gross nominal  uptol 1 monthto3 3 monthsto 1yearto5 5 years and

amount  inflow/(outflow) month months 1 year years over

Non-derivative liabilities

Amounts due to other banks (214 153) (219 167) (38 614) (6 682) (34 999) (83571) (55 301)

Deposits and current accounts (1380838) (1382323) (1147219) (101 959) (76 364) (56 781) -

Issued debt securities (5 696) (5 696) (146) (1 442) (3774 (334) -

Subordinated debt (28 002) (35 387) (674) - (1 230) (4922) (28 561)
Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL

Trading: outflow - (409 520)  (117583) (119 218) (97 729) (51 521) (23 469)

Trading: inflow - 353 110 113921 109 260 48 863 55 641 25425
Loan commitments - (250 648) (17 808) (7 999) (71 333) (72 857) (80 651)
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Gross nominal

Carrying

uptol 1 monthto3 3 monthsto 1yearto5 5 years and

Non-derivative liabilities
Amounts due to other banks
Deposits and current accounts
Issued debt securities
Subordinated debt

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL
Trading: outflow

Trading: inflow

Loan commitments

amount  inflow/(outflow)

(236881) (249 055)
(1552495) (1541 577)
(11 119) (11 096)
(22 307) (28 701)
(424 750)

398 468

(299 848)

month months 1 year VCES over

(11 658) (843) (23497)  (99154) (113 903)
(1332696) (61 062) (69275) (78 485) (59)
- (2 665) (3367) (5 064) -

- (1042) (3965)  (23694)

(159728)  (112393)  (95030)  (39262)  (18337)
152 696 98 280 78618 44833 24041

(5114)  (32285) (151456)  (81542) (29 451)

The above table shows the undiscounted cash flowsedank’s financial liabilities and loan
commitments based on their earliest possible ddtematurity. The Gross nominal
inflow / (outflow) disclosed in the previous table is thatcactual, undiscounted cash flow of
the financial liability or commitment. The disclosufor derivatives shows the gross inflow
and outflow amount for derivatives (e.g., forwartlgange contracts and currency swaps).

The Bank’s expected cash flows on these instrumamissignificantly from this analysis. For
example, demand deposits from customers are expéstenaintain a stable or increasing
balance; and loan commitments are not all expettdae drawn down immediately. Due to
the significant difference between the expectedthadontractual cash-flows, the Bank’s risk
management department use both analyses to manaqgielity risk. The expected,
undiscounted cash-flows of the Bank’s financiabiliies were as follows:

Expected maturity of liabilities

5.8

Gross nominal
inflow/(outflow)

Carrying

uptol
month

1 monthto 3 3 monthsto 1yearto5 5 years and
months 1 year years over

amount

Non-derivative liabilities

Amounts due to other banks (214 153) (219 167) (38 614) (6 682) (34 999) (83 571) (55 301)

Deposits and current accounts (1380838) (1383663) (100 935) (9 759) (8 449) (16 619) (1 247 901)

Issued debt securities (5 696) (5 696) (146) (1 442) (3774) (334) -

Subordinated debt (28 002) (35 387) (674) (1 230) (4 922) (28 561)
Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL

Trading: outflow (409 520)  (117583) (119 218) (97 729) (51 521) (23 469)

Trading: inflow 353 110 113921 109 260 48 863 55 641 25425
Loan comnitments (40 404) (14 337) (26 067)

Gross nominal
inflow/(outflow)

Carrying

uptol
month

1 monthto 3 3 monthsto 1yearto 5 5 years and
months 1 year YCES over

amount

Non-derivative liabilities

Amounts due to other banks (236 881) (249 055) (11 658) (843) (23 497) (99 154) (113 903)

Deposits and current accounts (1552 495) (1543279 (118 361) (4911) (10 268) (9 734) (1400 005)

Issued debt securities (11 119) (11 096) (2 665) (3367) (5 064) -

Subordinated debt (22 307) (28 701) (1042) (3 965) (23 694)
Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL

Trading: outflow (424 750) (159728) (112 393) (95 030) (39 262) (18 337)

Trading: inflow 398 468 152 696 98 280 78 618 44 833 24041
Loan comnitments (48 698) (17 280) (31 418)

The decision of the Management of the Bank, howasatlso based on the liquidity gap (net
position) between contractual expected in- andl@uf, therefore both financial assets and
liabilities are grouped into liquidity buckets.
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The following table shows the gross amounts ofrfanal current and non-current assets:

5.9
2018
Upto 1 year Over 1 year

Loans and advances to banks 62 526 1100

measured at AC 62 526 1100
Loans and advances to customers 78 131 878 888

measured at AC 78 063 871 059

measured at FVTPL 68 7 829
Derivative financial assets 2278 15 636
Securities 151 133 621 896

measured at AC 987 410 290

measured at FVTPL 59 419 2 059

measured at FVTOCI 90 728 209 546

2017
Upto 1 year Over 1 year

Loans and advances to banks 65 567 12 446
Loans and advances to custor 131 62! 799 29:
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 52 398 19 921
Investments in AFS securities 158 465 184 929
HTM Debt securities 152 559 167

The table above represents the gross amounts egpcbe recovered or settled within time
categories. Impairment on loans and advances timroess has an amount of HUF 63,875
million (2017: HUF 72,777 million).

e, Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market ggicsuch as interest rate (interest rate risk),
equity prices (equity risk), and foreign exchangtes (foreign exchange risk) will affect the
Bank’s income or the value of its holdings of fio&t instruments.

Management of market risks

As part of the Risk strategy, the Board of Direstapproves the maximum amount and scope
of market risks incurable by the Bank, ensured byomprehensive limit structure broken
down by relevant portfolios. The main market rigkit is arising from the annual capital
allocation process based on ICAAP requirements.

The Asset and Liability (ALCO) committee is respitaes for developing and monitoring the

Bank’s market risk management policies. ALCO hasdberall responsibility for establishing
and managing market risk policies for the Bankhimitthe framework of internal policies,

covering risk management, assessment of risk datedelimits, competence and decision-
making mechanism, and regulation for breacheswftdj approved by the Board of Directors.
The members of the ALCO are senior executives whwe hprincipal decision-making

responsibilities for businesses throughout the whgdnk. At the operational level, market
risk is managed by the Money and Capital Markets&deng Directorate on a bank-wide
basis.
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The objective of market risk management is to manaigd control market risk exposures
within acceptable parameters, while optimizingridteirn on risk.

The Bank separates its exposure to market riskdeiwrading and non-trading portfolios.

Trading portfolios include those positions arising from market-makiogstomer business
driven proprietary position-taking and other markedanarket positions as designated.
According to the risk strategy of the Bank therens own account activity (proprietary
trading) with the purpose of short term profit Bngsfrom market changes. Trading activities
include transactions with debt and equity secwjtioreign currencies, and derivative
financial instruments.

Non-trading portfolios include positions that arise from the Bank’s fetaid commercial
banking activity and the interest rate managemdnthe Bank’'s retail and commercial
banking assets and liabilities. The Bank's nonHtigaéctivities encompass all activities other
than accounted for as trading transactions, inofydending, accepting deposits, and issuing
debt instruments.

Exposure to market risks — trading portfolios

The Bank manages exposure to market risk by eskadj and monitoring various limits on
trading activities. These limits include:

e Product volume limits define maximum aggregate am®wf trading products and
contracts that the Bank may hold at any time.

e FX position limits restrict the long and short pimsi for each currency and the total
net amounts of FX positions that can be held inrthaing and banking books.

¢ VaR limits: The VaR limit of a trading portfolio ihe estimated maximum loss that
will arise on the portfolio over a specified periofitime (holding period) from an
adverse market movement with a specified probgl{itionfidence level). MKB Bank
applies historical and parametric VaR method witbday holding period at 99%
confidence level.

e PLA (Potential Loss Amounts) limits define maximamount of loss that the Bank is
willing to assume.

The VaR model used is based mainly on historictd.dBaking account of market data from
the previous one year (250 business days in calistofical VaR and and 187 business days
in case of parametric VaR), and observed relatipsshetween different markets and prices,
the model calculates both diversified and undifieditotal VaR, and VaR by risk factors
such as interest rate, equity and currency VaR.

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring kedrrisk, the assumptions on which the
model is based do give rise to some limitationsluiding the following:

* A l-day holding period assumes that it is possibléiedge or dispose of positions
within that period. This is considered to be aistial assumption in almost all cases
but may not be the case in situations in whichahgersevere market illiquidity for a
prolonged period.

* A 99 percent confidence level does not reflectdesbat may occur beyond this level.
Even within the model used there is a one percaitgbility that losses could exceed
the VaR.

« VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and doeeeflect exposures that may arise
on positions during the trading day.

* VAR only covers “normal” market conditions.
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* The VaR measure is dependent upon the Bank’s posaind the volatility of market
prices. The VaR of an unchanged position reducehdf market price volatility
declines and vice versa.

The overall structure of VaR limits is subject sview and approval by ALCO. VaR limits

are allocated to trading portfolios. VaR is meaduom a daily basis. Daily reports of

utilisation of VaR limits are prepared by the BanRisk Unit and regular summaries are
submitted to ALCO.

A summary of the VaR position of the Bank’s tradjmaytfolios (i.e. only its trading book) as
at 31 December and during the period is as follows:

5.10
2018 Average Maximum Minimum Stress (15%)
Foreign currency risk 26 102 2 154
Interest rate risk 87 206 14 -
Equity risk 1 1 - -
Overall market risk of trading book
Credit spread risk of trading book 37 67 4 -
2017 Average Maximum Minimum Stress (15%)
Foreign currency risk 38 126 4 414
Interest rate risk 41 79 8 -
Equity risk - 1 - -

Overall market risk of trading book
Credit spread risk of trading book 50 92 17 -

Important notes in connection with the table above:

MKB applies historical and parametric VaR for gethenarket risk:
o Historical VaR: (1 day holding period; 99% confiden level, number of
observation: 250 business days)
o Parametric VaR: Risk metrics methodology (1 dayimg period; 99% confidence
level, 0.94 decay factor, number of observatior?: i8siness days)
« MKB calculates specific interest rate risk (cresiiread risk) separately from general
interest rate risk based on the swap and bond giglek spread.
¢ There is no commodity in MKB position.
« MKB does not have a significant open position framtions therefore there is no
volatility VaR calculation.

A potential adverse 15% change in the FX rates (ldpipreciation for long position and HUF

depreciation for short position) would cause HUR ffllion losses based on the year-end FX
open position.

Exposure to interest rate risk — non-trading portios

The principal risk to which non-trading portfoliGae exposed is the risk of loss from

fluctuations in the future cash flows of financiabtrument because of a change in market
interest rates.
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The management of interest rate risk is supplerdebye monitoring the sensitivity of the
financial assets and liabilities to various staddand non-standard interest rate scenarios.
Standard scenarios that are considered on a mopislig include a 200 basis point parallel
fall or rise in all yield curves worldwide.

ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with apped limits and is assisted by Risk
Controlling in its monitoring activities. A summaoy the Bank’s interest rate gap position on
non-trading portfolios is as follows:

At the end of the reporting period the intereserptofile of the Bank’s interest-bearing
financial instruments was:

511

As at 31 December 2018

Fixed rate instruments in HUF millions
Financial assets 784 115
Financial liahilities (526 439)
Total fixed rate instruments 257 676

Denominated in

Variable rate instruments .
Other currencies

Financial assets 802 479 2518 196 106 8 204 3289
Financial liabilties 780 032 3779 242 510 67 159 8 770)

Total variable rate financial instruments (1 261) (46 404)

As at 31 December 2017

Fixed rate instruments in HUF millions
Financial assets 737 133
Financial liahilities (528 412)
Total fixed rate instruments 208 721

Denominated in

Variable rate instruments

Other currencies

Financial assets 979 756 7 384 233 583 3944 2 407
Financial liabilities 950 676 4672 241 953 86 260 10 334)

Total variable rate financial instruments
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MKB revised its interest rate risk modelling of Isigleposits in 2018 using longer (10 years
long) data history, taking into account the newdbasd EBA recommendations. As a result
of the review the modelled maturity of core sighpdsits increased significantly which
mainly explains the changes in the results of ti& Enterest rate risk scenarios.

An analysis of the Bank’s sensitivity to an increa@s decrease in market interest rates is as
follows:

5.12

As at 31 December 2018

2018 Effect on equity Effect on P/L
HUF
200 bp increase (8 097) (9 325)
200 bp decrease (5 241) (6 988)
CHF
200 bp increase @) (D]
200 bp decrease - (14)
EUR
200 bp increase 6 364 (181)
200 bp decrease (124) (1 015)
usD
200 bp increase 1910 427
200 bp decrease (2 130) (1 121)
Other currencies
200 bp increase 6 (14)
200 bp decrease 3 (61)
2018
in HUF millions
FCY Yield curve stress  Yield curve stress Adverse case
+ 200 Bp - 200 Bp
EUR 6 364 (124) (124)
usD 1910 (2 130) (2 130)
CHF @) - @)
GBP 4 2 2
JPY - - -
Others (8 096) (5 242) (8 098)
Total 175 (7 498) (10 36
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As at 31 December 2017

2017 Effect on equity Effect on P/L
HUF
200 bp increase (15 729) (1 261)
200 bp decrease 8 743 (10 966)
CHF
200 bp increase (20) (242)
200 bp decrease - (58)
EUR
200 bp increase (274) (40)
200 bp decrease (266) (1 514)
usD
200 bp increase 1090 213
200 bp decrease (1 167) (1 222)
Other currencies
200 bp increase 12 (29
200 bp decrease 5) (98)
2017
in HUF millions
FCY Yield curve stress  Yield curve stress Adverse case
+ 200 Bp - 200 Bp
EUR (274) (266) (274)
usD 1090 (1 167) (1167)
CHF (120) - (10)
GBP 3 1) 1
JPY 3 - -
Others (15 723) 8 749 (15 723)

The amount of change, during the period and cutinelgt in the fair value of the financial
liabilities designated as at fair value throughfipi@r loss, that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liabilities are the followings:

5.13

Effect of credit risk changes of liabilities measued at Fair 2017
Value Through Profit or Loss

Changes during the reporting period 15 235
Changes cumulatively (since designation of thenfiied liabilitie s) (134) (151)

Difference between the financial liability's cangiamount and the

. ; 157 30
amount contractually required to pay at maturity
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The amount which reflects on changes in market itiong for these liabilities as changes in
interest rate, is estimated as follows:

(a) First, computing the liability’s internal raté return at the start of the period using the
observed market price of the liability and the iliads contractual cash flows at the start of
the period. It deducts from this rate of return tserved (base rate of the relevant market)
interest rate at the start of the period, to aravean instrument-specific component of the
internal rate of return.

(b) Next, calculating the present value of the démlis associated with the liability using the
liability’s contractual cash flows at the end oétperiod and a discount rate equal to the sum
of (i) the observed (base rate of the relevant etaikiterest rate at the end of the period and
(i) the instrument-specific component of the int@rrate of return as determined in (a).

(c) The difference between the observed markeemfche liability at the end of the period
and the amount determined in (b) is the changaimvilue that is not attributable to changes
in the observed (base rate in the relevant mankietest rate.

Exposure to other market risks — non-trading portias

The Bank is exposed to foreign exchange risk thnotsy holdings of financial instruments
denominated in foreign currencies. Exchange riskagament aims to reduce the adverse
impact of potential changes in the market valudooéign currency financial instruments
induced by exchange rate fluctuations. The Bankianicial position in foreign currencies at
the end of the reporting periods was as follows:

5.14

In functional In foreign currencies

Total

currencies USD EUR CHF Other

Financial assets except for derivatives 1529607 1970 311912 2 408 4506 1858630
Financial liabilties except for derivatives 133883 93021 387847 5459 12940 1858630
Net derivative and spot instruments (short) / Ipogition (169 734) 82441 75771 3124 8 398

Total net currency positions 510 (383)

In functional In foreign currencies

currencies USsD EUR CHF Other el

Financial assets except for derivatives 1676810 2361 351490 8214 3278 2051028
Financial liabilties except for derivatives 154817 120740 366 822 7417 15318 2051028
Net derivative and spot instruments (short) / Ipagition (137 072) 111 300 14 609 (771) 11934

Total net currency positions (993) 1796 (723) 26
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f, Encumbered assets

Encumbered assets according to 680/2014/EU Conuonideiplementing Regulation at the
end of the periods were the follows:

5.15
2018 2017
Carrying

Carrying
amount amount

Fair value Fair value

Assets of the reporting institution

Loans on demat 291 291 431 431
Debt securitie 202 56: 200 93! 144 90! 144 90!
Loans and advances other than loans on de 47 08! - 53 90: -

Total encumbered assets 249 936 199 237

5.16
Non-encumbered

Fair value of Fair value of collateral Nominal value of
encumbered received or own debt collateral received or

collateral received or  securities issued own debt securities
own debt securities available for issued non available fo
issued encumbrance encumbrance

31 December 2018

Collateral received by the reporting institution

Loans on demand - 749 -

Loans and advances other than loans on demand - 25571 -

Other collateral received - - 268 682
Collateral received and own debt securities issued - 26 320 268 68

31 December 2017

Collateral received by the reporting institution
Loans on demand - 1842 -
Loans and advances other than loans on demand - - -
Other collateral received - - 375218

Collateral received and own debt securities issued 37521

5.17
2018 2017
Matching Assgts, collateral Matching Assgts, collateral
e received and own . received and own
liabilitie s, " liabilities, "
. debt securities . debt securities
contingent ) contingent .
o issued other than W issued other than
liabilities or liabilities or
ST [ covered bonds and ST [T covered bonds and
ABSs encumbered ABSs encumbered
Carrying amount of selected financial liabilities 73 640 249 937 166 769 199 237
Derivatives 5179 48 652 29 828 95 680
Deposits 68 461 201 285 136 941 103 557
Repurchase agreements - - 489 484
Collateralised deposits other than repurct 68 461 201 285 136 452 103 073
Total Sources of encumbrance 73 640 249 937 166 769 199 23
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At the end of 2018 the total size of encumberedtassas 11.61 % of the total balance sheet.
The majority of MKB Bank’s encumbered assets bedahtp MKB Bank. The main sources
and types of encumbrance were arising from havewired refinancing and money market
deposits as well as collateralized derivative tmatiens. Encumbrance due to repo
transactions, collateral requirement of used ahgadaystems and central counterparties was
not significant. MKB did not have covered bond Bssor securitization.

One of the two significant secured refinancing litkes was participating in the ,Funding for
Growth Scheme” refinancing loan program of the dlai Bank of Hungary. The other
significant secured liability item is connectedthe refinancing loan facility of the European
Investment Bank. Secured money market deposits wereided by the National Bank of
Hungary which supported the active liquidity mamagat of the bank in line with the self-
financing program of the National Bank of Hungare majority of collateralized derivative
transactions were concluded to hedge on balanet BiXeposition.

g, Credit spread risk

Credit spread risk is the risk of changing mark#tgoof the bonds due to change in spread of
bonds’ issuer which may have negative impact orBtinak’s performance.

Managing and monitoring credit spread risk

The framework of credit spread risk managemenefsdd in the risk strategy. According to
this risk strategy credit spread risk may be takaty within the approved limits. Credit
spread risk is managed on operative level by thendyioand Capital Market Managing
Directorate. Bank’s Risk Unit is responsible foramering credit spread risk, controlling limit
utilisations and reporting it to ALCO.

Risk measurement

Similar to the general interest rate risk measureriee Bank establishes the credit spread risk
figures based on the present value of the futush laws.

The applied credit spread stress test values a&rgetkregularly, but at least semi-annually.
The length of liquidation periods used for the aoldtions are matched to the required
liquidation time of the products.

h, Operational risks

Operational risk means the risk of loss resultimypf inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems or from external events, antides legal risk, conduct risk and
reputational risk. Operational risk does not inelindisiness and strategic risks.

Procedure

The principles, rules and procedures that serveroperly identify, manage and monitor
operational risk are defined in the Risk Strategy & the OpRisk policy.

Risk measurement

The operational risk capital requirement of MKB Ra#drt. is calculated by using The
Standardised Approach (TSA) both at single and mréavel since January 1st 2008.
According to the Standardised Approach the operatigisk capital requirement is the
average of the preceding three years’ total of weeghted governing indicators of the
business lines (gross income).
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Risk management and monitoring

The system that serves to evaluate operationalisidkilly integrated in the Bank’s risk
management process and in the work processes.

The centralised unit of the Bank’s operational nsknagement is the Centralised OpRisk
Management that is responsible for the establishnagrd maintenance of the internal
regulation and organisation of operational risk aggment and for the establishment and
coordination of the oprisk management methods aoid.tBesides, its task is to ensure proper
loss data collection and in connection with thattéporting obligations.

Besides the Centralised OpRisk Management, DedizetlaOpRisk Units (extended to the

whole organisation) were established that identiéport and manage operational risks and
their tasks and responsibilities are included & dbrisk regulations. The Centralised OpRisk
Management keeps independent control over the Daterd OpRisk Managers that are
assigned in the various units and responsible fanaging operational risk and reporting of
loss events.

At group level the Centralised OpRisk Managementi&B determines the operational risk
regulations required from the subsidiaries, anda dle framework for operational risk
management at group level and in this respect sigasr the subsidiaries as well. The
centralised and decentralised operational risk gamant units have also been established in
the subsidiaries that have loss data collectionrapdrting obligation towards the Centralised
OpRisk Management of MKB.

The Oprisk Forum started its operation in 2016, n@tthe most significant oprisk events and
the relevance and necessity of setting up riskaieduaction plans are discussed on quarterly
basis.

The Centralised OpRisk Management of MKB preparespart on the current status of the
operational risk management of the Bank and ofthsidiaries for the Board of Directors on
a quarterly basis. The Bank fulfils oprisk CORERaddelivery to National Bank of Hungary
on half-yearly basis.

Risk management methods and tools

Loss data collection
MKB Bank Zrt. has been performing operational fis&s data collection continuously which
includes the electronic reporting and managingpafrational risk loss events.

OpRisk Self-Assessment — ORSA

The Bank performs the oprisk self-assessment upitubit, in order to recognise and
understand the operational risks related to th&kywoscesses and to increase the level of risk-
awareness of the units.

Key Risk Indicators - KRIs

The key risk indicators are those performancefriglos that are suitable for revealing areas
and factors critical for operational risk, the cparof value of which indicates the change of
factors important from the point of view of riskaerence. By defining and monitoring the
values of the suitable indicators the Bank intetadiselp forecasting, preventing and reducing
operational risks.

Scenario analysis
Scenario analysis is an expert estimation basdatieanalysis of current internal processes in
order to estimate the frequency and loss effecarf but significant oprisk events.
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The Bank performs scenario analysis on yearly basis

Model list

The model list contains all models on departmeweli®eing used in the Bank and describes
their goals. It also contains the frequency ofrtimegintenance and validations as well as the
way in which their results are used.

Business Continuity Planning

In order to undisturbedly maintain the Bank’s opiereal processes it is necessary to evaluate
the potential threats of the certain processes, pinebability of occurrence and the potential
damages resulting from the fallout of the proces3éss risk analysis and the procedures
needed to maintain the functionality of the Ban&rganisation is included in the Business
Continuity Plan and the Disaster Recovery Plan (BE#P) The BCP-DRP includes
measures that have to be taken when the procdsaesre critical regarding the Bank’s
operation and (eg. IT) resources that support thEseesses get damaged or become
unmaintainable.

Membership of the Hungarian Interbank Operationalifk Database (HUNOR)

The Bank is one of the foundation members of thaddnan Interbank Operational Risk
Database (HunOR) and reports their loss data taaagllarly and anonymously.

i, Capital management

The Bank's lead regulator, the National Bank of Bany sets and monitors capital
requirements for the Bank as a whole.

Capital allocation

The Bank measures the pillar 1 and pillar 2 riskel dhe Bank's Asset and Liability
Management Committee (ALCO) monitors the resulisgia monthly reporting framework.

Basel Il
The calculations are Basel lIlI/CRR (575/2013/EUutation) compliant.

The supervisory objectives of Basel Il are to pobensafety and soundness in the financial
system and maintain at least the current overakll®f capital in the system, enhance
competitive equality, constitute a more comprehanapproach to addressing risks, and focus
on internationally active banks. Basel Il is stured around three ‘pillars’: minimum capital
requirements, supervisory review process and matiseipline. The Capital Requirements
Regulation (CRR) is directly effective in Hungary.

Basel Il provides three approaches of increasoyghsstication to the calculation of pillar 1
credit risk capital requirements. The Bank uses dtamdardised approach, which requires
banks to use external credit ratings to determime tisk weightings applied to rated
counterparties, and groups other counterpartiesbirdad categories and applies standardised
risk weightings to these categories.

Basel Il also introduces capital requirements dperational. For the capital requirement

calculation the Bank currently has adopted thedstatized approach to the determination of
Bank operational risk capital requirements.
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The second pillar of Basel Il (Supervisory Reviand Evaluation Process - SREP) involves
both the Bank and the Supervisory regulators takingew on whether a Bank should hold
additional capital and how much against risks rteced or not entirely covered in pillar 1.
In framework of the pillar 2 Internal Capital Adegly Assessment Process (ICAAP) the Bank
introduced policies and processes for measuringatapquirement of risks not captured by
pillar 1 and to measure pillar 1 risks with mor@lsisticated methodology. Under pillar 2 the
materiality of the following risks is to be analgse

* Creditrisk

e Market risk

» Liquidity risk

* Risk estate risk and risk derived from other assets

» Participation risk

e Operational risk

e Modell risk

* Business and strategic risk

Pillar 3 of Basel lll is related to market discigi and aims to make firms more transparent by
requiring them to publish specific, prescribed detaf their risks, capital and risk
management under the Basel Ill framework.

The capital requirement is limited by a complexitisystem, which contains the limits of the
material risk types by institutions and businesedi

5.18
2018 2017
Basel lll IFRS Basel Ill HAS

Share capital 100 000 100 000
Outstanding share capital 100 000 100 000
Reserves 56 834 57 463
Intangible assets (17 014) (11 490)
AVA - additional valuation adjustments (422) (444)

Additional Tier 1 - -

Tier 1: Net core capital 139 398 145 529
Subordinated debt 28 002 21710
Tier 2: Supple mentary capital 28 002 21710
Regulatory capital 167 400

Risk-weighted assets (RWA) 656 326 669 710
Operational risk (OR) 160 681 155 807
Market risk positions (MR) 9298 6 549
Total risk weighted assets 826 305 832 066
Regulatory capital / Total assets 9.01% 8.11%
Tierl ratio 16.87% 17.49%

Capital ade quacy ratio 20.26% 20.109
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The table above contains the MKB Bank’s separgté@aleadequacy ratio.

As at 31 December 2018, as an actual figure oBtuek regulatory capital was HUF 167.4
billion based on Basel Il IFRS under SupervisorggRlation. The increase of regulatory
capital - by HUF 161 million — is derived from thwcrease of profit, capital reserve and
subordinated debt and decrease of deduction of E3Gdtam, which was compensated by
the increase of deduction of intangible assetgedse of revaluation reserve.

Risk-weighted assets including operational and wetanksk decreased by 0.7 % from
HUF 832.1 hillion in 2017 to HUF 826.3 besides apmately 3.7 % weakening of domestic
currency. The main part of the decrease derivedh flecrease of business volumes in work
out and CRE segment, increase of collateral an&RW@ reduction project.

By application of capital management as a tool,c#ygital is a first priority decision making
factor; therefore the bank monitors the changeletapital elements continuously.

Planning and limitation of capital requirements

The owner of the MKB with strong capital backgroucahtributes to its safety, promotes
customer confidence, and helps the Bank to marageegative effects on its profitability
which come from macroeconomic turbulences.

J, Forborn assets

During the normal course of business, the Bankreritgo forbearance measures to decrease
the potential loan loss and maximize collection apymities for the borrowers who have
problems with their payment ability but not witrethwillingness and capacity to pay.

Restructured exposures are renegotiated, rescliethri@onged) or otherwise revised loans,
receivables and credits (including also purchasees)originated in the framework of an
amendment or termination of a previously concludeatract, initiated either by the borrower
or the Bank, where
« the contract is amended in order to avoid defaettabnse the borrower is unable to
fulfill its payment obligations in compliance witthe conditions of the original
contract due to significant deterioration in itedicial position or payment ability,
and
* the amendments significantly change the originamse and conditions of the
outstanding contract largely in favor of the boresyas compared to the market terms
and conditions generally applicable to contractthefsame type and concluded under
the same conditions, or
e a supplementary agreement or a new contract idubedt between the borrower and
the Bank that relates to a new loan provided fer rdppayment of the outstanding
debts (principal and/or interest) arising from tbéginal contract that is not
terminated, or to any further commitment assumealtiid any increase in the credit
risks and to mitigate the possible loss.

Under its forbearance policies, the Bank granta foabearance on a selective basis where the
borrower is in default on its debt, or there igghtrisk of future default, and there is evidence
that the borrower made all reasonable efforts toyvader the original contractual terms, and
it is expected that the borrower will be able toeinthe revised terms. Both corporate and
retail loans are subject to forbearance policié® Bank generally applies the following types
of forbearance measures:

« extension of the tenor/final maturity of the loan,
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* renegotiation of original repayment schedule, redale installments,
* agreement on installment payment,

» reduction of the collateral coverage parallel regy@exposure,

» refinancing of the loan,

* interest rate cut, or lower conditions,

* interest capitalization.

Such exposures and associated credit risks aregadnmonitored and reported distinctly by

specific restructuring and debt management unith@fBank on the basis of guidelines and
procedure rules set by internal regulations incaweg also both legal and supervisory

requirements and recommendations. When the conditibforbearance cease to exist and the
following cure period expires, respective assegsraturned to normal treatments both from

business and risk management perspectives.

To revert to normal treatment regarding Corporatstamers, additional criteria is that the
customer performs its amended contractual obligatduly through a specified period (180
days or 360 days) and its risk position shows fgant improvement. Forborn assets are
recorded separately, and the amended terms andtioaadf the contract are also indicated
in the accounting records. Recognition, derecagmiéind subsequent valuation of these assets
are carried out according to the general rulesobanting as specified by the relevant IFRSs.

The detailed requirements of risk classificatiod anpairment valuation of forborn exposures
are included in the accounting policies, and otihégrnal regulations on the valuation of
assets and liabilities, as well as in impairmend @novisioning policies. Based on these
internal guidelines, forbearance measures are alvemarded as impairment triggers and, as a
consequence, individual impairment assessment ghioal performed for such exposures
where the general methodologies and principlesséssment are to be applied. On the results
of such risk assessments, impairment losses andrehersals of previously charged
impairments are accounted for according to the comrales defined IFRS 9.

Compared to the previous financial year there werechanges in forbearance policies and
practices applied by the Bank.

5.19

Balance at Balance at
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Corporate Banking

Forbearence loans and advances based on actuattestd status 15 958 17 471
Allowances for impairment (14 895) (12 544)
Carrying amount 1063 4927

Retail and Private Banking

Forbearence loans and advances based on actuattestd status 20 160 36 174
Provision (10 294) (16 908)
Carrying amount 9 866 19 266
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6 Cash reserves

6.1

2018 201
Cash and balances with Central Banks 19 240 31 599
Cashreserves 19 240 31 599

The Bank is required to maintain a minimum resemith the National Bank of Hungary
(NBH) equivalent to 1 % (2017: 1%) of certain défsThe balance of the minimum reserve,
in line with the prescription of NBH, is based ¢ tbalance at the end of November of these
deposit accounts and amounted to HUF 13,334 mili®@at 31 December 2018 (2017: HUF
14,572 million). As at 31 December 2018, cash ondhamounted to HUF 15,267 million
(2017: HUF 14,823 million).

7 Loans and advances to banks

7.1

2018
Current and clearing accounts 15676
Money market placements 47 796
Loans and advances 153

Loans and advances to banks (gross amount)

Allowance for impairment
Balance at 1 January (11)

Impairment loss for the year:

Increases due to origination and acquisition (21)

Decreases due to derecognition 18

Changes due to change in credit risk (net) (D]
Allowance for impairment at the end of period (15

Carrying amount 63 61
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2017

Current and clearing accounts 13 200
Money market placements 53 901
Loans and advances 10912
Less collective allowances for impairment (8)

Loans and advances to banks

Collective allowances for impairment
Balance at 1 January (7)

Impairment loss for the year:

Charge for the year 4
Reversal 3
Balance at 31 December (8)
Carrying amount 77 99

8 Derivative financial assets

8.1
2018 2017

Cost Fair value Book Fair value Book
adjustment value adjustment value

Derivative instruments by type

FX-based derivative instruments - 2517 2517 - 2 555 2 555
Index-based derivative instruments - - - - 1 1
Interest-based derivative instruments - 14 761 14 761 - 16 746 16 746
Options 299 337 636 - 455 455

Total derivative instrume nts 17 615 19 757
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9 Securities

9.1

Investment in securities measured at FVTOCI

Hungarian Government bonds 281 414
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 17 978
Hungarian equities -
Foreign equities 882
Less allowance for impairment (65)

Investment in securities measured at amortised cost

Hungarian Government bonds 372 499
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 38841
Less allowance for impairment (63)

Investment in securities measured at FVTPL

Government Treasury bills 59 211
Government bonds 1673
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 535
Hungarian equities 59

Securities 773 029

The amount of impairment of the FVTOCI financiaseis, which is accounted for between
other comprehensive income reserve and profitss, ldoes not decrease the carrying amount
of the financial asset.

2017

Available-for-sale

Hungarian Government bonds 324 880
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 17 811
Hungarian equities 33
Foreign equities 702
Less specific allowances for impairment (33)

Held-to-maturity

Hungarian Government bonds 484 676
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 74 643

Less specific allowances for impairment -

Investment in securities 902 717
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10

In 2017, the book value of debt and equity instmtmeneasured at fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL) was HUF 52,562 million.

As at 31 December 2018, HUF 202,562 million (20@F 279,972 million) from the total
amount of Investments in securities were pledgedoflateral for stock exchange, for NBH
related to Funding for Growth Scheme and creditl ¢teansactions in the ordinary course of
business.

The total revaluation effect excluding deferredemin equity comprises HUF 3,815 million
loss (2017: HUF 2,466nillion gain) and HUF 349 million deferred tax imoe (2017: HUF
112 million deferred tax expense) is disclosed.

In 2018, HUF 3,718 million gain (2017: HUF 17,148llion gain) was recognized in the
profit or loss relating to securities measured\At GCI, which is a reclassification from other
comprehensive income into profit or loss.

Related to Debt securities measured at amortiset HOF 10,032 million interest income
(Held-to-maturity investments in 2017: HUF 7,302liom) was recognized in the Statement
of profit or loss during the year.

Loans and advances to customers
The net amount of Loans and advances to customassHWF 893,144 million, of which
HUF 885,247 million was measured at amortised aost HUF 7,897 million at fair value.

The amount of fair value customer loans belongmthe wholesale portfolio was HUF 932
million, while the amount of retail loans was HUP®&5 million on 31 December 2018.
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Loans and advances to customers measured at asdartist:

10.1
Allowance for Allowance for Allowance for
impairme nt impairme nt impairme nt
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Carrying
amount

Gross

amount

Core business

Wholesale
Refinanced loan 54 212 (245) (45) (64) 53 858
Funding for Growth Scheme 70 549 (155) (1 645) (546) 68 203
Factoring 12 879 (33) (99) (68) 12 679
Overdraft 89 388 (213) (133) (1 434) 87 608
Széchenyi Loans 31638 (164) (140) (819) 30515
Other 440 488 (951) (4 679) (28 642) 406 216
Total Wholesale 699 154 (1761) (6 741) (31573) 659079
Retail
Residental mortgage 220 537 (903) (333) (19 391) 199 910
HUF 218 184 (898) (330) (18 403) 198 553
Foreign currency 2353 (5) ?3) (988) 1357
Credit card 2 306 (21) (44) (105) 2136
Overdraft 1260 (13) (43) (138) 1066
Personal loan 7 068 (634) (70) (219) 6 145
Car finance - - - - -
Other 2040 (32) (3) (717) 1288
Total Retail 233211 (1603) (493) (20 570) 210545
Total Core business 932 365 (3 364) (7 234) (52 143) 869 624

Non-core business

CRE 16 757 @) (98) (1029) 15623

Total 949 122 (3 371) (7 332) (53172) 88524
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Gross Specific Collective

amount

allowances for allowances for Carrying amount
impairme nt impairme nt

Core business

Wholesale
Refinanced loan 52 960 (1074) (847) 51039
Funding for Growth Scheme 59 256 (595) (896) 57 765
Factoring 19 250 (396) (186) 18 668
Overdraft 63 298 (1 835) (516) 60 947
Széchenyi Loans 23885 (498) (174) 23213
Other 412 762 (29 723) (2534) 380 505
Total Wholesale 631411 (34 121) (5 153) 592 137
Retail
Residental mortgage 189 148 (20 959) (1575) 166 614
HUF 186 679 (20 106) (1 546) 165 027
Foreign currency 2 469 (853) (29) 1587
Credit card 2595 (179) (47) 2 369
Overdraft 1500 (227) (35) 1238
Personal loan 1241 (33) (44) 1164
Car finance 21 226 (3 964) (198) 17 064
Other 53 637 (702) (252) 52 683
Total Retall 269 347 (26 064) (2 151) 241 132

Total Core business 900 758 (60 185) (7 304)

Non-core business

CRE 37 593 (11 805) (465) 25323

Total 938 351 (71 990) (7 769) 858 59

In 2018, other items included HUF 225,436 milliororking capital loans, HUF 43,014
million investment loans, HUF 64,877 million syndied loans, HUF 35,830 million loans
relating to purchased loans.

In 2017, other items included HUF 178,610 milliororking capital loans, HUF 27,000
million investment loans, HUF 27,183 million synadiied loans, HUF 46,141 million loans
relating to Funding for Growth Scheme and investn®WE bonds in the amount of HUF
17,965 million.

Provision for homogeneous groups of loans is disraalong specific allowances, collective
allowances for impairment contains incurred butyettreported impairment losses.

CRE (previously SCU) remaining portfolio

The Special Credit Unit (SCU) was established in12ih order to separate commercial real
estate financed customers requiring special tragtiened to provide the specific management
of their deals. At the end of 2015, significanttpair this portfolio has been separated from
MKB’s portfolio, management of the remaining politfois performed by the Corporate
Restructuring and Debt Management Directorate.
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According to the EU commitments forming part of tRestructuring Plan approved by the
European Commission, the gross volume of the rdn@i@RE (i.e. Commercial Real Estate
previously SCU) portfolio has to be reduced belodR60 billion by the end of 2019. MKB
fulfilled the commitment by the end of 2017, funtisteps for dismantling the portfolio is not
necessary. Even so the portfolio has been redugadicantly by nearly HUF 10 billion in
2018. Nevertheless any hew CRE type of businesdeaapproved until 2020 based on the
EU commitments.

Asset realization strategy
The recovery expectations at the elements of thet gortfolio has been determined based on,
the asset realization strategy. In the frameworthefasset realization strategy the Bank keeps

some assets in long-term in order to maximize regofrom those assets.

Allowances for impairment

10.2

Allowances for impairment on loans and advancesctsstomers
Balance at 1 January 86 481

Impairment loss for the year:

Increases due to origination and acquisition 6 345
Decreases due to derecognition (13 555)
Changes due to change in credit risk (net) (9 650)
Changes due to modifications without derecognfiiet) (740)
Decrease in allowance account due to write-offs 6@ 6
Other adjustments 657

Balance at 31 December 63 875
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2017

Specific allowances for impairment on loans and ahces to customers
Balance at 1 January 93 009

Impairment loss for the year:

Charge for the year 24 875

Reversal (9 994)
Utilisation (8 487)
Effect of foreign currency movements (296)
Unwinding of discount (1 080)
Reclassification (11)

Reclassification to Non-current assets held fa sal (32 438)

Collective allowances for impairment on loans andances to customers
Balance at 1 January 11 319

Impairment loss for the year:

Charge for the year 5043
Reversal (9 169)
Utilisation (12)
Effect of foreign currency movements (22)
Unwinding of discount 106
Reclassification (57)

The aim of the IFRS 9 credit risk scoring systernoigassign a PiT (point-in-time) PD to each
relevant customer. The IRB rating system for Pillarcapital requirement calculation was
modified according to IFRS 9 requirements. Bothrating systems use the same default
definition and model structure, including the quative and qualitative sub-models and the
explicative variables. The calibration processesdifferent. In the case of IFRS 9 it depends
on the stage of a given customer. In the stageeltime horizon is one year, in the stage 2 the
lifetime PiT PD’s are estimated. The stage 3 costéine defaulted customers, where the PD
equals to 1.

In the stage 2, the one year PD is transformetiféiene PD, based on the Markov chain, and
Vintage analysis estimation of transition probaied and taken into account the macro
economical, especially the year-on-year GDP foitscai®m the first three years of the
estimation horizon. From the fourth year, the TTl@qugh-the-cycle) PD has been used.
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10.2.1
2018 Gross amount
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI

Retail

Investment grade 48 394 - - -

Standard credit quality 137 133 3219 - 2620

Intensive monitoring 3321 3662 - 587

Default 134 - 19 972 14 169
Total Retail 188 982 6 881 19 972 17 376
Wholesale

Investment grade 122 594 - - -

Standard credit quality 485 876 1801 - -

Intensive monitoring 7 399 41 203 120 -

Default 351 - 39 810 -
Total Wholesale 616 220 43 004 39 930 -
CRE

Investment grade - - - -

Standard credit quality 14 173 1 - -

Intensive monitoring - 1522 - -

Default 1 - 1 060 -
Total CRE 14 174 1523 1 060 -
Total 819 376 51 408 60 962 17 3749

Impairme nt
2018 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI

Retail

Investment grade 153 - - -

Standard credit quality 1412 255 - 87

Intensive monitoring 38 237 - 16

Default - - 12 764 7704
Total Retail 1603 492 12 764 7 807
Wholesale

Investment grade 86 - - -

Standard credit quality 1334 210 -

Intensive monitoring 341 6 532 67 -

Default - - 31 505 -
Total Wholesale 1761 6 742 31572 -
CRE

Investment grade - - - -

Standard credit quality 7 - - -

Intensive monitoring - 98 - -

Default - - 1029 -
Total CRE 7 98 1029 -
Total 3371 7 332 45 365 7 807

The deals of customers belonging to the retailfpliot (household and small company) are
classified in sets (pools) homogenous from risksaeration. In pools PD, LGD and CCF
values are allocated. Internal rating based modelsulate the risk parameters which
determine the level of impairment.
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In case of individually not significant wholesalestomers the calculation of impairment and
provision have changed to internal rating basechatketThe required provisioning rates are
calculated based on the credit conversion fadter statistical analysis of default and the loss
given default. Individually assessed items wherespecific provision has been set aside the
impairment and provision have to be calculated thasethe above method.

In case of retail and wholesale exposures collelstiassessed provision is allocated for the
following portfolios on monthly basis:

» on performing loans Incurred Loss (ICL) is calted, and

* on non-performing loans Specific Loan Loss Priovis (SLLP) is accumulated.

Since the Bank has introduced the performing and-pesforming classification in its
provision allocation method instead of product ldasellective assessment in retail and the
new internal method in wholesale, the level of med loss has grown.

The concentration of Loans and advances to custimeindustry at 31 December was as

follows:
10.3

Gross amount AI_Iowa_nces for Carrying

impairme nt amount

Sovereign 54 885 (207) 54 778
Private 246 564 (25 888) 220 676
Financial institution 203 880 (185) 203 695
Real estate 36 397 (1588) 34 809
Other 415 293 (36 107) 379 186

Loans and advances to customers 957 019 (63 875)

Specific Collective Canmying
Gross amount allowances for allowances for

. . ; . amount

impairme nt impairme nt
Sovereign 30 490 - (124) 30 366
Private 245 992 (22 589) (2 026) 221 377
Financial institution 157 532 (16) (203) 157 413
Real estate 55 935 (12 621) (538) 42 776
Other 440 971 (30 352) (4 408) 406 211
Loans and advances to customers 930 920 (65 578) (7 199) 858 14

The major sectors included in other are logisficsd and beverages, agriculture, oil and gas,
construction, manufactoring and engineering sectors

At 31 December 2018 there were no loans desigresededged item in a fair value hedge
relationship.

Finance lease receivables

The Bank does not enter into finance lease traiosechs a lessor.
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11

Other assets

11.1
Prepayments and other debtors (other financiats}sse 16 459
Inventory 458

Corporate income tax refundable -
Impairment (399)

Other assets 16 518

Specific allowances for impairment
Balance at 1 January (336)

Impairment loss for the year:

Increases due to origination and acquisition (63)
Decreases due to derecognition 113
Changes due to change in credit risk (net) (113)

Balance at 31 December (399

2017
Prepayments and other debtors 16 624
Inventory 459
Corporate income tax refundable 159
Specific allowances for impairment (125)

Other assets 17 117
Specific allowances for impairment
Balance at 1 January (124)

Impairment loss for the year:

Charge for the year (61)

Reversal 4

Utilization 56
Balance at 31 December (124
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12  Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controllecentities and associates

12.1
2018 2017

Cost 42 972 49 898

Investments in subsidiarie s, jointly controlled enities

and associates 42 972

On 30 September 2018 the Bank sold its investmemMIKB Befektetési Alapkezél Zrt.,
Therefore the investment is subsidiaries decrehgddUF 100 million. On 4 December 2018
the Registry Court has finished the terminationcpss of MKB Jelzalogbank Zrt, hence the
investments is subsidiaries decreased by HUF 3@&illon. The Bank impaired its
investment in MKB Uzemeltetési Kft. in the amouftHUF 1,795 million because of the net
asset value of the subsidiary has significantlyreiesed. The aim of the Employee Share
Ownership Program (ESOP) has partially fulfilldae required settlements between the Bank
and the ESOP were performed, which indicated furthecrease in the amount of the
investments in subsidiaries.

13 Intangibles, property and equipment

13.1
2018 Intangible Freehold Equipment Total
assets property
Cost
Balance at 1 January 30 798 6 536 2645 39979
Additions — including internally developed 9 387 11 1m 10 512
Disposals (2 066) - (465) (2531)

Balance at 31 December 38 119 6 547 3294 47

Anortization and depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 19 308 2 865 1503 23 676
Amortization and depreciation for the year 1805 300 97 2 2402
Disposals (8) - (303) (311)

Balance at 31 December 21105 3 165 1497 25

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 11 490 3671 1142 16 303

Balance at 31 December 17 014 3382 1797 22
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Intangible Freehold

2017 Equipment Total

assets property
Cost
Balance at 1 January 25 548 10 486 2918 38952
Addttions — including internally developed 5881 14 965 6 554
Disposals (631) (3964) (932) (5 527)
Balance at 31 December 30 798 6 536 2 645 39
Anortization and depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 January 17 748 4027 1923 23698
Amortization and depreciation for the year 1514 487 123 2313
Impairment loss 83 - - 83
Disposals (37) (1 649) (732) (2 418)
Balance at 31 December 19 308 2 865 1503 23
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 7 800 6 459 995 15 254
Balance at 31 December 11 490 3671 1142 16

Depreciation and amortization is presented amoed@iberating expenses.
In 2018 and 2017, no Non-cancellable operatingelease possessed.

In 2018 and 2017, the most significant componenhege investments and developments was
the costs related to the Core system replacemarteps at the Bank. MKB Bank has
completed successfully its entire digital transfation, including a full replacement of its core
banking system, between 29 June and 5 July 20E&ceordance with plans. The services
relating to the new digital core system were immated gradually in daily operational
functioning of the credit institution. In additiothe Bank disclosed several other items here
concerning capitalisations of functional developteef other IT systems.

14  Amounts due to other banks

14.1

2018 201
Due on demand 4787 3651
Money market deposits 31157 7 842
Borrowings 178 209 225 388

Amounts due to other banks 214 153

The largest balance of the amount due to othersomnkUF 77,024 million, which is the re-
financing loans relating to Funding for Growth Stleeat National Bank of Hungary.
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15

Deposits and current accounts

15.1

2018 201
From corporate clients 1059 776 1 255 899
From retail clients 321 062 296 596
Deposits and current accounts 1380838 1552495

As at 31 December 2018, deposit and current acsauetisured at fair value from the total
amount was HUF 0 million (2017: HUF 1,658 million).

Finance leases as a lessee

As part of its business activities, the Bank eniet finance lease transactions as a lessee. At
31 December 2018 and 2017, the reconciliation @Bank’s future minimum lease payments
at the end of the reporting period and their presatue by relevant remaining maturity
periods was the following:

15.2
2018 up to 1 yearto over Total
1 year 5 years 5 years
Future minimum lease payments 1138 4 636 12 911 18 685
Unpaid finance expense (936) (3573) (5 349) (9 858)
Present value of minimum lease payments 202 1063 7 562 8 827
Finance leases as alessee 202 1063 7 562 8 827
2017 up to 1 yearto over Total
1 year 5 years 5 years
Future minimum lease payments 856 5277 12 641 18 774
Unpaid finance expense (931) (4 460) (5321) (10 712)
Present value of minimum lease payments (75) 817 7 320 8 062
Finance leases as alessee (75) 817 7 320 8 062

In 2018, no contingent rents were recognized iarfae income (2017: HUF NIL). The net
carrying amount of the leased office (IT) equipmamounted to HUF 383 million at the end
of 2018. The net carrying amount of the lands anittlimgs used by the reporting entity was
HUF 2,382 million at the end of 2018 (2017: HUF @, 5million). In case of building the
contractual maturity is 25 years, with no residtadlie.
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16 Derivative financial liabilities

16.1

2018

Fair value
adjustment

2017
Fair value
adjustment

17

18

Derivative instruments by type

FX-based derivative instruments - 2 986 2986 - 4 265 4 265
Index-based derivative instruments - 1 1 - - -
Interest-based derivative instruments 28 063 28 063 38 846 38 846
Credit default swaps - 132 132 - - -
Options 223 203 426 179 76 255

Derivative financial liabilitie s

The derivative financial instruments disclosedha table are measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derivative liabilities held for risk management

The Bank used interest rate swaps designated ragalaie hedges to hedge its exposure to
changes in the fair value of certain loans and acks. Interest rate swaps were matched to
specific loans.

As at the end of period the Bank had no positiveagative fair value derivatives designated
in a qualifying hedge relationship.

Other derivatives held for risk management

The Bank uses other derivatives, not designatedgunalifying hedge relationship, to manage
its exposure to foreign currency, interest rateljtggnarket and credit risks. The instruments
used include interest rate swaps, cross-currerieyeist rate swaps, forward contracts, and
options.

Other liabilities and provision

18.1

2018 2017
Accruals and other creditors 33 564 37514
Other taxes payable 2553 2040
Provisions 2591 4 027

Other liabilities and provisions

38 708
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Provision for contingencies and commitments

18.2
2018 2017
Balance at 1 January 2912 4338
Provisions made during the year 1154 2 364
Provisions used during the year (595) -
Provisions reversed during the year (1530) (2593)
Unwinding of discount 3 -
Other movements 1 (82)
Balance at 31 December 1945 40

Provisions recognized for different type of produate disclosed in Note 32.
Operating lease as a lessee
The Bank leases some of its branches through ors sfibsidiaries in the form of operating

lease. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the total atnofufuture minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases by releeamiining period was the following:

18.3
up to 1 year to over
1 year 5 years 5 years
Minimum lease payments 694 2016 867 3577
Non-cancellable operating leases 694 2016 867 31
2017 up to 1 year to over Total
1 year 5 years 5 years
Minimum lease payments 975 2815 1743 5533

Non-cancellable operating leases 1743

In 2018, lease were recognised as an expense ipetied amounted to HUF 4,015 million
(2017: HUF 3,870 million). Furthermore no contingeents (2017: HUF O million) and no
sublease payments were recognised.

The leasing contracts remaining maturity rangesifioyear to 10 years. Most of the leasing
agreements are EUR based. Bank branches, warehaodearchives are operated in the
leased property.

The contingent rents are yearly increased by ioflatates of Eurostat. Most of the leasing
contracts were extend as a right of option.
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19

20

Issued debt securities

During the reporting period MKB issued bonds fopport its business activity. The table
below shows the new issuance, repayment and dtlaages during the year:

19.1

Interest

Balance at 1 Issued debt Repurchased Repaiddebt Revaluation Balance at 31

January securities debt securities securities result December

31 December 2018

Zero coupon 496 533 - (300) 4 733
Fixed rate 1276 - 300 (1711) 135 -

Structured 9314 - 117 (4 735) 199 4 895
Accrued interest 33 - - - - 68

31 December 2017

Zero coupon - 500 - - 4 496
Fixed rate 1646 - 82 (240) (212) 1276
Structured 11 209 - (30) (1 705) (160) 9314
Accrued interest 37 - - - - 33
Total 12 892 500 52 (1 945) (376) 11 114

The Bank uses fair value option revaluation thropgfit or loss for structured bonds, as they
are related to assets, which share the same aslgitre rise to opposite changes in fair value.
On 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of FVTRi essued bonds amounted to HUF
5,696 million (2017: HUF 9,827 million).

Subordinated debt

20.1
Date of Amount in original Original Carrying amount
Interest . e
issue currency currency in million HUF
Subordinated debt Fixed rate 26.05.2017 70 000 000 EUR 23 061
Subordinated debt Fixed rate 19.03.2018 15 000 000 EUR 4941
Total 85 000 000 EUR 28 0f

Date of Amount in original Original Carrying amount
Interest . e
issue currency currency in million HUF
Subordinated debt Fixed rate 26.05.2017 70 000 000 EUR 22 307
Total 70 000 000 EUR 22 3

Subordinated debts are direct, unconditional arskcured obligations of the Bank, and are
subordinated to the claims of the Bank's depositndsother creditors.
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21

22

On 26 May 2017, MKB Bank Zrt. made a decision su& subordinated bond in the amount
of EUR 70 million with fixed rate interest. The dinmaturity is 14 June 2024. The bonds were
sold to private stakeholders.

The amount of the subordinated debt increased by E®million to EUR 85 million related
to new commitment in March 2018.

Share capital
The Bank’s authorised, issued, called up and fo#lid share capital comprises 100,000,000

(2017: 100,000,000) ordinary shares of HUF 1,0@1 72 HUF 1,000) each. All issued shares
rank pari passu in the event of a winding up.

Reserves

Share premium

Share premium comprises of premiums on share tégstances.
Retained Earnings

Retained earnings comprise the accumulated priiét séaxes earned in the course of the
operating life of an entity of the Bank less anyidiend payment.

General reserve

According to the Act CCXXXVII of 2013 on Credit Itiutions and Financial Enterprises
(Banking Act), banks shall set aside as generarvesl0% of Profit after taxation. Dividends
can be paid only after recognition of general neseilhis reserve can be utilized only for
losses derived from ordinary activity. Credit ihgfion can reclassify part or total of its
retained earnings into general reserve. Superviaatijority can allow the entity not to set
aside the amount calculated as above stated.

The Bank discloses general reserve as part ofhegtagarnings. In 2018, MKB recognized
general reserve of HUF 6,624 million (2017: HUF9%,0nillion).

Revaluation reserves

Revaluation reserve of financial assets measurddvaiOCI includes the cumulative net
change in the fair value.

The Bank did not apply any reclassification adjuestis relating to components of other
comprehensive income. For financial instruments suesd at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Bank has recognized paiiment loss in accordance with IFRS
9, which is shown in the Revaluation reserve.
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23  Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attribwablthe following:
23.1
2018 2017
Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net
Intangibles, property and equipment 203 45 158 - 27 27)
Investments in subs., jointly contr. entities asdatiates 1274 33 1241 891 27 864
Available-for-sale securities 122 6 116 122 118 4
Loans and advances to customers 690 690 690 - 690
Amounts due to customers 479 - 479 479 - 479
Issued debt securities - 36 (36) - 36 (36)
Provisions 169 - 169 - - -
Derivatives - - - 150 - 150
Other items 73 27 46 264 - 264
Tax loss carry-forwards 2168 - 2168 857 - 857
Offsetting (147) (147) - (208) (208) -
Non-current assets held for sale 40 - 40 40 - 40
Effect on implementation of IFRS 9 700 - 700 - - -
Net tax assets / (liabilities) 5771 - 5771 3285 - 32
24  Interest income
24.1
2018 2017
Cash reserves 547 400
Loans and advances to banks 60 42
Loans and advances to customers 25 051 26 451
Derivatives 8 059 6 844
Investments in securities 19 141 18 412
Interest income 52 858 52 14
Included within various captions under interesbme for the year ended 31 December 2018
is a total of HUF 2,329 million (2017: HUF 974 i) accrued on impaired financial assets.
25 Interest expense
25.1
2018 2017
Amounts due to other banks 723 523
Deposits from customers 2 436 3436
Issued debt securities 8 232
Subordinated liabilties 1166 595
Other fees and commisions similar to interest expen 402 -
Derivatives 11 843 11934
Interest expense 16 578 16 72

In 2018 and 2017 the Bank did not realise neitherest income nor expense from
derivatives held in a qualifying fair value hedgimgationship.
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26 Net income from commissions and fees

26.1
2018 2017
Commission and fee income 35178 36 886
Payment and account services 21 699 19 972
Credit related fees 1784 1568
Card services 2539 2678
Brokerage fees and other securities business 5207 0719
Other commission and fee income 3949 3597
Commission and fee expense 9 348 8 956
Payment and account services 2 694 2 586
Credit related fees 1081 863
Card services 1789 1555
Brokerage fees and other securities business 1456 3791
Other commission and fee expense 2328 2573
Net income from commissions and fees 25 830 27 4

At the end of the reporting period brokerage feesot include fees from trust management
and other securities services (2017: HUF 0 million)

27  Other operating income / (expense), net

27.1
2018 2017

Net gain/(loss) on trading securities 3965 2215
Net gain/(loss) on the sale of securities (2 095) 17 077
Net gain/(loss) on non-trading securities measatee/ TPL (738) -

Net gain/(loss) on trading derivative transactions 22714 8 200
Fair Value results from FVTPL revaluation (FVO) 14 (124)
Expenses relating to bank levies (2073) (1979)
Transaction duty (12432) (11 463)
Other taxes (3139 (3 155)
Other operating income/(expense), net (821) (515)

Other operating income / (expense), net 5395 10 256

The result from fair value revaluation of structlireonds designated at fair value through
profit or loss was HUF 14 million gain (2017: 152lmmn gain), and in 2017 it amounted to
HUF 145 million gain regarding long term deposisignated at fair value.
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28

Banking tax is shown under other expenses as & doemeet the criteria of current income
tax.

Financial institutions operating on 1 January 26t8ll be liable to pay this tax in the whole
amount also in 2018 according to the Act. The faianplans are calculated with remaining,
but decreasing rate of banking tax. In the follaywmars, instead of the 2009 annual accounts,
as a rolling tax base, the total asset data froenptievious second year shall be taken into
account.

In 2018, the credit institutions providing also @stment and supplementary services were
levied an additional banking tax concerning theseises.

In the case of positive profit before taxes, calted without the special tax of financial
organizations (banking tax), credit institutions abliged to pay a special tax on these profits
at a rate of 30 %, and this special tax is to mudd from the banking tax up to its amount.
This special tax is disclosed as, and together, wihking tax.

Net impairments / (reversal) and provisions fotosses

28.1
Note 2018 2017
Net impairment loss/ (reversal)
Loans and advances to banks 7 4 2
Loans and advances to customers 10 (240) 9 825
Securities 9 (195) 229
Other assets 11 (34) 123
Realised loss on sale of loans (175) 692
Provision on
Guarantees and contingencies 32 (866) (921)

Impairments / (reversal) and provisions for losses
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30

Operating expenses

29.1

General and administration expenses 4106 4776
Legal and advisory services 2 693 3792
Wages and salaries 16 739 14 872
Compulsory social security obligations 4712 4 369
Occupancy costs 8231 8 208
Marketing and public relations 1054 1028
Communication and data processing 6 759 6 082

Operating expenses 44 294 43 1

In 2018, the Bank's average statistical employeebsu was 1,858 (2017: 1,801).

Income tax

Income tax expense recognized in the Statement ob@prehensive Income

30.1

Current tax expense 1467 1473
Hungarian corporation tax charge — on current yeafit 1467 1473
Deferred tax expense/(income) (2 024) (89)
Income tax (income) / expense (557) 1 384

Both in the reporting period and in 2017 9% curniecbme tax rate was applied on taxable
profit in Hungary. Due to this 9% current incoma tate and 9% deferred tax rate applied
based on the available future plans.
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate

30.2
2018 2017

% HUF million % HUF million
Profit before income tax 24 717 20538
Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate ,0098 2224 9,00% 1848
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 0,11% 26 0,16% 32
Non-deductible expenses 0,57% 141 0,23% 48
Tax exempt income -3,10% (765) -2,65% (544)
Re-assessment of unrecognised tax losses/interegtarwards -5,79% (1 430) 0,00% -
Re-assessment of unrecognised tax credit -2,83% (700) 0,00%
Other tax effects -0,21% (53) 0,00%
Income tax (income) / expense -2,25% (557) 6,74% 1 384

MKB Bank Zrt. used a prudent approach concernirgdases. Workout companies were not
allowed to recognize any deferred tax assets abwvdimit of deferred tax liability in their
books and the relating tax income and other conggaused their available plan figures for
calculation the upper limit. In 2011 legal basetaf loss changed and due to this fact, tax
losses can be used at maximum the 50% of the tae bathe future. Based on this
calculation, deferred tax asset on balance sheesiind on tax loss carry forwards totalled at
HUF 5,918 million (2017: HUF 3,493 million) befoodfsetting (see Table 30.4).

On 31 December 2018, the Bank had unused tax l@sseanting to HUF 337,980 million
(2017: HUF 339,30million) with the following maturity:

30.3

2018 2017
Maturity between 1 and 5 years 58102 59 429
Mature between 5 and 10 years 279 878 279 878
Tax loss carryforwards 337 980 339 30

The Bank has HUF 313,891 million (2017: HUF 329,788ion) tax losses carried forward,
on which no deferred tax asset was recognised.

In 2015, the rules of utilization of tax lossesrigat forward have changed in Hungary: tax
losses arising in 2015 and in following years, barutilized solely in the next five years after
the tax year in which it was generated. Tax lossesrred before 2015 can be utilized until
2030.

In 2018, the Bank booked HUF 349 million deferreck asset (2017: HUF 112 million
deferred tax liability) directly against equity aghg to AFS securities’ revaluation.
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The following table presents the main factors araie in deferred tax:

30.4
2018

Opening P/L-effective P/L-neutral Closing

P/L-effective and neutral effects on

N bal t t  bal
deferred tax assets (DTA) and deferred tax liabilies (DTL) alance SO ElETES

DTA/DTL of DTA/DTL of DTA/DTL DTA/DTL

Deferred Tax Assets - due to taxable temporary difrences

Assets
Loans and advances to bank, Loans and advancesttners 690 - - 690
Financial assets measured at FV’ 122 - - 122
Securitie: 89z - 382 127:
Intangible Assets 210 (@] - 203
Non-current assets held for ¢ 4C - - 4
Other Assel 54 1< - 73
Liabilities -
Amounts due to other banks, Deposits and currestiats 47¢ - - 47¢
Provisions 150 19 - 169
Deferred Tax Assets - due to tax losses (total) 857 1311 - 2 168
Deferred Tax Assets - Tax Credits - 70C - 70C
Subtotal DTA before netting 3494 2042 382 5918
Deferred Tax Liabilities - due to taxable te mporarydifferences
Assets
Securitie: (112 - 8C (32
Property, plant and equipment and investment pty 27) (18) - (45)
Liabilities
Issued debt securiti (36) - - (36)
Derivative financial liabilte (6) - - (6)
Other liabilties 27) - - 27)
Subtotal DTL before netting (208) (18) 80 (146)
Netting of short-term DTA (7 - - "
Netting of short-term /DT 6 - - 6
Subtotal DTA after netting of balance sheet positins 3 487 2 042 382 5911
Netting of p/l-effective DTA with p/l-eftdive DTL (per earning
reserves - - (80) (80)
Subtotal DTL after netting of balance sheet positins (202) (18) 80 (140)
Netting of p/l-effective DTL with p/l-eftgive DTA (per earning r 202 18 80 140)

Subtotal DTA after netting completely with DTL

Subtotal DTL after netting completely with DTA
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2017

Opening P/L-effective P/L-neutral Closing

P/L-effective and neutral effects on

S bal t t bal
deferred tax assets (DTA) and deferred tax liabilies (DTL) alance movement: movemei alance

DTA/DTL of DTA/DTL of DTA/DTL DTA/DTL

Deferred Tax Assets - due to taxable temporary diéfrences

Assets
Loans and advances to bank, Loans and advancesttrer 65¢ 38 (D) 69C
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 162 (40) - 122
Securitie - 89z - 892
Intangible Assets 181 29 - 210
Non-current assets or disposal groups as helddfler&d assets from
discontinued operatior - 40 - 40
Other Assets 50 3 - 53
Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks, Deposits and curresdlats 46¢ 11 - 47¢
Provision: - 15C - 15C
Other liabilties 1 1) - -
Deferred Tax Assets - due to tax losses (total) 2 29¢ (1441 - 857
Subtotal DTA before netting 3818 (324) (1) 3493
Deferred Tax Liabilities - due to taxable te mporarydifferences
Assets
Securitie (201 18¢ (100 (112
Property, plant and equipment and investment ptpper (15) (12) - 27)
Liabilities
Issued debt securiti (8) (28) - (36)
Derivative financial liabilite (50) 44 - (6)
Provisions (244) 244 - -
Other liabilties - 27) - 27)
Subtotal DTL before netting (518) 410 (100) (208)
Netting of short-term DT. (50) 44 - (6)
Netting of short-term /DTL 50 (44) - 6
Subtotal DTA after netting of balance sheet positins 3768 (280) (1) 3487
Netting of p/l-effective DTA with p/l-effgive DTL (per earning
reserves - - - -
Subtotal DTL after netting of balance sheet positins (468) 366 (100) (202)

Netting of p/l-effective DTL with p/l-eftgive DTA (per earning r 1727 (348 - 1379
Subtotal DTA after netting completely with DTL c

Subtotal DTL after netting completely with DTA

31 Earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share on 8tehber 2018 based on the net income
attributable to ordinary shareholders of HUF 25,81Hlion (2017: HUF 19,154 million) and

a weighted average number of ordinary shares autistg of 100,000 thousands (2017:
100,000 thousands).
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Basic value

31 December 2018

Net income available to
ordinary shareholders HUF 25,274 milion

Earnings per (in HUF million)
Ordinary Share = Y ber of ordl = = HUF 253
(in HUF) verage number of ordinary

shares outstanding (thousands) 100,000 thousands

31 December 2017

Net income available to
ordinary shareholders HUF 19,154 milion

Earnings per (in HUF million)
Ordinary Share = Y ber of ordi = = HUF 192
(in HUF) verage number of ordinary

shares outstanding (thousands) 100,000 thousands

The calculation of fully diluted earnings per shavas based on the profit attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average euofbordinary shares outstanding after
any adjustment for the effects of all dilutive putal ordinary shares. At the end of 2018 and
2017, there were no dilution factor that might eaas adjustment in the weighted average
number of ordinary shares, therefore basic andedil&EPS were equivalent.

Diluted value

31 December 2018

Net income available to
ordinary shareholders HUF 25,274 milion

Diluted Earnings (in HUF million)
per Share = Y ber of ordi = = HUF 253
(in HUF) verage number of ordinary

shares outstanding taking into 100,000 thousands
account the dilution factors
(thousands)

31 December 2017

Net income available to
ordinary shareholders HUF 19,154 milion

Diluted Earnings (in HUF million)
per Share = Y ber of ordi = = HUF 192
(in HUF) verage number of ordinary

shares outstanding taking into 100,000 thousands
account the dilution factors
(thousands)
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32  Contingencies and commitments

32.1

Gross Provision IAS 37
Net amount

amount Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Contingencies

Guarantees and similar obligations 148 275 (109) (285) (70) - 147 811
Obligations from letters of credit and other short 14 164 (20) - - - 14 154
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 1751 - - (220) (1 241) 20 290
Total contingencies 184 190 (119) (285) (290) (1241) 182 25
Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 251 299 (361) (149) (240) - 250 649
Total commitments 251 299 (361) (249) (140) - 250 644

2017 Gross Provision  Net amount

amount

Contingencies
Guarantees and similar obligations 146 053 (1676) 144377
Obligations from letters of credit and other short 13 881 (22) 13 859
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 69144 (1 296) 95 148
Total contingencies 256 378 (2 994) 253 384
Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 314 292 (1033) 313259
Total commitments 314 292 (1 033) 313 259

33 Use of estimates and judgements
Management discusses with the Bank Supervisory Btla¢ development, selection and
disclosure of the Bank’s critical accounting paiiand estimates, and the application of these
policies and estimates.
These disclosures supplement the commentary ondiglarisk management (see Note 5).
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Allowances for credit losses

Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaldateimpairment on a basis described in
accounting policy (see Note 3).

The specific counterparty component of the totdbvednces for impairment applies to
financial assets evaluated individually for impagémh and is based upon management’'s best
estimate of the present value of the cash flowsdha expected to be received. In estimating
these cash flows, management makes judgements aboatinterparty’s financial situation
and the net realisable value of any underlyingatetal. Each impaired asset is assessed on its

96/139



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Separate Financial Statements as at 31 Decemb8r 201

merits, and the workout strategy and estimate ahcfiows considered recoverable are
independently approved by the Credit Risk function.

Collectively assessed impairment allowances coratitlosses inherent in portfolios of loans
and advances with similar credit risk charactarsstivhen there is objective evidence to
suggest that they contain impaired loans and adgsamat the individual impaired items
cannot yet be identified. In assessing the needcdtiective loss allowances, management
considers factors such as credit quality, portfeli®, concentrations and economic factors. In
order to estimate the required allowance, assumptize made to define the way inherent
losses are modelled and to determine the requinpdtiparameters, based on historical
experience and current economic conditions. Theracy of the allowances depends on the
estimates of future cash flows for specific coupaety allowances and the model assumptions
and parameters used in determining collective alwes.

Uncertain or unanticipated future events could ltasumaterial adjustments to provisions or
additional provisions. The accounting values deteech are not fair values or market prices
that might be determined if the underlying assedssald to a third party.

Determining fair values

The determination of fair value for financial asseind liabilities for which there is no
observable market price requires the use of valoatchniques as described in accounting
policy. For financial instruments that trade infueqtly and have little price transparency, fair
value is less objective, and requires varying degref judgement depending on liquidity,
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, mgcassumptions and other risks affecting the
specific instrument. See also “Valuation of finaénstruments” below.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Banks accounting policies

Critical accounting judgements made in applyingBaek’s accounting policies include:
Valuation of financial instruments

The Bank’s accounting policy on fair value measuests is discussed under Note 4.
The Bank measures fair values using the followiiegarchy of methods:

e Level 1: Quoted market price in an active marketaio identical instrument.

e Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observaieits. This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices dtivea markets for similar
instruments; quoted prices for similar instrumentsarkets that are considered less
than active; or other valuation techniques wheteighificant inputs are directly or
indirectly observable from market data.

« Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant bservable inputs. This category
includes all instruments where the valuation tegheiincludes inputs not based on
observable data and the unobservable inputs ccaald h significant effect on the
instrument’s valuation. This category includes rimstents that are valued based on
quoted prices for similar instruments where sigaifit unobservable adjustments or
assumptions are required to reflect differencewéen the instruments.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabs that are traded in active markets are
based on quoted market prices or dealer price tjooga For all other financial instruments
the Bank determines fair values using valuatiomnejues. Valuation techniques include net
present value and discounted cash flow models, agsgm to similar instruments for which
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market observable prices exist, Black-Scholes aghpmial option pricing models and other
valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used inat@n techniques include risk-free and
benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and gitieenia used in estimating discount rates,
bond and equity prices, foreign currency excharagesy equity and equity index prices and
expected price volatilities and correlations.

Counterparty risk (CVA) and own credit risk (DVA also taken into account by calculation
of fair value of derivative transactions exceptha followings:

1. Netting of NPVs to counterparty level is allowedyoim case of International Swaps
and Derivatives Association (ISDA) agreement isilatste.

2. If the partners have Credit Support Annex (CSA) tfog derivative then both CVA
and DVA are 0.

3. If the contract covered by collateral then CVA=0.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arde fair value determination that reflects the
price of the financial instrument at the end of teporting period that would have been
determined by market participants acting at arergth.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation modelsiéermining the fair value of common
and more simple financial instruments, like inténege and currency swaps that use only
observable market data and require little manageimegement and estimation. Observable
prices and model inputs are usually available ia tharket for listed debt and equity
securities, exchange traded derivatives and siropég the counter derivatives like interest
rate swaps. Availability of observable market psi@ad model inputs reduces the need for
management judgement and estimation and also redinee uncertainty associated with
determination of fair values. Availability of obsable market prices and inputs varies
depending on the products and markets and is goonkanges based on specific events and
general conditions in the financial markets.

For more complex instruments, the Bank uses prigpyieraluation models, which usually are
developed from recognised valuation models. Somal@f the significant inputs into these
models may not be observable in the market, andlewi®#ed from market prices or rates or
are estimated based on assumptions. Example ofummsnts involving significant
unobservable inputs includes certain over the @uwstructured derivatives and certain loans
and securities for which there is no active mark@luation models that employ significant
unobservable inputs require a higher degree of gemant judgement and estimation in
determination of fair value. Management judgemerd astimation are usually required for
selection of the appropriate valuation model taubed, determination of expected future cash
flows on the financial instrument being valued,edetination of probability of counterparty
default and prepayments and selection of apprapdistcount rates.
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The table below analyses financial instruments@amat fair value, by valuation method:

33.1

uoted market ) ) Valuation techniques -
Q Valuation techniques S q
significant

s obsenvablelinpitsis oy Sl inputs

prices in active
markets

31 December 2018

Derivative financial assets 8 - 17 914 - 17 914
Securities 9 184 947 176 805 - 361 752
Loans and advances to customers 10 - - 7898 7 898
Derivative financial liabilties 16 - 31608 - 31 608
Issued debt securities 20 - 5 696 - 5 696
Total 184 947 232023 7 898 424 8|
31 December 2017

Financial assets measured at FVTPL 8,9 242 72 077 - 72 319
Investments in securities 9 112 615 230 778 - 343 393
Deposit and current accounts 15 - 1658 - 1658
Financial liabiities measured at FVTPL 16 - 43 366 - 43 366
Issued debt securities 19 - 9 827 - 9827
Total 112 857 357 706 - 470 5

The determination of fair value level and the tfars between levels are in line with
accounting policy (see Note 4). There were no fexasbetween fair value levels in the
financial year ended on 31 December 2018.

There is no active quotation of Discount governmamorids when they reach within 3-month
maturity. For discount government bonds within thaturity of 3 months, MKB Banks is
using yield-curve valuation technique. The inputshe yield-curve are the relevant active
market prices, consequently it is considered aglL2valuation.

As part of its trading activities the Bank entensoi OTC structured derivatives, primarily
options indexed to equity prices, foreign excharages and interest rates, with customers and
other banks. Some of these instruments are valsied models with significant unobservable
inputs, principally expected long-term volatilitiaad expected correlations between different
asset prices or foreign currency exchange ralégese inputs are estimated based on
extrapolation from observable shorter-term volad#i, recent transaction prices, quotes from
other market participants and historical data.

In determining fair values, the Bank does not userames of reasonably possible alternative
inputs as averages may not represent a price ahvehtransaction would take place between
market participants on the measurement date. Wtemnative assumptions are available within
a wide range, judgements exercised in selectingrib&t appropriate point in the range include
evaluation of the quality of the sources of infds example, the experience and expertise of the
brokers providing different quotes within a rangajing greater weight to a quote from the
original broker of the instrument who has the nutetailed information about the instrument) and
the availability of corroborating evidence in respaf some inputs within the range.
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Nature and extent of exposure to risks arising ffimancial instruments:

33.2

\[o] =] Interest RO G Other

rate

31 December 2018
Derivative financial assets 8 3111 13179 43
Securities 9 357 230 3156 225
Loans and advances to customers 10 7 898 318 -
Deposit and current accounts 15 - - -
Derivative financial liabilties 16 28 063 2 986 560
Issued debt securities 19 5 696 - 5 696
Total 401 998 19 639 6 57
31 December 2017
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 8,9 69 480 3450 71
Investments in securities 9 342 692 58 190 702
Deposit and current accounts 15 1 658 - 1658
Financial liabilites measured at FVTPL 16 39 003 4517 4
Issued debt securities 19 9 827 3050 9 827
Total 462 660 69 207 12 24

The table above presents the major risks and tloeiats of fair value of financial instruments.
Each financial instrument is reported at fair vatunel categorized based on all the risk factors
which they are exposed to. Most type of finangiatruments are exposed to more than one risk,
therefore fair values of those instruments areugtel in all relevant columns, resulting that the
sum of total exposures by line may not be equtidéaelevant lines in the SFP.

34  Accounting classifications and fair values

The estimated fair values disclosed below are dasggl to approximate values at which these
instruments could be exchanged in an arm’s lengihsaction. However, many of the
financial instruments have no active market andefioee, fair values are based on estimates
using net present value and other valuation teckasigsee Note 4 f, and Note 33), which are
significantly affected by the assumptions used o @amount and timing of the estimated
future cash flows and discount rates. In many casesould not be possible to realise
immediately the estimated fair values given the sizthe portfolios measured.
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The table below sets out the carrying amounts airdvilues of the Bank’s financial assets

and financial liabilities:

34.1

Fair value
through

Amortised

Note
cost

Total
carrying

Fair value through
other comprehensive

Fair value

profit or loss

Financial assets

income amount

Cash reserves 6 - 19 240 - 19 240 19 240
Loans and advances to banks 7 - 63 610 - 63 610 62 534
Derivative financial assets 8 17 914 - - 17914 17 914
Securities 9 61 478 411 277 300 274 773029 769 384
Loans and advances to customers 10 7 898 885 246 - 893 144 886 574
Total 87290 1379373 300274 1766937 1755

Financial liabilities

Amounts due to other banks 14 - 214 153 - 214 153 214 153
Deposits and current accounts 15 - 1380 838 1380838 1380838
Derivate financial liabilities 16 31 608 - - 31608 31 608
Issued debt securities 19 5 696 - - 5 696 5 696
Subordinated debt 20 - 28 002 - 28 002 28 002
Total 37304 1622993 - 1660297 1660

Fair value
through
profit or loss

Loans and

Note i,
receivables

Available
for sale

Other
amortised
cost

Total
carrying
amount

Held to
maturity

Fair value

Financial assets

Cash reserves 6 - - - 31599 31 599 31599
Loans and advances to banks 7 78 005 - - 78 005 78 014
Measured at amortised cost 78 005 - - - 78 005 78 014
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 8,9 72319 - - - - 72319 72319
Investments in securities 9 - 343 393 559 319 - 902 712 907 715
Loans and advances to customers 10 858 143 - - - 858 143 826 873
Measured at amortised cost 858 143 - - - 858 143 826 873
Total 72319 936 148 343 393 559 319 31599 1942778 1914
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 14 - - - 236 880 236 880 243 184
Deposits and current accounts 15 1658 - - 1550837 1552495 1554176
Measured at fair value 1658 - - - 1658 1658
Measured at amortised cost - - - - 1550837 1550837 1552518
Financial liabiities measured at FVTPL 16 43 366 - - - - 43 366 43 366
Issued debt securities 19 9827 - - 1292 11 119 11139
Measured at fair value 9827 - - - 9827 9332
Measured at amortised cost - - - 1292 1292 1807
Subordinated debt 20 - - 22 307 22 307 29 297

1811316

1866167 1881

The methods and the assumptions applied in detergnfair values of financial instruments

when a valuation technique is used were as follows:

Cash reserves

Due to the short term nature, the carrying amountCash reserves is a reasonable

approximation of their fair value.
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Financial assets measured at FVTPL

Fair values of Financial assets measured at FVTiRLderivative assets and liabilities held

for risk management that are traded in active niarkee based on quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations. For all other financiagtioments the Bank determines fair values
using valuation techniques.

Investments in securities

The fair values of instruments grouped into Invesita in securities are based on quoted
market prices, when available. If quoted marketg®iare not available, fair value is estimated
using quoted market prices of similar securitiesr Further information, please refer to
Note 8.

Loans and advances to banks and to customers

The fair value of loans and advances is based @ereéble market transactions, where
available. In the absence of observable marketsaictions, fair value is estimated using
discounted cash flow models. Performing loans areumed, as far as possible, into
homogeneous pools segregated by coupon rates. narale contractual cash flows are
discounted using a rate which is sum of the avklaterest rate which would have been
offered if the customer applied for loan at the ehthe reporting period plus the counterparty
marge. The used interest rates are available idighalol Terms and Conditions as of 31
December 2018 and the counterparty marge is almilab the Bank's systems. The
rediscounted cash flows are decreased using bsetine impairment percentage as it was used
for impairment purpose, and it is considered asvaue of the loan portfolio.

Non-performing loans which are assessed for impaitnindividually are discounted with
discount factors which are calculated as in casgediorming loans, but that estimated cash
flows of these loans are used for calculation, Whias also used for impairment purpose.

In the case of work-out loans where the bank expeash flows only from sale of collaterals
and therefore they are impaired to the net preggoe of this amount, the fair value is equal
with the carrying amount.

The fair value of Loans and advances to banks armistomers on demand is not different
from the amounts receivable at the end of the tampperiod.

Amounts due to other banks and Current and dep@sitounts

For the purposes of estimating fair value, Amouhis to other banks and Current and deposit
accounts are grouped by residual maturity. Faiueslare estimated using discounted cash
flows, applying current rates offered for depositssimilar remaining maturities plus MKB
own credit risk. For determining own credit risk{B® — Debit Value Adjustment) the bank
uses the own PD and LGD used also for risk purpesesh is also in line with the DVA
calculation method for negative fair value derivas. The fair value of a deposit repayable on
demand is assumed to be the amount payable on deshéime end of the reporting period.

Issued debt securities and Subordinated debt

Fair values are determined using quoted markeépmt the end of the reporting period where
available, or by reference to quoted market prioesimilar instruments plus own credit risk.
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35

Related parties

The Bank’s related parties include the parent comgsa joint ventures, associates, Key
Management Personnel, close family members of Keywddement Personnel and entities
which are controlled, jointly controlled or sigmifintly influenced, or for which significant
voting power is held, by Key Management Personneltheir close family members.
Government-related entities are exempt from thesg@rdisclosure based on IAS 24.25. Key
Management Personnel are the members of the gogeooiards of the Bank like Supervisory
Board and the members of the Board of Directors.

Transactions with related parties
Related parties have transacted with the Bank duhie period as follows:

35.1

Parent company Consolidated Non-consolidated . Key Management Other related
. S A Associates 5
and its group subsidiaries subsidiaries Personnel parties

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2

Assets

Loans and advances to customers 12796 - 141167 131090 976 1380 332 265 134 348 -
Derivative financial assets - - - - - - - - - - 109
Equity instruments - - 41 832 - 715 - 611 - - - 244
Other asset - - 904 355 - - - - - - 138
Liabilities

Current and deposit accounts 25807 50 16372 20984 276 509 207 200 258 219 4 658
Derivative finacial liabiities - - - - - - - - - - 229
Other liabilties - - 507 7 - - - - - - 70
Income statement

Interest income - - 739 590 21 991 6 7 10 8 -
Interest expense - - (56) (85) 1) (@] - -
Net income from commissions and fees - - 141 - 8 - 6 - 2 - 7
Other net income / (expense) - 1 (56) 55 4) 12 46 2 (659) (767) 4)
Contingencies and commitments 12 202 - 10187 14 996 1089 980 97 106 711 - 290
Provision 2637 - 36 651 - 2113 10 4 5

The amount outstanding from Key Management Perdaepeesents mortgages and secured
loans granted and these loans are secured ovesrpyr@b the respective borrowers.

The above transactions with other than Key Managemersonnel were made in the ordinary
course of business and on substantially the sammes téncluding interest rates and security, as
for comparable transactions with persons of a aim#tanding. The transactions did not
involve more than the normal risk of repaymentm@spgnt other unfavourable features.

Other related parties include the interests okibg Management Personnel.

Impairment losses and provisions against balancgstamding with related parties were
recognized during ordinary course of impairmenteasment. Incurred loss has been
recognized on balance sheet items and off balamset #ems with related parties which were
individually or collectively assessed and the testulted NIL impairment at the end of the
period.
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36

Key management personnel compensation for thegedmprised:

35.2

2018 2017
Short-term employee benefits 658 767
Total 658 76

Segment information

The following segment information has been prepameatcordance with IFRS 8, “Operating
Segments,” which defines requirements for the dmale of financial information of an
entity’'s operating segments. It follows the “managet approach”, which requires
presentation of the segments on the basis of thenil reports about components of the entity
which are regularly reviewed by the chief operatitgcision-maker in order to allocate
resources to a segment and to assess its perfeemslianagement reporting for the Bank is
based on IFRS.

Business segments

The business segments identified by the Bank reptethe organizational structure as

reflected in its internal management reporting eyst The Bank is organized into four

business lines, each with its own distinct market products. Each business line has its own
set of objectives and targets broken down by ojmerainits, which are consistent with the

Bank's overall strategic direction.

As of 30 June 2018, the Bank's business segmedthain main products were:
Corporate Banking

The Bank provides trade finance, a wide array @dity account and deposit products,
forfeiting and factoring, letters of credit, guateas, international payments, project and
structured finance, investment and financial adyiseervices to large entities through
branches and electronic delivery channels.

Institutional Banking

MKB Bank serves financial institutions, financiargice companies and other entities with
financial services, as well as international andhdstic payments, the Treasury department
deals with investments in securities, hedging @atisns and correspondent banking, The
Bank participates in bank-to-bank finance.

Retail and Private Banking
The Bank provides a wide range of deposit and gavinstrument, credit and debit cards,
portfolio management, and a limited number of lpaoducts to high net worth individuals

and entrepreneurs through 54 full-service brancres sub-branches (2017: 69 branches),
ATMs, telephone and electronic channels.
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Other

Residual items which cannot be directly allocatedbtisiness segments (mainly general
administration expenses) are included in the Qthergory.

36.1

Note

Corporate

Institutional

Retail and

Other Total

Assets

Cash reserves

Loans and advances to banks

Derivative financial assets

Securities

Loans and advances to customers

Non-current assets held for sale and dicontinuedatipns
Other assets

Deferred tax assets

Investments in jointly controlled entities and asates
Intangibles, property and equipment

Liabilities

Amounts due to other banks
Deposits and current accounts
Derivate financial liabilties
Other liabilties and provisions
Issued debt securities
Subordinated debt
Shareholders' equity

Income statement

Gross revenue - external customers
Gross revenue - inter-segment
Interest and commission expenditure
Impairment and provisions for losses
Operating costs

Expenses related to bank levies
Profit / (Loss) before taxation

Segment result
Other information

Capital expenditure
Depreciation and amortisation

Banking

6 -
7 -
8 -
9 70 501
10 684 350
37 3359
11 -
23 -
12 42972
13 ,

801 182
14 -
15 1059 776
16 -
18 855
19 156
20 ,
21, 22 ,
1 060 787

37158

(1 269)

(1 490)

28 4368

(19 208)

19 559

19 559

13 1844
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Private Banking

19 240 - - 19 240
63 610 - - 63 610
17 914 - - 17 914
702 528 - - 773 029
- 208 794 - 893 144

- 879 - 4238

- - 16 518 16 518

- - 5771 5771

- - - 42972

- - 22193 22193

803 292 209 673 44482 1 858 629
214 153 - - 214 153
- 321 062 - 1380 838

31 608 - - 31608

- - 37 853 38 708

1042 4498 - 5 696
28 002 - - 28 002

- - 159624 159 624

274 805 325560 197 477 1 858 629
39 553 18 794 - 95 505

3896 (2627) - -
(23 279) (1158) - (25 927)
(156) (3 256) 550 1506
(5 125) (19 961) - (44 294)
- - (2073) (2073)

14 889 (8 208) (1523) 24717

14 889 (8 208) (1523) 24717
- - 10513 10 513

- 558 - 2402
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Corporate

Institutional Retail and

20 NteiEz Banking Banking Private Banking it e
Assets
Cash reserves 6 31599 31599
Loans and advances to banks 7 78 005 78 005
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 8,9 - 72 319 72319
Investments in securities 9 82328 820 384 - 902 712
Loans and advances to customers 10 639 868 218 275 858 143
Non-current assets held for sale and dicontinuedations 37 - 21 648 - 21648
Other assets 11 17 116 17116
Deferred tax assets 23 - 3285 3285
Investments in jointly controlled entities and asa@s 12 49 897 - 49 897
Intangibles, property and equipment 13 - 16 303 16 303
772 093 1002 307 239 923 36704 205102
Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 14 236 880 - 236 880
Deposit and current accounts 15 1 255 899 296 596 1552 495
Financial liabilties measured at FVTPL 16 - 43 366 - 43 366
Other liabilties and provisions 18 3021 - 96 40 464 43581
Issued debt securities 19 301 914 9904 11119
Subordinated debt 20 22 307 - 22 307
Shareholders' equity 21,22 - - 141 279 141 279
1259 221 303 467 306 596 181 743 205102
Income statement
Gross revenue - external customers 32573 50 432 18 037 101 042
Gross revenue - inter-segment (70) 265 (195) -
Interest and commission expenditure (1 093) (23 797) (787) (25 677)
Impairment and provisions for losses 28 (949) 4 (8 700) (68) (9 721)
Operating costs 29 (19 097) (5 153) (18 877) (43 127)
Expenses related to bank levies - - (1979 (1979)
Profit / (Loss) before taxation 11 364 21743 (10 522) (2 047) 20538
Segment result 11 364 21743 (10 522) (2 047) 20 538
Other information
Capital expenditure - 9129 9129
Depreciation and amortisation 13 3495 825 4320

Measurement of segment profit or loss

Segment reporting under IFRS 8 requires a presentaf the segment results based on
management reporting methods with reconciliatiotwben the results of the business
segments and the separate financial statementdnfidmmation provided about each segment
is based on the internal reports about segmenit pofloss, assets and other information
which are regularly reviewed by the chief operatilegision maker.

Calculation of intersegment revenue

Intersegment revenues and expenses are calculatetdhidet interest method. In the case of
refinanced loans, as well as those linked to a sigpare evaluated against the connected
transaction. Revenues and expenses on refinaneed land loans linked to deposit are
calculated with reference to the interest of theeaulying transaction.

Since the Bank’s business activities are diverseature and its operations are integrated,

certain estimates and judgments have been madepmrte®n revenue and expense items
among the business segments.
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Non-current assets held for sale and discontindeoperations

At the end of the previous year the net amount afi-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations was HUF 21,648 million.

On 31 December 2017, a large loan-portfolio in grealue of HUF 54,153 million and the
relating specific allowances of HUF 32,505 milliamhich resulted in net amount of HUF
21,648 million was reclassified to non-current &sskeeld for sale. The Agreement of
receivables assignment was signed in the fourthiteguaf 2017. According to the contract
transferring of the loan-portfolio must be perfodrie two parts next year: in February and in
the last quarter of 2018. The buyer paid up 10%hef total price in 2017. The next two
instalments are due on the day of transfers. Tdrester of the first package assigned to buyer
contained 84 % of the total loan-portfolio. The @&t part will be transferred in the last
quarter of 2018. The buyer paid the first instaltremd the second being due on the date of
delivery.

The result of the sale of the loan portfolio in 804 a profit of HUF 1,984 million.

On 31 December 2018, a large loan-portfolio in grealue of HUF 13,274 million and the
relating loss allowances of HUF 9,036 million, whigesulted in net amount of HUF 4,238
million was reclassified to non-current assets Heldsale. The Bank willing to sign the
agreement of receivables assignment in the seaoindive third quarter of 2019.

Non-current assets held for sale and assets abititiés discontinued operation include the
followings:

37.1
2018 2017
Assets
Loans and advances to customers 4238 21648

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinue dbe rations 4 238 21 644
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Government grants

The National Bank of Hungary (NBH) launched itsepillar Funding for Growth Scheme

(FGS) on 1 June 2013, primarily to stimulate legdio small and medium-sized enterprises.
Under Pillar | and Il of the FGS the NBH providegfinancing loans to credit institutions

participating in the Scheme, at 0 per cent interats and with a maximum maturity of 10

years, which were lent further by the credit ingitins to the SMEs with a capped interest
margin.

Under Pillar | of the Scheme investment and curemset loans, EU subsidy financing, and
loan refinancing denominated in Hungarian Forintldde carried out. Pillar 1l of the Scheme
aimed to reduce the ratio of SME’s foreign curreihagns, allowing conversion of foreign

currency loans to forint loans.

On 11 September 2013 the Monetary Council decidezbhtinue the Scheme, and launched
the second phase, which was available until 31 Dbee 2016.

On 16 March 2015, the National Bank of Hungary thed FGS Plus Program, in order to
improve access credit facility of small and medisimed enterprises not participating in FGS
so far.

On 6 October 2015, the Monetary Council decidehtmch the third phase of FGS — aiming
at the gradual ending of the program. The thirdspheonsists of two Pillars, in Pillar Il a
market priced EUR/HUF swap transaction (CIRS)n&éd to the refinancing denominated in
Hungarian Forint, which allows credit institutiolending in foreign currency — without any
currency risk — to SMEs having natural foreign eaay hedge.

MKB Bank participated in all phases of the Scheam lent HUF 251,586 million loan to
SME’s since the beginning of the program, with @merest rate of 2.5% and EUR 56 million
in course of the third phase.

The loans lent as part of FGS are measured at meubitost at MKB Bank, however at initial
recognition the difference between the carrying ambaand the fair value of the loans and
parallel of the NBH funds was deferred to Otherets¢HUF 12,953 million) and to Other
liabilities (HUF 10,853 million), which is amortidgo Profit and loss during the term of the
loans. This difference was driven by the gap betwdge market interest rate and the
subsidized rate.

The fair value of the loans amounted to HUF 68,dfikion as of 31 December 2018 (2017:
HUF 74,931 million).

MKB Bank joined Market Loan Program - called PHBn-19 January 2016 that is aimed at
stimulating the banks’ transition towards lending market terms, and to continue to
encourage banks to grant loans to SMEs. At the simneg the National Bank of Hungary also
started to phase out the NHP IIl program.

MKB Bank undertook a HUF 25 billion growth in thetnvolume of SME lending in 2016
concerning Market-based Lending Scheme (PHP), winicleased by HUF 5 billion in 2017
in the framework of the second phase of PHP. ThezefIKB concluded HIRS transactions
with NBH in a total amount of HUF 120 billion.
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Events after the end of the reporting period

The following change occurred in the direct shalédostructure of MKB Bank Zrt. in the
first quarter of 2019. By way of sale and purcheamid Finance Zrt. purchased a part of the
share package owned by MKB Bank ESOP Organisasidatal of 2,564,411 dematerialised
ordinary series “A” in face value HUF 1000 per shdfollowing the transfer of the shares
Promid Finance Zrt. holds 2.564411% share, while gresent share of the ESOP
Organisation of 5.379403% decreased to 2.814992# fact of purchase was recorded in the
share register on 27 February 2019.

The effective shareholder structure of MKB Bank &tthe following:

Number of shares Total face value of Ownership share

Name of the shareholders

(pieces) shares (HUF) (%)

1. METIS Magéanikealap 35 000 001 35 000 001 000 35.000001%
2. Blue Robin Investments S.C.A. 32 900 000 32 900 000 000 32.900000%
3. RKOFIN Befektetési és Vagyonkeaft. 13 620 597 13 620 597 000 13.620597%
4. EIRENE Private Magaskealap 9999 999 9 999 999 000 9.999999%
5. Pantherinae Pénzigyi Zrt. 3 100 000 3 100 000 000 3.100000%
6. MKB Bank MRP Szervezet 2 814 992 2 814 992 000 2.814992%
7. Promid Finance Zrt. 2564 411 2 564 411 000 2.564411%
Total 100 000 000 100 000 000 000 100.0(

At the General Meeting of MKB Bank Zrt. held on d&nuary 2019 the following decisions

were made:

1. Decision regarding the preparation for Series ‘Adinary shares issued by the Company
to be listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange, aadgthg the form of operation with
transformation into a public limited company witffeet depending on stock market
listing. The General Meeting requested the BoafdDwectors to take measures
necessary for the preparation of listing SeriesoAdinary shares on the Budapest Stock
Exchange.

2. In relation to the decision indicated in paragrdpine General Meeting approved the re-
transformation of preference shares into ordindrgress with effect subject to stock
market listing and change of form.

3. With regard to the decisions referred to in parplgsal and 2, the General Meeting
adopted a decision for the modification of the é&ds of Association to take effect
subject to stock market listing and change of foretcording to the Articles of
Association with indefinite effect the Company $Had a public limited company with
share capital exclusively consisting of ordinargrgls and the provisions of the Articles
of Association complying with stock market requients.

The following changes were performed in the coatitin of the managing and supervisory
boards in the course of the first quarter of 2(A®m among the members of the Supervisory
Board dr Barcza Mihaly, the chairman of the Supami Board, Szemerey Tamas, member of
the Supervisory Board, dr Lovaszi-T6th-Adam, membérthe Supervisory Board, from
among the members of the Board of Directors Ja&sas] chairman of the Board of Directors
and Drabik Zsolt, external member of the Board wé&€tors resigned from their positions.

At its meeting held on 17 January 2019 the Gendesting elected dr Balog Adam, chief
executive as the chairman of the Board of Directoxgth the relevant permit of the National
Bank of Hungary in effect. As of the date of therpi¢, 31 January 2019, dr Balog Adam has
been performing his duties as the chairman and eRecutive of MKB Bank Zrt.
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Pursuant to the right incorporated in the prefegeslcare, with the relevant permits of the
National Bank of Hungary in effect, the sharehaddewning preference shares delegated dr
Hornung Agnes as chairperson of the Supervisoryrdead dr Ipacs Laszl6 and Oszlanyi
Tortel Andras as members of the Supervisory BoEné. membership of dr Hornung Agnes in
the Supervisory Board took effect on 28 February&@vhile the membership of dr Barcza
Mihaly ceased at the same time. The membershipr dpats Laszl6 and Oszlanyi Tortel
Andras in the Supervisory Board took effect on 2brigary 2019, while the membership of
Szemerey Tamas and dr Lovaszi-Toth Adam ceasdueagame time. As of 12 March 2019
the General Meeting elected Oszlanyi Tortel Andrad dr Ipacs Laszl6 as members of the
Audit Committee for the duration of their Supervis8oard membership.

Another significant change in the top managemetitdas as of 14 January 2019 Ginzer lldikd
took control of the deputy chief executive positmfiMKB Bank Corporate and Treasury and
Bakonyi Andras took control of the deputy chief exi@ve position of MKB Bank Risk
Management.

As of 8 January 2019 the employment of Banfi Zgl@deputy chief executive for Investment
Bank and EU Development was terminated, his pashias not been filled in.

The employment relationship of Mark Hetényi as dgmhief executive and, by virtue of the
rules of law, his internal Board of Directors mem#bgp was terminated as of March 31, 2019
with mutual consent. Mark Hetényi will pursue hionw as external Board of Directors
member as soon as the respective supervisory momis granted and the membership is
accepted by him by way of declaration.

Csaba Gabor Fenyvesi will continue his work fromribd, 2019 as Chief Financial and
Operations Officer of MKB Bank Zrt. and after redag the respective permission of the
National Bank of Hungary as Deputy Chief ExecutDficer.

The Court of Registration approved the rationalimaprocess of the Euroleasing Group via
merger in accordance with the planned timing ofCBdcember 2018, based on which the
merger of MKB-Euroleasing Autéhitel Zrt. and MKB-Eleasig Zrt. into MKB-Euroleasing
Autdlizing Zrt. took place, hence the three compargontinuing operation under the name
MKB Euroleasing Autdlizing Zrt. from 1 January 201Buroleasing Kft., I.C.E. Kft. and
Reteail Prod Zrt. continue to operate as fully owvrsubsidiaries of MKB Euroleasing
Autdlizing Zrt., constituting fully owned subsidies of MKB-Euroleasig Zrt prior to the
merger process.

On 16 January 2019 the Court of Registration reggst the changes approved at the General
Meeting of Solus Capital Venture Capital Fund Maragnt Ltd. held on 27 December 2018
(extension of powers of Board of Directors, new yBmns concerning Investment
Committee).

Based on its decision of 30 November 2018, the GafuRegistration removed Medister Kift.
from the register with effect from 31 January 2@i#: to transformation of company, i.e.
merger into MKB Ingatlan Kift.

On 19 February 2019 the Court of Registration tegesl the following changes in relation to

MKB Inkubator Kft.:

* Registered seat of the company changed to 1138p@gtaassak Lajos u. 18. instead of
1132 Budapest, Nyugati tér 5., with executive doedark Hetényi replacing Zoltan
Banfi.
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On 11 March 2019 the Board of Directors of MKB Venture Capital Fund Management Ltd.
approved the following:
e New Fund to be set up within MKB Venture Capital Fund Management Ltd.,
e Management Rules of BETA Private Equity Fund to be set up within MKB Venture
Capital Fund Management Ltd.,
e Report on the Q4 2018 financial management of MKB Venture Capital Fund
Management Ltd.

On 28 March 2019 MKB Bank Zrt. issued subordinated bonds in the total nominal value of

EUR 31 million with fixed interest rate at 4.5% p.a. (MKB Subordinated Bond 2026/A),
maturity date on 15 April 2026.
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BUSINESS REPORT
to the separate 2018 financial statements of

MKB Bank Zrt. (Prepared under IFRS)

In 2018, the scope of activities of MKB Bank Zrt. comprised the following sectors:

banking services

finance and operating leases
financial and investment services
other loans

MKB Bank’s profit after taxation for 2018 under IFRS amounted to HUF 25,274 million gain.

Shareholders’ equity was HUF 159,624 million at 2018 year-end.

Budapest, 10 April 2019

]

/ csal aGéborrFenyvesi
Chigf Financial Officer
4
/
/

' /‘/‘

/
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Annex

Governing bodies of MKB Bank Zrt. as at 31 DecembeP018
Supervisory Board: Board of Directors: Executive Committee :
Chairman Chairman Chairman
dr Mihdly Barcza Janos Jaksa dr Adam Balog
Members Members Members
Albert Godena dr Adam Balog Andras Bakonyi
Rita Feodor dr Andras Csap6 Zoltan Banfi
dr Adam Lovészi-T6th Zsolt Drabik dr Andras Csap6
Ferenc Mller Mark Hetényi Csaba Géabor Fenyvesi
Janos Nyemcsok Imre Kardos lIdiké Ginzer
Tamas Szemerey Balazs Nyitrai Mark Hetényi

Janos Nyemcsok
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
(International Financial Reporting Sandards, IFRS)

The following section of the Annual Report provigediscussion and analysis of the Group’s
financial condition and results of operations sdcakelp the reader to assess any changes in
the financial condition and profits for the yearl80 The forthcoming analyses are based on
figures reported in MKB Bank’s consolidated finaacstatements prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standardadspted by the EU (“IFRS”) as at, and for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and exuidiy Deloitte Konyvvizsgalé és
Tanacsadd Kft. chartered accountants. On this bahis discussion focuses on the
performance of the Group as an entity. The conatddl financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS are presented separately.

OPEARTING ENVIRONMENT
International macroeconomic environment

Economic growth rates of developed countries —iqadarly those of the eurozone, and the

USA - have, in recent years, reached and even éxdeabe level that may be considered as
sustainable in the long term; owing to the advarstade of the business cycle a slow-down in
the main economic centres may be regarded as emshphenomenon. Moreover, certain trade
policy developments may render growth perspectixes gloomier. Growth in the eurozone

gradually decelerated in 2018, but the lower GRark of the last quarter was partly a result
of certain one-off factors whose disappearance beafollowed by a modest bounce-back in

economic growth in 2019.

Inflationary processes in developed markets wereedrby international oil price trends.
Consequently, the rate of inflation in the eurozoeached and even exceeded the Central
Bank’s target of 2% in the second half of 2018, thetinflation indicators reflecting the basic
trend referred to a modest price pressure.

Despite the advanced stage of the business cyel&@B did not start to tighten monetary
policy in 2018, owing, primarily, to the heterogépeof the eurozone. The market

participants’ expectations concerning the ECB'’stfiinterest rate increase have gradually
shifted to the first half of 2020, due to the distire of data on weaker economic
performance. Nonetheless, policy rates may remaitlheir current levels at least until the

summer of 2019, according to ECB’s communication.

Hungarian macroeconomic environment

2018 was a year of dynamic economic growth in Hapgathe second half of the year
brought about some outstanding growth rates. Hyfgy@conomy grew by as much as 5%
year-on-year in Q4 2018, bringing the country’s GDP®wth rate near a 14-year high.
Hungary’'s economy expanded by 4.8% in 2018, 0.Zgueage point higher than in 2017.

The domestic economic cycle entered its matureepimarhat the easy-to-absorb labour supply
has run out and the utilisation of the capacitieshe machinery and equipment in place
cannot be increased materially either. Consequemitpnomic growth in the short and

medium term will be determined by the improvemefroductivity.

Annual average inflation was 2.8% in 2018, shovangncrease in the inflationary pressure in

comparison with the average of 2.4% recorded in720he increase of wages is expected to
continue in 2019 as a result of the tight labourketand the two-year wage agreement
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concluded at end-2018, and the wage increase isdbt affect prices too, which may be
counteracted by the lowering of employer contribuitirates from mid-2019. Inflationary
expectations, which play an important role in pricdecisions, continue to be anchored at low
levels. Accordingly, domestic inflation should emplnear the 3% target of the central bank.

In September 2018 the National Bank of Hungary (MIN8& about transforming its monetary
policy instruments, indicating that it has gearpdar gradually and prudently normalising the
monetary policy. In addition to the three-month coancial bank deposit facility the tools
applied in order to cut long term rates (IRS ane thortgage bond purchase programme
aimed at achieving monetary policy goals) were plsased out by the end of 2018, therefore
the role of the policy instrument was taken oveth®ymandatory reserve.

Although internal processes are indicative of elifood of the application of stricter
domestic monetary policy conditions, there willrie external pressure on the MNB until the
ECB starts raising its rates. In accordance witbal and regional trends domestic short term
interbank rates may gradually rise in 2019, while domestic policy rate is expected to be
increased only after 2019.

The growth of employment and wages is likely toaslbown somewhat in 2019, which may
entail a decrease in the rate of increase of copgamas well. As a result of this and of the
projected deceleration of the expansion of investm¢he dynamic of domestic economic
growth is expected to be less vigorous in 2019.

Overview of the banking sectot

The domestic banking system is benefiting frompgtevailing general economic stability and
has clearly embarked on a growth path. This i®céld by a trend of sustainable expansion in
corporate and retail lending. At the same time, dbetor is also characterised by a massive
liquidity surplus. Another favourable trend is grsficant decrease in the proportion of non-
performing loans, a trend that has been enablea bgyosting macroeconomic environment,
portfolio cleansing processes taking place in g, the significantly higher quality of new
lending transactions and the expanding credit plot.

Despite the fact the operations of credit instné continued to be highly profitable in 2018,
with outstanding ratios by international comparisieir profitability has fallen short of what
they achieved in 2017 according to nonconsolidata. The banking sector’'s outstanding
2017 performance was caused by one-off items —guilynthe significant volume of reversed
impairment costs — which are not sustainable irldhg term, therefore a certain bounce-back
is natural. While credit institutions’ gross opémgtincome — driven by gains on financial
transactions — increased, as a result of the cardbéffects of cost increases (primarily as a
consequence of the growth in IT costs entailed doyfarmity to regulatory requirements as
well as the increase in the cost of human resodrcése with the dynamic of wages in the
labour market) and the decrease in the reversaimpfairments and provisions as a
consequence of the financial institutions’ runnoug of reversible portfolios the sector’s total
profit after taxes have fallen short of the amawatbrded in 2017. The processes taking place
in the banking sector in the prevailing environmesft fierce competition, such as
digitalisation, operational efficiency improvementonomies of scale and enhanced process
efficiency, are equally aimed at maintaining andreimproving the sector’s profitability.

2 Source: MNB
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MKB expects demand for loans and willingness tardaerto remain high in 2019; these are

expected to be driven on the retail side by growounsumer confidence, continued

improvement in growth expectations and a rise af veages, while in the corporate segment
the trend should be supported by capacity incrgasimestments in response to the sector’s
running out of available resources.

Similarly to 2018 the participants of the sectoH e facing a variety of challenges in 2019
again, as a result of the growing intensity of ipgccompetition and the preparations for a
cycle of growing interest rates. In addition to fheblic dues levied on the sector and besides
the requirements of the PSD2 and MiFID2 directivikg implementation of the Instant
Payment System requires the banking system to maksive investments.

PERFORMANCE OF MKB BANK IN 2018

MKB Bank Zrt's (standalone) IFRStotal assets amounted to HUF 1,858.6 billion atehd

of 2018, down 9.4% year-on-year. The portfolio o§tomer loans increased by 4.1% to HUF
893.1 billion, while customer deposits dropped Wyl% to HUF 1,380.8 billion. MKB
Bank’s profitability improved considerably in 201i8s profit after taxes grew to HUF 25.3
billion from HUF 19.2 billion in 2017.

The Bank's financial and business fundamentaldudimg capitalisation, liquidity, funding
structure, balance sheet structure and the perfarenaf its business lines, are stable.

PERFORMANCE OF THE INDIVIDUAL BUSINESS LINES 3
Retail segment

The developments of strategic priorities in 2018&evaimed at increasing the number of
customers, lending and the business line’s maitkates In addition to organic growth MKB

laid particular emphasis on its corporate relatips its strategic cooperation with its
subsidiaries and maximising the benefits from sgi@srin relation to MKB Pension Fund,

MKB-Panndnia Health and Mutual Fund and MKB-Eursieg.

Developments took place on a continuous basis fwrdwe the efficiency of internal and
external processes, intensive product developmesidted in an expanding product range
and administrative processes were rendered quarkgmmore convenient by digital services,
including continued development of the mobile bagkapplication and the digitisation of the
branch office network. It was in parallel with theplacement of its account management
system that MKB Bank introduced the digital sigmatoption at its branch offices, a major
step towards paperless processes. Particular emsphas laid on providing sales staff
members with continued training, thereby strengtigerthe consultative advisory services
provided at the branch units. The combination @séhdevelopments guarantees improved
customer experience for customers doing businebsaatch offices as well as in the digital
space.

In 2018, MKB carried out major upgrades and renowat on its physical network. Three
branch offices were completely refurbished. In Alhkci Street Headquarters we have
established a competence centre for small entegreaxd modernized our branches in
Budapest and in a rural mall.

3 Source: MNB, KAVOSZ, Eximbank, MFB, MKB'’s own cal@tion
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To drive changes in customers’ habits, enhance effettiveness and ensure sustainable
profitability our network’s operations were impraveonsiderably. In addition to the already
wide range online business options, bound to expamither in the future, MKB Bank
provides face to face customer service in 51 brafidtes across Hungary.

Our Key Partner Programme — in which preferentisins and conditions are offered for
employees of our partners — has been renewed andutimber of cooperation arrangements
has increased. In the context of the Key AccoungRimme MKB sets up shop at contracted
employees’ premises to provide their employees firidncial advice at their own workplace.

2018 saw the establishment of our Direct Sales édietwork, providing for nationwide
presence. By proactively approaching customers E8'Mown agents at the events of the
Key Partner Programme and other external activithes salespersons belonging to the
network made a major contribution to the businese’d customer acquisition and loan
disbursement results.

In addition to the Direct Sales Force Network ameliKey Partner Programme the Bank relies
on external sales channels as well in selling it=dpcts. All of these provided effective
support enabling MKB to become a dominant playethim domestic market as regards the
sale of mortgage loans and small corporate produrc018 the Bank continued to strengthen
and enhance its relationships with loan interméeaand even made efforts to improve its
partners’ customer experience by developments snekternal sales channels. To boost
intermediary satisfaction and the efficiency of dayday cooperation in December 2018 we
opened our Mortgage Loan Partner Centre in Budafést primary aim of opening the
Centre was to ensure both professional serviceigaovand partner-oriented operations. The
lessons drawn from the operation of the Mortgagen_Bartner Centre will be useful input to
the establishment of additional centres in thertutu

MKB Plaza, the Bank'’s retail loyalty programme hsisice 2018, been providing its services
for customers through an upgraded website and enddgiplication. MKB Plaza is now
available for the customers of MKB Euroleasing adlwthus the entire clientele of the MKB
Group has access to 150 types of discounts andrprefal terms and conditions offered by
nearly 100 service providers. The success of thalthp programme is proven by the fact that
the number of registered customers more than dduhblehe span of just one year, to over
70,000.

MKB achieved impressive results in loan disbursemduring the last three yeéithe amount

of retail housing loans disbursed by the Bank iaseel by 206%, while the overall growth of

this particular market segment was only 134%. Theae an even more dynamic increase in
the segment of personal loans: the total amourtudied by MKB increased by 472%, in

contrast to the 248% overall expansion of the seghering the same period.

The portfolio of retail assets managed by the Barkhe end of the year exceeds HUF 780
billion. The structure of savings changed slighthe proportion of government securities and
deposits increased somewhat, while that of investrieds and bonds diminished.

*In January to December 2018, relative to JanuaBetember 2015.
®* Deposits + bonds + investment funds + governmesurgees

117/139



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Separate Financial Statements as at 31 Decemb8r 201

MKB SZEP Card

MKB SZEP Card product continued its impressive geniance in 2018. It became a popular
and versatile means of payment that can be useden@mntly on a daily basis. As a result of
certain regulatory changes only the SZEP Card msnai the favourable tax category,
therefore this already popular form of fringe bénisflikely to become even more popular in
the future.

The number of card holders increased by some 1®018, to over 240,000 by the end of the
year. The HUF 15.6 billion employer contributioarisferred to MKB SZEP Card owners in
2018 was 2.5% up year-on-year, while the ratiohgfirt use had increased by 5.9%, in an
amount of HUF 15 billion.

In the wake of regulatory changes both the proeeudirereby SZEP Cards are applied for and
the process whereby the benefit is transferred rogl@yers changed considerably from 2

January 2019. Accordingly, MKB Bank Zrt. has takeer the services of issuing and keeping
records of SZEP Cards and has concluded accoutractawith about 200,000 customers.

MKB SZEP Card holders can now make payments to taB&500 contracted service
providers with their cards.

Digital products and channels

Digitalisation transforms the banking industry,vasll. Banks and customers have no other
choice but understand, adopt and apply this new wfayhinking. Digital products and
channels render day-to-day banking processes e#ségr bring down the prices of services
and drive competition among banks.

In 2018 MKB Bank fully implemented its digital trefiormation project, turning the Bank, by
the end of a three-year period, into a digital plagf its sector, one that is now a dominant
player even at a European level. By replacing tite system the Bank established the digital
architecture of the future, making it possible tmtinue the development of its services and
improve its customers’ positive experiences dutheycoming decade. The services linked to
MKB’s new digital core system are gradually intagrhin the financial institution’s day-to-
day operations.

MKB introduced its mobile application, started d@sline bank account opening option and
introduced the contactless payment method, aniddtr@newed its portal in parallel with the
digital transformation. Through the Digital BranéDffice service the customer can be
provided with personalised information concerningrigage loan or investment products
simply and conveniently, online.

The introduction of the biometric signature funatim our branch office network is a major
step towards paperless banking.

The Bank sees great potential in robotisation df werefore it has introduced a variety of
robotised functions in its day-to-day activities.

MKB regards the enabling of what is called openkivam not only because this is necessary
for legal compliance but also because of the majtentials lying in this system. New
solutions enabled by the new technology make itsiptes to provide customers with
increasingly personalised services in the futuriterAthorough preparations in 2018 MKB
Bank was among the first institutions at the beigignof 2019 — in accordance with the
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relevant EU directive— to open its APIs (Application Programming Ingexé), enabling new
secure fintech developments aimed at making it ewere easy for customers to do business
with the Bank. At the same time, MKB is working additional digital developments for both
its retail and its corporate customers, which wi# compatible with the new PSD2
requirements as well. MKB Fintechlab, supportingdurct and service development with new,
innovative partners, is a key partner in thesereffo

Corporate and institutional customers

MKB’s permanent strategic objective is to maintaistrong corporate business line, based on
our traditional strengths. The corporate busingss s focused on local knowledge,
professional service provision, advice-based salesthe provision of innovative solutions.

What MKB sells to its customers is not simply aiefr of products but complex business
solutions and advice, setting up complex creditlifees and satisfying special banking needs
when necessary. MKB can provide effective and ieffic solutions to all participants of the
corporate segment, regardless of customer size.

To continue the development of the customer lifeleybased approach the Bank devoted
major resources in 2018 to further optimising thedpict development processes and models,
as well as to developing digitised solutions.

Despite major limitations and restrictions entaileg the EU commitments, maintaining
portfolios continue to be crucial for MKB Bank ihe large corporate business line, thereby
keeping up the strong market positions and thersiified loan portfolios and avoiding the
build-up of material risk, industry or customer centrations.

Small and medium-sized (SME) customers continuetleta key segment for the Bank in
2018. The advisory model was further developed, fieancing programmes were introduced
for such customers and product penetration wasdurincreased. The introduction of the
NHP’ Fix programme was also of outstanding importartcemake it possible for the
programme to be available from the first days acf2@We embraced major developments last
year. Meeting the new additional requirements ef gnarantee institutions was paramount:
the Bank is continuously fine tuning its SME finarg possibilities to make sure that the
options enabled by the programmes are availabtegpily for those SMEs that are most in
need of them.

In the framework of the Széchenyi Programme thekBamanaged to further expand its
lending portfolio in 2018, by 9.1% to HUF 41.7 kith, with which it maintained its
significant — 18.6% — market share. As one of feenents of opening towards the agricultural
sector — by continuously optimising and enhanchegavailable options — MKB patrticipated
in the financing of the Agricultural Rural Developnt Programme. We have been
traditionally closely cooperating with Eximbank toaximise the number of customers
provided with funding: in 2018 the Bank achievetisal% market share of the disbursements
refinanced by Eximbank, in terms of the numberafhsactions.

MKB has been supporting businesses in their effartsnproving their competitiveness and
the effective utilisation of funds by providing @igeinformation and face-to-face advice
through the network of MFB Points which have beeroperation since July 2017: in 2018
funds of a total of HUF 4.6 billion were reservadough MKB’s MFB Point network.

6 PSD2 (the revised Payment Services Directive)
7 Funding for Growth Scheme of the central bank
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The provision of services for small enterprises @aigs supported by the Bank by developing
an own agent network of nationwide coverage.

Investment services

The MKB Group provides a wide range of investmenahking type services, including

Treasury services (trading on commission, custaglyises and sales), fund management,
capital market and transaction consultancy, PrivBaémking, tender drafting and project

management consultancy as well as venture capital management, a service launched in
2018.

In addition to its funds offering a wide variety imvestment opportunities, MKB Panndnia
Investment Fund Manager offered the products & foreign and three domestic partners for
the various customer segments. In addition to nkestment funds sold by the company, the
range of its investment products was widened by dffering of structured bonds and

certificates as well.

MKB Bank is a primary and contracted dealer ofitnsbnal and retail government securities.
The Government Debt Management Agency rewarde®@amk’s activities as a distributor in
2018 by awarding it theSposition in the “Primary Dealer of the Year” cortifien.

Similarly to previous years, in 2018 MKB Bank, asmember of the Budapest Stock
Exchange, recorded the second largest turnovéeiforward forex section on the Exchange.

At the end of the previous year MKB became a Nomeidaddvisor (NOMAD) on XTend, the
BSE's newly formed SME market. Its regular analysisl price listing activity was launched
in regard to the Alteo and the Masterplast stobksreover, MKB has been providing regular
analysis coverage for the BIF stocks as well sihudg 2018.

MKB’s Capital Market and Transaction Consulting idien carried out the first successful
capital raising transaction (Megakran) on Xtende fiew type of capital raising transaction, a
success for SMEs, which was something of a noveltys a major step forward in the
development of the entire Hungarian capital market.

In 2018 MKB Private Banking expanded the portfaiassets under its management at a rate
nearly twice as the average growth rate in the etadecuring a market leader position in its
own segment. The division is managing assets wottital of HUF 545 billion. At the same
time, the average volume of the portfolios managgdhe division is also outstanding, over
HUF 300 million, the highest average per-customapunt of assets managed by service
providers associated with banks. Another PrivatekiBey consultation unit was set up in the
town of Nyiregyhdza, and at the same time the psid@al workshop supported in close
cooperation with MKB Pannénia Fund Manager is digghly popular. As a result of the
increased effectiveness of the work organisatioth #e service providing model which is
always focused on customers’ interests, the custosatisfaction indicator improved
considerably in comparison to 2017. Pioneeringninovation, a decision making system,
which is quitter unparalleled in the domestic markethe robot advisor — will ensure
continued improvement in the standards of profesdiservice provision in the Private
Banking business.

The Premium investment service involves the prowisbf personalised investment advice
based on sample portfolios, together with a broadiyct range and individual products, as
well as consultancy with our highly trained professls. The total customer portfolio under
management in the context of the Premium investrsentice launched in 2016 increased to
HUF 107 billion by end-2018, while the average pastomer portfolio exceeds HUF 30
million. MKB aims to continue to improve the quglibf the priority service — based on
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customers’ needs surveyed —, and to launch a wigagoquisition campaign. To this end, the
Bank is reconsidering the value proposition, thwise level and the service provision model
for the segment.

The experts of the Analysis Centre have been stipgdhe activities of the MKB Group and
its customers for nearly 4 years now. The exparmte macroeconomic, stock market as well
as money and capital market analyses make a dsucialuable contribution to the
successfulness of the investment services of th& I@Koup.

Service quality and customer satisfaction

MKB Bank focuses its operations on enhancing custamperience as one of its key strategic
objectives. The Bank maintains continuous dialogtth its customers, monitoring their
satisfaction. It was to this end that the Bankugetat the end of 2017 the on-line panel called
MKB Dialog, in order to ensure that customer’s apis are integrated in the Bank’s day-to-
day operations, whether regarding the introducbmew products or even new on-line
solutions.

Customer satisfaction is one of the most importeterminants of MKB'’s operations.

SUBSIDIARIES/STRATEGIC ARRANGEMENTS AND PARTNERS

The range of MKB’s own banking products and sewvicesupplemented by those provided
by its subsidiaries and partners. The key objestivelude maintaining or enhancing the
market positions of the subsidiaries engaged irinkss activities, increasing cooperation
among the members of the Group and strengthenengukiliary financial services.

SUBSIDIARIES®
MKB-Euroleasing Group

As one of the top three leasing companies in Hunly¢B-Euroleasing is a highly active and
dominant market participant in car financing, indincing large commercial vehicles and in
financing agricultural and general purpose machines

The company managed to continue building its difietsportfolio in 2018, an effort lunched
in 2016.

The primary goal of last year was to further sttbag the long-term profitability of MKB-
Euroleasing Group, in addition to the planned iaseein volume, the focus has shifted
towards more profitable transactions. The strategg more successfully implemented than
had been expected originally, as the volume of fieancing transactions increased by a mere
2 percent year-on-year — with a slightly decreasiagrage transaction size — but the profit
generating capability of the newly contracted midf was 10% higher than that of the
transactions concluded in 2017.

MKB-Euroleasing’s strategic goal is to retain theeady secured market share, provide for a
stable market presence and continued acquisitiorcustomers in segments of higher
profitability.

8 Source: Hungarian Leasing Association, BAMOSZ
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In the car financing and the agricultural machimarcing segments MKB-Euroleasing is one
of the two largest market participants.

MKB Consulting

As a member of the MKB Group, MKB Consulting becaamajor player in the tender and
consulting market by the end of the third yearrafeeestablishment.

The effectiveness of the Company’s activities ia tender business is indicated by the fact
that its key corporate customers were granted & tft HUF 12.5 billion in the way of
financial assistance through tenders in reseam¥eldpment and innovation, while as many
as 460 customers in its small business portfolieiked financial assistance in a total amount
of HUF 2.7 billion.

In its advisory business line MKB Consulting penfisr activities in fund raising for a variety
of institutions, including towns with county righthe Budapest Stock Exchange (BET), equity
fund managers and even MKB Group itself.

It was with the help of its advisory experiencettMKB Consulting participated — in the
context of the Modern Towns Programme — in working the urban development ideas and
concepts of towns with county right as well aslaberating their financing models.

In 2018 MKB Consulting provided financial advisosgrvices, in connection with capital
programmes, for venture capital funds and otheketgrarticipants, by working out business
plans for funds focusing on certain priority targmteas, together with the associated
investment strategies, as well as by providing exg&sistance to the launching of funidéer
alia.

MKB Consulting also took part, as a strategic parwf BET, in the latter’s training and stock
exchange preparatory projects.

MKB Inkubator Kft - MKB Fintechlab

We believe that large companies and start-ups cammgaht each other, therefore MKB was the
first domestic financial institution to engage therld of star-ups, technology and innovation.
MKB Fintechlab — also as the Bank’s innovation Iatory and start-up incubator — has by
now become a dominant participant of fintech innimrain both the domestic and the
international arena. MKB Fintechlab has become lol@paf doing business with start-ups
operating in the world’s fintech capitals as well.

MKB Fintechlab is supporting the implementationtteé MKB Group’s strategy in three key

areas: it is building up a community around the MK®Boup of entities pioneering in

innovation, its incubation programme fosters stgu$- and it searches for and builds up
valuable partnerships for the MKB Group.

MKB Fintechlab consolidated and strengthened irirational positions in 2018 and today it
is operating as the leading fintech knowledge ecpofrthe Central and Eastern European
region. Start-ups from 6 countries participatedhia 2018 spring incubation programme; as
many as 110 start-ups from 15 countries have exgidtfor the 2019 programme.

In November 2018 Fintechlab and Oracle togetheamisgd the first fintech hackathon in
Hungary and the Central and Eastern European regiootal of 15 new innovative business
solutions were created in the open banking conmpetitnd the participants successfully tested
MKB Bank’s new digital system.
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Three innovative partnerships, created by MKB FKihtab, were integrated in MKB Bank’s
day-to-day operations last year, of which mentibausd be made in particular of the robot-
advisor developed by Blueopes for MKB Private Bagki

MKB-Panndnia Investment Fund Manager

2018 was a busy year in all segments of the Conipaperations: focus was laid in the first
half of the year on the streamlining of internabqesses, while in the second half emphasis
was laid on tightly controlled management of maneicesses. Last year characterized by
marked volatility and — in certain markets — pluntimg prices. The year’'s performance was
dominated by decreasing prices in developed stoekkeits in the fourth quarter, poor
performance of the developing stock markets instheond half and a temporary faltering of
the Hungarian government security market in trat fialf of the year.

Despite the deteriorating external environmentRbed Manager made major efforts to keep
up its product development processes, launchingdpecial funds in 2018, to be followed by
additional ones in 2019.

The total value of the assets taken care of byFimed Manager is nearly HUF 600 billion,
therefore, with its 7.4% market share the Compaogtioues to rank among the Top 5
participants of the domestic fund and asset managemarket.

Solus Capital Venture Capital Fund Manager

In recent years MKB has, started working on creptite organisational requisites for capital
investment activities. It has established the campealled MKB Venture Capital Fund
Manager and acquired a shareholding in Solus Gap#ature Capital Fund Manager, putting
in place the framework required for efficient capiaising activities.

It was in August 2018 that Solus launched Solughtdre Capital Fund, aiming to facilitate
investments contributing to both regional developtand the technological modernisation of
the SME sector. The Capital Fund makes investmargmall and medium-sized enterprises
outside the Central Hungary Region that are capableapid growth through intelligent
technology innovation. The capital fund establishgtth nearly HUF 13 billion in registered
capital, with funding — in the context of the S3rilee Capital Programme — by MFB and
other private investors, carried out 3 successéuiture capital investment transactions in
2018.

STRATEGIC COOPERATION ARRANGEMENTS AND PARTNERS °
MKB Pension Fund

MKB Pension Fund operates with one of the most daable conditions applied by the
leading domestic funds; its robust technical/pref@sal track record, stable and prudent
operation and skilled asset manager team, as wék éong term investment results guarantee
for the savings of its members. The Voluntary sagnoé MKB Pension Fund, with a history
of 24 years, had nearly 83,000 members and managee than HUF 132 billion worth of
assets at the end of 2018. With its stable 10% etatkare it is the"Slargest participant of the
domestic market. Its Private segment had a totd, 89 members and managed HUF 18.9
billion in assets at the end of 2018.

? Source: Association of Mutual Funds
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The individual contributions of its members increddy 2% in 2018, while employers paid
4% more than in the previous year. This is a ciedication of the members’ conscious and
steady commitment to pension savings. By chooshg fund facility customers access
significant benefits. Enabled by low costs, taxefigelds and tax benefits provided by the
state they can accumulate substantial amounts ewtdrout any financial expertise to
supplement their pensions, contributing to the mesiance of the standards of living they
secured themselves during their economically agtears. The Fund lays particular attention
to maximising the satisfaction of customer requiats, therefore it is constantly seeking for
and applying new and innovative solutions, as allresf which it further enhanced the
functions offered by the Personal storage spaceEectronic business through continued
developments in 2018. The features of these sex@nable users to simply and quickly view
the data stored in the system, monitor the incre&sieeir savings, the annual account history
and the current portfolios. The Employer portaleddf efficient administrative solutions by
enabling electronic administrative procedures.

MKB-Panno6nia Health and Mutual Fund

MKB-Panndnia Health and Mutual Fund has been ontheflargest, best-performing funds
for 21 years. The Fund closed another highly sisfukgear in 2018 as well: its assets grew
by 30% to HUF 15.6 billion, therefore with its 27#8%arket share it is the largest participant of
the health funds’ market. The Fund’s membership @misreased by a dynamic 13%, to a total
of 210,000 by the end of the year, making it thiedthargest health and mutual fund in
Hungary. The substantial growth was partly a restiithe merger of Dimenzié Voluntary
Health and Mutual Fund into MKB-Panndnia Health avidtual Fund with effect from 1
January 2018. The merger enabled the utilisaticaddftional synergetic effects and expanded
the Fund’'s service portfolio, making it possible ftother raise its standards of customer
experience.

The popularity of the fund is clearly indicated &yhitherto unprecedented 30% increase in
individual contributions, along with a 19% incredsemployer contributions year-on-yeatr.

The Fund has a total of 15,500 contracted partensss Hungary, of which nearly 9,000 also
accept payment with MKB Health Fund cards.

The Fund continues to aim at providing a sociaviserpackage with a healthcare element,
supported by state tax refunding as well.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Statement of Financial Position

Total assets of the Bank decreased by 9.38%, caugarthe end of 2017, and amounted to
HUF 1,858,629 million as at 31 December 2018.

Cash reserves decreased by HUF 12,359 million cordp@® the end of 2017: cash on hand
grew by HUF 443 million, while the balance of thecaunt held at National Bank of Hungary
declined by HUF 12,802 million.

Loans and advances to banks decreased by 18.45%lUF 14,395 million compared to the
end of 2017, mainly because of the lower volumemminey market balances with other
commercial banks and deposit accounts with deatdaaslance at NBH.

Derivative financial assets measured at fair valnewed a decrease, driven by HUF 2,014
million lower balances of interest-related instruntseand derivative transactions with other
risks also decreased by HUF 29 million, while cooerelated instruments were HUF 200
million higher.

Investments in securities decreased by 19.08%HiH: 182,245 million compared to prior
year end. The decline was mainly caused by therlda&ances of interest-bearing treasury
bills, Hungarian government bonds, and the volui@oods issued by other corporate entities
also showed a decrease as compared to 2017 yeafAendl18 year-end the elements of the
portfolio were: 53.20% Financial assets at amattisest, 38.84% Financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income and 7 BfEncial assets held for trading.

In 2018, the balance of Loans and advances to mestincreased by 4.08% compared to the
end of 2017, and amounted to HUF 893,144 millioata®l December 2018.

The amount of Non-current assets held for salediswbntinued operations decreased by HUF
17,410 million compared to 2017 year-end, sincetitaiesfer of assets in net amount of HUF
21,648 million previously reclassified to assetsognised held for sale on 31 December 2017,
was performed in 2018. The Bank intends to selthfur loans to dismantle the non-
performing portfolio in 2019.

Other asset balances showed a decline of HUF 48®mfrom 31 December 2017 to 31
December 2018 primarily due to lower amount of aedrother income in 2018.

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlledie®$ and associates decreased by HUF 6,926
million comparing 2018 year-end to 2017, mainlyvdri by higher profit of MKB-Panndnia
Alapkezeb Zrt. On 30 September 2018, MKB Bank Zrt. sold twgnership interest of MKB
Befektetési Alapkezél Zrt, as result the value of subsidiary shares ceduby HUF 100
million. On 4 December 2018, the Court of Regisbratregistered the liquidation of MKB
Jelzélogbank, that resulting in further decreashénsubsidiary shares by HUF 3,810 million.
Partially achieved the MKB Munkavallal6i Részvémygpramjanak (MRP)'s purpose, the
required settlements between the Bank and the M&Rectrue, which caused another
reduction in the subsidiary shares.

During the reporting period Amounts due to othenkzareflected a decrease of 9.59%, i.e.
HUF 22,728 million. The decline resulted mainly rfrolower amount of liabilities in
connection with the refinancing loan facilities, ialh was partly offset by higher amount of
loans from credit institutions.
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Deposits and current accounts owed to customerbnddcby 11.06%, i.e. HUF 171,657

million in comparison with the volume as at 201arend, induced mainly by HUF 109,013
million drop in balances of current and short-ted®posit accounts and bank deposits
decreased in the amount of HUF 16,620 million.

Among liabilities, Derivative financial liabilitieslecreased by 27.11%, i.e. by HUF 11,758
million, primarily due to fair value change of imst- and currency-related derivative
transactions.

Other liabilities and provisions declined by HUBA3 million or 11.18%, from 2017 year-
end, mainly caused by lower amount of provisionslenand the decrease in passive accrued
items.

In accordance with the regulation the share capit@uro - Immat Uzemeltetési Kft., one of
MKB Bank’s subsidiaries, was reduced by HUF 3 billifrom HUF 4,758 million to HUF
1,758 million resulted in the required shareholsletjuity / share capital ratio. The Court of
Registration registered the capital reduction dnasch 2018.

On 9 March 2018, MKB Bank Zrt. issued subordinalett in the amount of EUR 15 million
bearing interest at a fixed rate. The bonds welgtegprivate stakeholders. The final maturity
is 14 June 2024.

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensivéncome

In 2018, Net interest income showed a HUF 851 amlljrowth compared to the previous year
mainly caused by higher interest income relatingeieurities classified as held for trading.

Net income from commissions and fees decreased32%4, i.e. HUF 2,100 million in 2018
compared to the previous year, due to the changeaiig policies and product conditions.

The net balance of Other operating income and esgpshowed a decrease of HUF 4,860
million, and amounted to HUF 5,395 million net ino® as at 31 December 2018. The decline
primarily was a result of lower net gain realisedsale of liquidity, which was partly offset by
the increase in net trading result accounted fohentging transactions in the same period of
2018.

Impairments and provisions dropped by HUF 11,45ianicompared to prior year end, and
amounted to HUF 1,506 million net release of priavis in 2018. The main driver of the
significantly lower provision was the improved gtalof customer loans as a part of the
portfolio has been separated.

Operating expenses grew by HUF 1,167 million, maidle to higher personnel related
expenses which was partly offset by the decreaadrministrative expenses.

126/139



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Separate Financial Statements as at 31 Decemb8@r 201

Expenses for Legal and advisory services contanfehowing other audit service fees for
2018:

2018 Amount in HUF

Review of IFRS 9 opening balance sheet

Review in line with the 2410 ISRE standard of tpering financial data of tt
Bank as of January 1, 2018 in line with IFRS 9 stibohto the National Bank
of Hungary

5500 000 + VAT

Engagement related to performing status of mortgagans **
Assurance engagement relating to performing ste#tomrtgage loans offered 3 329 000 + VAT
as coverage

Engagement related to dividend payment
Assurance engagement in connection with the conagiavith the dividend 1 000 000 + VAT
ban commitment made by the Bank towards the Europkéon

Other audit service fees* 9 829 000 + VAT

* Fix fee per each service

** Several services are completed during the y&atal amount represents fees accounted for all deteg audit services during
2018.

Fees for audit services contain the following 2018:

2018 Amount in HUF

Audit fee of the Bar 73 500 000 + VA

Total audit fee 73 500 000 + VA

Based on above factors, MKB Bank’s profit afteration for 2018 amounted to HUF 25,274
million.

For the end of 2018, total other comprehensive nrealecreased by HUF 9,012 million

compared to the previous year and resulted in H3R255 million loss due to lower
revaluation on financial assets measured at FVTOCI.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Capital situation of MKB Group was sufficiertttae end of 2018. As a result of the
2018YE profit (an therefore core capital accumol@tiand a subordinated debt the available
core capital increased significantly. The ownethaf MKB Bank is committed to maintain the
bank’s capital adequacy and implement all the resggameasures.

Domestic and international guidelines require tlaaiBto maintain certain minimum capital-

to-asset ratios. These risk-based ratios are dietednby allocating assets and specified off-
balance sheet instruments into different weightatégories, with higher levels of capital

being required for categories perceived as reptiegemgreater risk. Regulatory capital is

divided into Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital.dddition to retained earnings, the Bank may
raise regulatory capital by issuing several typeBnancial instruments to the public. These
financial instruments are then classified as eiffier 1 or Tier 2, depending on the types of
conditions or covenants they place upon the issuer.

As at 31 December 2018, as an actual figure oBéduek regulatory capital was HUF 167.4
billion based on Basel Ill IFRS under SupervisorggRlation. The increase of regulatory
capital - by HUF 161 million — is derived from thecrease of profit, capital reserve and
subordinated debt and decrease of deduction of E3Gdtam, which was compensated by
the increase of deduction of intangible assetsedse of revaluation reserve.

Risk-weighted assets including operational and etamisk decreased by 0.7 % from
HUF 832.1 billion in 2017 to HUF 826.3 besides apimately 3.7 % weakening of domestic
currency. The main part of the decrease derivenh flecrease of business volumes in work
out and CRE segment, increase of collateral an®Wa reduction project.

By application of capital management as a tool agmgropriate capital safety is a first priority
decision making factor, therefore the Bank monittre changes of the capital elements
continuously.

Legal limits defined by the

Act CCXXXVII of 2013 on Credit Institutions and Fncial Enterprises (Banking Act),
Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIEMT on prudential
requirements for credit institutions and investnfams and amending Regulation (CRR):

. CRR 395-400.8, Banking Act 302.8 large loan lirnitno excess
. Banking Act 100.8 investment limit -> no excess
. Banking Act 101-102.8 total investment limit -> excess
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NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENT (short version) 10
Brief description of the business model of the congmy

MKB joined the Hungarian banking sector in 195Qitidtly it took part in international
payments and was responsible for providing bankargices in support of foreign trade. After
the banking reform in 1987, the Bank continueduaction as a universal commercial bank,
with a traditionally strong market share in corggerand private banking.

MKB pursues its activities in Hungary. At the morhérns the fourth largest commercial bank
in the country. The knowledge and expert base dsasghe embedded system of relations
built over the fifty years of operation, made MKBr&jor operator in the Hungarian corporate
trade financing, cash and liquidity managementiamdstment market. As a financial partner
understanding businesses, it supports the operatioompanies and offers financing suited to
their needs and opportunities.

MKB puts great emphasis on supporting businesstsitsialmost seventy years of corporate
finance experience, innovative solutions, expernpetence and development ideas. MKB
gradually builds strategic partnerships with thganactors of the Hungarian economy. MKB
intends to make an active contribution to the aamgent of the objectives of its retail and
corporate customers with its financing and, indlyedo also contribute to an increase in the
performance of the Hungarian economy.

MKB strongly concentrates on the quality of its tomser relations. Professional services to
customers is the most important value for the Bavtkere the focus is on customer relations
and experience, as well as value preservation andrgtion. That is why the Bank regularly
conducts customer satisfaction surveys in eaclomest segment. According to the customer
satisfaction survey conducted in 2017, the Banknéking good progress in achieving its
objectives in the field of customer relations.

MKB is a major and large corporate bank, with siyarganisational knowledge in that
segment, hence corporate customer relations atbeirfocus of attention and the Bank is
actively building on existing business relationshiBesides preserving its market share in the
large corporate segment, growth in the retail seqrisealso one of MKB'’s objectives.

The fair banking values are extremely importarnthia daily operation and future image of the
Bank, therefore it strives towards a sustainableinass model, manageable level of risk
provisions and profitable operation. Profitability intended to be achieved through the
strengthening of profitable business lines andrtiprovement of operating profitability.

Social and employment as well as human rights policand its results, the applied due
diligence processes

Community engagement:

It is important for MKB Bank to use all its availabeconomic power to contribute to the
development of the community and it is also conedittto building co-operation that
encourages extensive community engagement. Thepe@iion activities involve efforts to
develop the financial culture, various educatigmalgrammes, targeted sponsoring and other

9 The full Non-Financial Statement is available be Bank’s website.
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support activities. All these activities are vallrgren and have always been and will also be
implemented in future to suit the local needs.

The community engagement programmes of MKB Bank:

Through its donation and sponsoring activities, MKiBnds to offer true assistance in the
support of programmes and matters serving the @sterof the whole society, including
financial culture and mindset development, valigation and preservation and the creation of
opportunities, which are the most important aspects

Health preservation activities:

MKB has introduced a complex health preservationggamme under the title of ‘#20
Minutes Health — health is the best investmentiicwiyoes well beyond the activities of other
Hungarian banks conducted in this field to datee €ktremely effective programme included
a TV campaign in 2018 and it has and still achievgseat deal of success in the social media.
Its main goal is to strengthen a health focusedhba@y of thinking.

Social responsibility:

Within the framework of the social corporate respbititSy programme, MKB supports with
financial and tangible donations the operationrghaisations and institutions the activities of
which are in line with the principles of the BamhkKB donated a large amount of furniture to
Heim P4l National Institute of Paediatric Care artdnds to do its best to continue supporting
the operation of the hospital in the future tooatidition, to improve the conditions of life of
children suffering from cancer and their family mmars, MKB donated a minibus to Together
for Children Living with Cancer Foundation.

Educational activities:

MKB Bank runs versatile educational programmes igridvolved in various educational co-
operation.

In co-operation with the National Association of rigltural Equipment and Machine
Distributors (MEGFOSZ), the Bank set an objectifepmmoting agricultural engineering,
responding to changes in modern agricultural prodogc

The MKB Agro Partner Centre, established in 201pas$ of the corporate business line of
MKB Bank, supports the foundation and operatioragfo businesses as a financial partner
understanding agriculture.

In the ‘Be an Agricultural Engineer’ programme, @0students were presented the various
opportunities and more than 1,000 students of 1figdtan specialist schools listened to
presentations on 27 career orientation days.

In the first semester of the 2018/2019 academic WH&B offered professional consultation to
a team of students of Budapest Corvinus Unive(8ityE) who could rely on their knowledge
in business economics, acquiring useful practiepegence in the Bank.

Financial culture and awareness developing actiet

The employees of MKB Bank took part voluntarilythre ‘Money Week' events, founded by

the Banking Association and Financial Compass Fationl to increase the financial
knowledge of primary and secondary school students.
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Activities aimed at equal opportunities:

MKB Bank has had a relationship with the Internadib Child Rescue Service (NGYSZ)
which supports children facing difficulties in lif®wing to the 21 years of co-operation of the
parties, in each academic year one hundred childreh young people with outstanding
abilities yet in socially disadvantaged positionancbenefit from the extraordinary
opportunities provided under the MKB Scholarship&ue.

Besides the scholarship schemes, which constitute pillar of the corporate social
responsibility activities of MKB Bank, the MKB Clstinas Children’s Gala held in December
each year is another major event in the co-operdtdween the Bank and NGYSZ.

MKB Bank has developed its equal access strateghne with the requirements of the
legislation and the supervisory authority (MNB) hvithe objective of integrating the
requirements of the strategy into the Bank’s daiheration and making them an integrated
part of the attitude of executive officers andnatimbers of staff.

Within the scope of corporate social responsibilgtate support is available through MKB
Bank for disabled persons to be used for making Hmnes accessible.

As a traditional and major operator of the Hungarmancial sector, MKB Bank is also
committed to provide support and makes significdohations. The MKB Benefactor
Programme was introduced in 2018 for collectingadimms.

Employment:

MKB completed a risk assessment in employment dedtified the risks relevant in terms of
its operation which are also taken into accountsitiR activities.

An Orientation Day is organised for new colleaguesruited for MKB Bank. The purpose of
that day is to integrate the new colleagues andeiover the basic training required for
employment as well as present the global organisati them.

The HR strategy concentrates on improving the eypg@ocexperience by promoting flexible
work, using the available digital devices and depilg a co-operation-based corporate
strategy.

Breakdown of the staff employed by MKB Bank by j¢B3 E):

Deputy CEO
Subordinate Head of Director + executive Total
director

de partme nt

CEO Directorate of Investment Banking and EU Degwaient 12 - 2 1 15
Deputy CEO for Digitisation, Retail and Strategy 841 13 15 4 873
Deputy CEO for EU Commitments 15 3 - 1 19
Deputy CEO for Legal, Corporate and Group Goveraanc 39 - 2 2 43
Chief Risk Officer 164 2 5 1 172
Deputy CEO for Corporate Banking and Treasury 210 11 28 3 252
Chief Executive's Office 366 8 11 6 391
Total 1647 37 K] 18 1764

131/139



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Separate Financial Statements as at 31 Decemb8@r 201

Breakdown of the staff employed by MKB Bank by aag® age, duration of service and area

(years):
INCEY 0-2 years o =) 210 Average
years years years
CEO Directorate of Investment Banking and EU Dewmient 40 40 42 44 41
Deputy CEO for Digitisation, Retail and Strategy 39 46 37 39 41
Deputy CEO for EU Commitments 34 45 42 31 41
Deputy CEO for Legal, Corporate and Group Govereanc 37 45 44 40 41
Chief Risk Officer 34 45 37 38 40
Deputy CEO for Corporate Banking and Treasury 36 44 35 38 40
Chief Executive’s Office 38 47 37 39 42
Average 38 46 37 39 41
Breakdown of the staff employed by MKB Bank by diga of service and area (FTE):
INCE 0-2 years C 25 el Total
WCES years years
CEO Directorate of Investment Banking and EU Dgwalent 4 4 6 1 15
Deputy CEO for Digitisation, Retail and Strategy 292 310 154 118 874
Deputy CEO for EU Commitments 2 7 8 2 19
Deputy CEO for Legal, Corporate and Group Goveraanc 18 11 10 5 44
Chief Risk Officer 21 67 45 39 172
Deputy CEO for Corporate Banking and Treasury 61 111 43 37 252
Chief Executive’s Office 128 176 47 38 389
Total 526 686 313 240 1765
Breakdown of the staff employed by MKB Bank by genthumber of employees):
Staff Directors
Area Male Female Total Male Female Total
CEO Directorate of Investment Banking and EU Dgwelent 8 7 15 2 1 3
Deputy CEO for Digitisation, Retail and Strategy 311 563 874 15 4 19
Deputy CEO for EU Commitments 10 9 19 1 - 1
Deputy CEO for Legal, Corporate and Group Goveraanc 18 25 43 2 2 4
Chief Risk Officer 55 117 172 4 2 6
Deputy CEO for Corporate Banking and Treasury 104 148 252 29 2 31
Chief Executive’s Office 135 255 390 14 3 17
Total 641 1124 1765 67 14 81

MKB Bank offers an extra-wage benefit package $ceinployees, consisting of a number of
components. The employee benefit package includasadial benefits and a number of other
components aimed at improving the working environtnenaintaining a healthy lifestyle,
motivated performance at work and strengthens #adinlg of being part of a team. The
benefits provided by the Bank are described inidietéhe Cafeteria Policy.

Talent management at MKB Bank:

A complex calibration process across the company standard performance evaluation
system were introduced for the first time in 20k8the same year a company-wide talent
management programme covering also the subsidiagegieveloped and introduced.

Employee training also plays an important role. Blamk provides regular further training to
its employees, in addition to the mandatory trajniequired by law. The introduction of new
banking products also requires many hours of tnginln 2018 employees also took part in
training dedicated to the Digital Switchover.

The MKB Academy programme constitutes the framewafrkhe Bank’s training strategy.
The system has 5 pillars. Besides the mandatoinyirigp(Mandatory Pillar), attention is also
paid to the professional development of the colleagwhich is assisted with training courses
dedicated to various topics (Professional Pill8Rill development training activities are also
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available on a number of topics (Soft Skill PillaBmployees can choose from different
training courses to learn how to use the bankintstmore effectively (System Pillar). A wide
range of skill development training activities atso offered as part of the management
training (Management Pillar).

Balance of work and private life at MKB Bank:

The introduction of flexible working hours at MKBaBk is one of the cornerstones of the HR
strategy as it is an important component of imprgihe employee experience.

As part of the HR strategy, MKB intends to incre#ise share of atypical employment. The
objectives also include offering work from home farlarge number of employees and
therefore the tools and devices are also develapedtantly. Working from home reduces
stress at work, improves the balance of work andap life and thus increases employee
satisfaction, work morale, productivity and loyalty

MKB Bank and health:

Health development and health preservation are fitapo objectives for MKB Bank, as
emphasised in various sports and health campaigoh, as the #20 Minutes Health campaign.
Employees are given various opportunities to datspeand there is a lot of concentration on
healthy lifestyle. The objective is to provide aaliley work environment for the staff. The
Year of Health programme series was announced 18,28lso underlining the importance of
health preservation.

Employees benefit from preferential health insueamehich includes diagnostic services and
extended consultation hours at the Bank’s occupatiphysician on every day of the week. In
2018 screening tests were also organised for thogees.

Regular office massage is arranged for the staffyhich 178 employees took part in 2018.
Hobby and recreation rooms were set up in Vacestitad Kassak Lajos street buildings. Fruit
bowls are provided to employees at a number oftimes. The canteens of the Bank serve
fithess food and other items, suitable for speuigtition.

MKB Bank and sports:

The Bank provides a wide range of sports oppoigsito its staff. Approximately 110m
fitness rooms have been established at Vaci diesat office and in Kassak Lajos street office
building to be used after work. An increasing numtlieemployees enjoy the facilities of the
fithess rooms. MKB supports sports in other ways. thlKB SE is a sports club where
colleagues can do joint sports activities.

Secure work environment:

In order to fulfil its legislative obligations, MKBank has prepared a risk assessment of the
head office and other business sites of the Bawtk,ding all branches. As it is an office work
environment, there is only a low risk of accider@onsequently, there are very few work
accidents and their number is decreasing.

Health and safety and fire safety training is mamgafor each employee every year. A
separate training material has been developedh®mremployees of the branch on how to
respond if the branch is attacked. The personakenahand organisational conditions of safe
work were defined in the Health and Safety Regoitetiof the Bank in compliance with the
law.
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A Health and Safety Representative also works etBihink on behalf of the Works Council.
The HS Representative is entitled to make surettigatequirements of healthy and safe work
are fulfilled at the Bank.

Corporate governance:

In order to ensure transparent and effective ojerasand compliance with the law, the
activities of the Board of Directors and Superws8ioard of MKB Bank are assisted by a
number of sub-committees.

The Board of Directors is the Bank's managing bodynsisting of external and internal
members. Its responsibilities include the contrblabh tasks related to the organisational
structure and activities of the Bank, developmdrthe business policy, the financial budget
and risk strategy and the supervision of the impletation thereof and approval of banking
regulations in compliance with the legal requiretsen

Major committees assisting the banking operatioth activities of the Board of Directors in
terms of the non-financial report: Management Cotte®j Strategy, Innovation and
Development Committee, Committee of Ethics.

Human rights protection:

Relying on the standards also expressed in the 6b@®nduct, the Bank takes into account
the interests of its employees based on fair ageedsrecognises their right to the integrity of
their private life but, in exchange, the Bank expets employees to responsibly protect their
health.

It is especially important for the Bank to see thatemployees can equally focus on their
families and work as well as professional careerstipport that, the Bank offers a healthy
work environment without any discrimination. ThenRadoes not prepare a risk assessment of
the enforcement of human rights but its memberstaff operate in compliance with the
internal banking regulations that outline the eqeless strategy and procedural rules.

The equal access procedural rules of MKB Bank wienezloped on the basis of Section 283
of Act CCXXXVII of 2013 on Credit Institutions anginancial Enterprises, the Decree of the
Minister of National Economy 22/2016 (29 June) te tules of equal opportunities for
persons with disabilities in access to financial/iees provided by credit institutions and the
MNB Recommendation 4/2017 (13 March) on the treatm® disabled customers. The
regulation contains the rules of implementation aedhils defined in MKB Bank’s equal
access strategy and constitute an inseparabléheaeof.

The Bank’s equal access was developed in the gpitite Bank’s social responsibility as the
Bank pays special attention to the special needsligdbled customers and to special
treatments promoting their equal access to servides fundamental objective is to integrate
the strategic requirements into the Bank’s dailgrafion and to make them an integrated part
of the attitude of executive officers and all otkenployees. The purpose of this regulation is
to enable the disabled customers of the Bank te hacess, whenever possible, to services of
the same quality as those offered to ordinary enete but adapted to their special needs.

The Bank applies a fair treatment based on respattesteem while keeping contact with its
stakeholders. It rejects all forms of discriminatizased on sex, age, ethnic origin, religious or
political belief, belonging to any interest grogexual orientation, different native languages
and any other direct or indirect discrimination-dexcluding conduct.
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MKB Bank also operates a notification systeamgnimbox@mkb.hiemail address), where
anyone can report any violation of law, or intermafulation or other rule of conduct
experienced by them, even anonymously.

A Works Council (WC) also operates at MKB Bank 4rt.compliance with the currently
effective Labour Code. The Works Council is the manterest representation forum,
representing the interests of the employees. ThEoy®es may be involved in the discussion
of issues and taking decisions affecting them ardlearn about any change therein through
the Works Council. The Ethics and Conciliation Caittee of the Works Council has the
power to resolve conflicts between employees amdlicts between managers and employees.

MKB Bank does not employ children and is not engiigeforced labour either.
Data protection:

Data protection represents the latest generationuafan rights and MKB Bank also pays
attention to that field accordingly. In addition tcompliance with the GDPR requirements,
MKB Bank also warned about the risks of cyber frandelation to the European Cyber
Security Month, which is an international campaggganised by the European Union Agency
for Network and Information Security (ENISA) in @bker each year.

The purpose of this campaign is to increase cybeurtly awareness and to widely present the
threats existing in cyber space. In 2018 the maiictwas the development of the basic cyber
hygiene skills of users. In full compliance alsahwihe MNB recommendations, MKB Bank
informed its customers on what to do in relatiorcyber fraud and data phishing and raised
attention about the importance of prevention amdt@adss regularly on its own platforms as
well as in various publications issued on a nuntb@ccasions during the year.

The members of staff of MKB Bank have a great adadxperience in how to prevent data
phishing, or identify the actual cases as wellmaglément measures to mitigate losses. The
MKB Contact Centre contacts the potentially affdcoeistomers and checks whether or not
they are aware of the respective transaction otheneghey initiated it. MKB Bank also takes
all security and legal measures required on sudasions in addition to informing its
customers.

Regulations on the related policies, the appliededdliligence and risk management
procedures:

Regulation on the Recruitment and Selection Process

Cafeteria Policy.

Incentive system.

Regulation on the Internal Training System of MKBr& Zrt.

Regulation on Work at Home.

Employee recognition programme.

Regulation on Sponsorship and Management of Suisatiests.

Health and Safety Regulation.

Regulation on the Procedural Rules of PromotingaEéecess at MKB Bank Zrt.

Environmental policy and its results, applied due digence processes

MKB Bank is strongly dedicated to social responiihiand therefore not only assistance to
organisations and institutions worthy of supportit lalso environmental protection are
important to it. In that context, the Bank has adiiced a number of targeted measures,
including the optimisation of energy consumption affice buildings and increasing the
environmental awareness of employees. One of thectes of the Digital Switchover
strategy was to reduce the use of paper in branblyesising new IT devices. In its
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environmental risk assessment the Bank took intowt the annual energy consumption and
annual carbon dioxide emission.

Measures aimed at optimising energy consumption:

The majority of MKB Bank’'s energy consumption rektto the utility consumption of
buildings and fuel consumption of its vehicle fleEhe consumption of buildings is partly of
communal and partly of technology origin. Energynsamption is constantly monitored and
supervised in each building. The national centreghif network is at Kassak street office
building.

The lighting system is gradually modernised in &IKB buildings in order to reduce
electricity consumption. Presence detectors westaliled in the majority of public areas to
prevent lamps being left switched on. Natural sesirof lighting are preferred in all office
buildings and attempts are made not to use anficatilighting in the rooms if there is
sufficient sunlight during the day.

The energy consumption optimising measures aldadad the upgrade of the cooling of the
head office and the replacement of the wet codliwgers of the liquid cooling equipment by
pure air cooling-based appliances. Thus the efiity of energy consumption almost trebled
and the water and sewer consumption of the buitdivas decreased significantly too.

Annual consumption PAONKS] 2017
Electricity (kwWh) 13 443 085 13 725 688
Natural gas (gnm3) 989 021 1166 431
Heat (MJ) 2 427 965 2822 289
Water (m3) 27 486 30132

The positive impact of the measure can also berebdean the annual energy consumption
indicators of the buildings of MKB Bank.

The last comprehensive energy efficiency audit &BvBank was conducted by the Menton
Energy Group in compliance with the 27/2012 EU DBinee, Act LVII of 2015 and
Government Decree 122/2015 (26 May). In addition, tbe basis of the Decree of the
Hungarian Energy and Public Utility Regulatory Aotity (MEKH) 2/2017. (16 February),
monthly energy desk officer reports are also pregharith energy consumption analyses.

Selective waste collection and management:

MKB Bank focuses on sustainable development. Onésabasic pillars is selective waste
collection, which is promoted with bins provided affice corridors and kitchens for
collecting PET bottles and caps as well as eleitraaste (cartridges, toners, etc.). Following
adequate treatment, the selectively collected wastg be recycled, thus reducing the impact
on the environment.

MKB Bank takes all reasonable efforts to have greeeration, in the context of which
electric waste management is another key issuediffigisation strategy described above has
also a positive impact on MKB’s paper consumption.

Waste management is governed by a number of latsegulations, and MKB Bank satisfies
all legislative requirements. Waste managementrte@we prepared annually, containing the
classification and quantities of waste generatatiantlected. In 2018, MKB Bank generated
106,950 kg paper and cardboard waste, 810 kg emdsaging waste and 2,890 kg scrapped
electric and electronic waste.
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Environmental measures relating to the vehicle ftasd MKB Bank:

MKB Bank has its own vehicle fleet and runs mosit®tars on petrol and only fewer cars on
diesel. The scheduled replacement of the fleetb@g2017, as a result of which the vehicles
at present are not older than 5-6 years. MKB akms uaxi services for its employees. They
entered into a contract with a new service provide2018. The partner selection was also
influenced by the fact that this taxi company rtims largest number of electric cars on the
Budapest market.

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery policy and its res ults, applied due diligence procedures

In compliance with its statutory obligations, MKBaBk laid down its anti-fraud and anti-
corruption measures in various regulations.

Anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist financingneasures:

MKB Bank developed its group anti-money launderangd anti-terrorist financing policy
because it uses the available tools to activelyigipate in the prevention, combating and
detection of money laundering, terrorist financamgd economic crime both in Hungary and
internationally. In order to effectively performase tasks, the Bank applies the following
main principles:

1. The Bank Group consistently meets and compligh @all relevant international and
Hungarian embargo rules, requirements and reguakatmoncerning the fight against
money laundering and the relevant national andnatenal legislation.

2. The Bank Group does not and will not financegdll arms transactions, drug trafficking,
child work, slave trade, prostitution or corruption

3. The Bank Group does not and will not financespes or undertakings managed or
controlled by persons qualifying as unreliable, ihgvbeen sentenced for any related
criminal act.

4. The Bank Group duly observes the FATF recommima and pursues its activities in
compliance with them.

The AML procedures apply to all employees of thelBand fully comply with the FATF
40+9 recommendation, the Directive of the Europ@anmliament and of the Commission
2015/849 and the Regulation of the European Cou1l5/847. MKB Bank Zrt takes all
reasonable efforts to prevent using the servicksaaf by the Bank for money laundering or
terrorist financing. MKB Bank Zrt has a Compliancgganisation in which separate
departments work on preventing money launderingtandrist financing. The Bank fully co-
operates with the official agencies in the ideadfion of all suspicious cases, with special
regard to potential money laundering and terrdimgtincing. The declarations required under
the international regulations are available onBhek’s website.

In order to reduce the risk of money laundering @rbrist financing, MKB Bank Zrt. must
be aware of the activities of its customers, the&umgaof business relationships, business
partners, financial habits, the Hungarian and tassirpractice, the economic background of
debits and credits in the account, the expectezk almount, currency), hence it maintains a
regular and active relationship with its customémsaccordance with the legal requirements,
the Bank’s staff perform the due diligence of castos. Natural persons and representatives
of legal entities must also provide a declarationtlve PEP status of the beneficial owner,
which is then verified by the Bank’s staff in pubsiources.

MKB Bank Zrt prepared its internal risk assessniertompliance with the provisions of Act

LIl of 2017 on the prevention and combating of mgraundering and terrorist financing,
taking into account the Hungarian and internatieg@nomic conditions and habits and the
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known risk factors. The Bank is also obliged tolgmalequate risk classification on the basis
of the nature and volume of the business relatipngha transaction order or the conditions
related to the customer, product, service or thieghinstrument.

MKB Bank identified its major risks in its risk assment policy and reserves the right to
refuse any customer relationship, transactionasaction order if it is not in accordance with
its risk appetite. The Bank monitors unusual atésiand has identified cash transactions as a
high risk, in particular in the case of extremedyge or highly intensive cash turnover, thus
verifying it continuously controls such turnover.

MKB Bank does not maintain a business relationstith customers who carry reputational
risks, only customers who use their products fgitilmate purposes and whose identity can be
determined and verified without any doubt. The Balgles not provide services to natural
persons or legal entities who/which are subjeetrty sanction or are included in any restricted
list, such as the restricted list of the United iblad Security Council (UN), the EU
Consolidated Financial Sanctions list (EU), thetReted List handled by the Foreign Assets
Control Office (OFAC) of the United States, whiclsaincludes the Specially Designated
Nationals and Blocked Persons (SDN). In additidme Bank also identified industries,
products and countries that represent a high risk.

MKB Bank tries to prevent and detect fraud not anlyits customer relations. In the supply
contracts partners must commit to compliance whith ¢ffective laws and regulations. The
Bank’'s Compliance Unit also conducts due diligeandhe partners before each new contract
or a supply contract that has not been reviewedafgrear. In 2018, due diligence was
conducted on 441 suppliers. The Bank does not @mi@rany contract with a supplier who
does not satisfy the minimum requirements stateldy

The Bank also expresses the requirement of prudpatation in its Code of Conduct.

Compliance with the effective law and the intermagulations of the Bank is a basic

requirement for each employee and all partners avltlasiness or other contract with the Bank
are also expected to comply with the Code of Cohduc

Rules on gifts:

In order to ensure transparent operation and ptes@nuption, the Bank applies strict rules
on conflict of interest and gifts to business parsn The Regulations on the Conflict of
Interest of Employees and Gifts set out the rulésaacepting and providing gifts for
employees, the terms and conditions of holding etkee officer positions, the restrictions on
influential roles in the business organisation andbtaining an influential share and majority
influence as well as the rules of authorisation.

Regulations related to the respective policy anglgg due diligence procedures:

On the assessment of reliability of the employdddioB Bank.

MKB Bank Zrt Group Policy on the Prevention of Mgrieaundering and Terrorist Financing.
On the conflict of interest of employees and oisgif

MKB Bank Zrt. group regulation on the preventiordaasombating of money laundering and
terrorist financing and on the implementation ofaficial and asset restrictions ordered by the
European Union and the UN Security Council.

Regulation on the Fraud Reporting System of MKB IBZrt.
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Key non-financial performance indicators:

e  Energy consumption: (included in the Environmental Policy and its results, applied due
diligence processes chapter)

e Breakdown of employees by age and gender: (included in the Social and employment as
well as human rights policy and its results, the applied due diligence processes chapter)

Budapest, 10 April 2019

. / ' Adam Balog /Csaba Gmési
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer / Chief Financial Officer
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MKB Bank Zrt.

STATEMENT
on the non-consolidated annual financial statements of 2018
and on the Report of the Management
Pursuant to Ministry of Finance Decree no. 24/2008. (VIIL.15.)

MKB Bank Zrt (hereinafter: Bank) declares concerning its non-consolidated annual
financial statements — accepted by the Annual General Meeting of the Bank on 26
April 2019 and audited by an independent auditor - the following statement:

The Bank declares that the non-consolidated annual financial statements have been
compiled in accordance with the applicable accounting rules. The non consolidated
annual financial statements compiled based on the best knowledge of the Bank’s
competent experts and decision making managers present a realistic and reliable
picture on the assets, liabilities, financial position, as well as profits and losses of the
Bank as an issuer of securities.

The Bank declares furthermore that The Report of the Management (Management’s
discussion & analysis) provides a reliable picture of the position, situation,

development and performance of the Bank as an issuer of securities and describes the
key risks and uncertainty factors.

Budapest, 26 April 2019

MKB Bank Zrt.

¢aba Gabor Fenyvesi
] Chief Financial Officer

/’,/i’dr Adém Balog
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




	MKB Bank Separate financial statements and Independent auditors` report 2018
	MKB Bank separate report
	MKB_IFRS_egyedi_beszamolo_EN_2018_final

	Statement_non-consolidated_2018

